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Chapter 37 

Indian National Congress 

The Indian National Congress (often called the Congress 

Party or simply Congress, abbr.INC) is one of the two major 

political parties in India, along with its main rival the 

Bharatiya Janata Party.The Congress is a "big tent" party 

whose platform is generally considered in the centre in its 

ideological orientation, of Indian politics. On social issues, it 

advocates secular policies that encourage equal opportunity, 

right to health, civil liberty and welfare of weaker sections and 

minorities, with support for a mixed economy. As of 2021, in 

the 17 general elections since independence, it has won an 

outright majority on seven occasions and has led the ruling 

coalition a further three times, heading the central government 

for more than 54 years. There have been six Congress Prime 

Ministers, the first being Jawaharlal Nehru (1947–1964), and 

the most recent Manmohan Singh (2004–2014).  

Founded in December 28, 1885 in Bombay, Congress was an 

assembly for politically-minded individuals who were interested 

in reforms. In its first twenty years, known as a 'moderate 

phase', Congress was not interested in campaigning for 

independence or self-rule but for greater political autonomy 

within British Raj. From the late 19th century, and especially 

after 1920, under the leadership of Mahatma Gandhi, Congress 

became more vocal and active in demanding substantial 

political reform, and eventually turned out to be the principal 

leader of the Indian independence movement. Congress led 

India to independence from the United Kingdom, and 

powerfully influenced other anti-colonial nationalist 
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movements in the British Empire. It was the first modern 

nationalist movement to emerge in the British Empire in Asia 

and Africa.  

A split occurred within the Congress party in 1969. Indira 

Gandhi in order to demonstrate her support amongst the 

people, created her own faction, the Congress (R); while the 

other group was the Congress (O). In the 1971 general election, 

Congress (R) had secured an overwhelming majority winning 

352 out of 518 seats in the Lok Sabha. In the elections to five 

state assemblies too, the Congress (R) performed well. 

However, 1977 general election resulted in a heavy defeat for 

the Congress (R). Indira Gandhi left the Congress (R) in 1978, 

to form her own Congress (I) faction which eventually was 

declared the rightful Indian National Congress by the Indian 

election commission in 1981.  

The Congress party won the 2004 general elections and 

returned to power after a record eight years out of office. The 

Congress-led coalition known as the United Progressive 

Alliance (UPA) under Prime Minister Manmohan Singh formed a 

government. Subsequently, the UPA again formed the 

government after winning 2009 general elections with strong 

result in Kerala, Maharashtra, Rajasthan, Tamil Nadu, Uttar 

Pradesh, and West Bengal. Singh became the first Prime 

Minister since Jawaharlal Nehru in 1962 to be re-elected after 

completing a full five-year term. However, in the 2014 general 

election, UPA suffered heavy defeat winning only 55 seats of 

the 543-member Lok Sabha (the lower house of the Parliament 

of India). As of June 2021, the party with its alliances is in 

power in six legislative assemblies.  
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A total of 61 people have served as the president of the INC 

since its formation. Sonia Gandhi is the longest serving 

president of the party, having held the office for over twenty 

years from 1998 to 2017 and since 2019. The district party is 

the smallest functional unit of the Congress. There is also a 

Pradesh Congress Committee (PCC), present at the state-level 

in every state. Together, the delegates from the districts and 

PCCs form the All India Congress Committee (AICC). The party 

is also organized into several committees, and sections.  

History 

Pre-independence 

Foundation: The Indian National Congress conducted its first 

session in Bombay from 28 to 31 December 1885 at the 

initiative of retired Civil Service officer Allan Octavian Hume. 

In 1883, Hume had outlined his idea for a body representing 

Indian interests in an open letter to graduates of the University 

of Calcutta. Its aim was to obtain a greater share in 

government for educated Indians, and to create a platform for 

civic and political dialogue between them and the British Raj. 

Hume took the initiative, and in March 1885 a notice 

convening the first meeting of the Indian National Union to be 

held in Poona the following December was issued. Due to a 

cholera outbreak there, it was moved to Bombay.  

Hume organised the first meeting in Bombay with the approval 

of the Viceroy Lord Dufferin. Umesh Chandra Banerjee was the 

first president of Congress; the first session was attended by 

72 delegates, representing each province of India. Notable 
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representatives included Scottish ICS officer William 

Wedderburn, Dadabhai Naoroji, Pherozeshah Mehta of the 

Bombay Presidency Association, Ganesh Vasudeo Joshi of the 

Poona Sarvajanik Sabha, social reformer and newspaper editor 

Gopal Ganesh Agarkar, Justice K. T. Telang, N. G. 

Chandavarkar, Dinshaw Wacha, Behramji Malabari, journalist 

and activist Gooty Kesava Pillai, and P. Rangaiah Naidu of the 

Madras Mahajana Sabha. This small elite group, 

unrepresentative of the Indian masses at the time, functioned 

more as a stage for elite Indian ambitions than a political party 

for the first decade of its existence.  

Early years 

At the beginning of the 20th century, Congress' demands 

became more radical in the face of constant opposition from 

the British government, and the party decided to advocate in 

favour of the independence movement because it would allow a 

new political system in which Congress could be a major party. 

By 1905, a division opened between the moderates led by 

Gokhale, who downplayed public agitation, and the new 

extremists who advocated agitation, and regarded the pursuit 

of social reform as a distraction from nationalism. Bal 

Gangadhar Tilak, who tried to mobilise Hindu Indians by 

appealing to an explicitly Hindu political identity displayed in 

the annual public Ganapati festivals he inaugurated in western 

India, was prominent among the extremists.  

Congress included a number of prominent political figures. 

Dadabhai Naoroji, a member of the sister Indian National 

Association, was elected president of the party in 1886 and 

was the first Indian Member of Parliament in the British House 
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of Commons (1892–1895). Congress also included Bal 

Gangadhar Tilak, Bipin Chandra Pal, Lala Lajpat Rai, Gopal 

Krishna Gokhale, and Mohammed Ali Jinnah. Jinnah was a 

member of the moderate group in the Congress, favouring 

Hindu–Muslim unity in achieving self-government. Later he 

became the leader of the Muslim League and instrumental in 

the creation of Pakistan. Congress was transformed into a 

mass movement by Surendranath Banerjee during the partition 

of Bengal in 1905, and the resultant Swadeshi movement.  

Congress as a mass movement 

Mahatma Gandhi returned from South Africa in 1915. After the 

First World War, the party became associated with Gandhi, 

who remained its unofficial spiritual leader and icon. He 

formed an alliance with the Khilafat Movement in 1920 to fight 

for preservation of the Ottoman Caliphate, and rights for 

Indians using civil disobedience or satyagraha as the tool for 

agitation. In 1923, after the deaths of policemen at Chauri 

Chaura, Gandhi suspended the agitation. In protest, a number 

of leaders, Chittaranjan Das, Annie Besant, and Motilal Nehru, 

resigned to set up the Swaraj Party. The Khilafat movement 

collapsed and Congress was split.  

With the help of the moderate group led by Gokhale, in 1924 

Gandhi became president of Congress. The rise of Gandhi's 

popularity and his satyagraha art of revolution led to support 

from Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel, Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru, 

Rajendra Prasad, Khan Mohammad Abbas Khan, Khan Abdul 

Ghaffar Khan, Chakravarti Rajgopalachari, Anugrah Narayan 

Sinha, Jayaprakash Narayan, Jivatram Kripalani, and Maulana 

Abul Kalam Azad. As a result of prevailing nationalism, 
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Gandhi's popularity, and the party's attempts at eradicating 

caste differences, untouchability, poverty, and religious and 

ethnic divisions, Congress became a forceful and dominant 

group. Although its members were predominantly Hindu, it had 

members from other religions, economic classes, and ethnic 

and linguistic groups.  

At the Congress 1929 Lahore session under the presidency of 

Jawaharlal Nehru, Purna Swaraj (complete independence) was 

declared as the party's goal, declaring 26 January 1930 as 

"Purna Swaraj Diwas" (Independence Day). The same year, 

Srinivas Iyenger was expelled from the party for demanding full 

independence, not just home rule as demanded by Gandhi.  

After the passage of the Government of India Act 1935, 

provincial elections were held in India in the winter of 1936–37 

in eleven provinces: Madras, Central Provinces, Bihar, Orissa, 

United Provinces, Bombay Presidency, Assam, NWFP, Bengal, 

Punjab, and Sindh. The final results of the elections were 

declared in February 1937. The Indian National Congress 

gained power in eight of them - the three exceptions being 

Bengal, Punjab, and Sindh. The All-India Muslim League failed 

to form a government in any province. Congress ministries 

resigned in October and November 1939 in protest against 

Viceroy Lord Linlithgow's declaration that India was a 

belligerent in the Second World War without consulting the 

Indian people.  

In 1939, Subhas Chandra Bose, the elected president in both 

1938 and 1939, resigned from Congress over the selection of 

the working committee.  Congress was an umbrella 

organisation, sheltering radical socialists, traditionalists, and 
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Hindu and Muslim conservatives. Gandhi expelled all the 

socialist groupings, including the Congress Socialist Party, the 

Krishak Praja Party, and the Swarajya Party, along with 

Subhas Chandra Bose, in 1939.  

In 1946, the British tried the Indian soldiers who had fought 

alongside the Japanese during World War II in the INA trials. 

In response, Congress helped form the INA Defence Committee, 

which assembled a legal team to defend the case of the soldiers 

of the Azad Hind government. The team included several 

famous lawyers, including Bhulabhai Desai, Asaf Ali, and 

Jawaharlal Nehru. The same year, Congress members initially 

supported the sailors who led the Royal Indian Navy mutiny, 

but they withdrew support at a critical juncture and the 

mutiny failed.  

Post-independence 

After Indian independence in 1947, the Indian National 

Congress became the dominant political party in the country. 

In 1952, in the first general election held after Independence, 

the party swept to power in the national parliament and most 

state legislatures. It held power nationally until 1977, when it 

was defeated by the Janata coalition. It returned to power in 

1980 and ruled until 1989, when it was once again defeated. 

The party formed the government in 1991 at the head of a 

coalition, as well as in 2004 and 2009, when it led the United 

Progressive Alliance. During this period the Congress remained 

centre-left in its social policies while steadily shifting from a 

socialist to a neoliberal economic outlook. The Party's rivals at 

state level have been national parties including the Bharatiya 

Janata Party (BJP), the Communist Party of India (Marxist) 
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(CPIM), and various regional parties, such as the Telugu 

Desam Party, Trinamool Congress and Aam Aadmi Party.  

A post-partition successor to the party survived as the 

Pakistan National Congress, a party which represented the 

rights of religious minorities in the state. The party's support 

was strongest in the Bengali-speaking province of East 

Pakistan. After the Bangladeshi War of Independence, it 

became known as the Bangladeshi National Congress, but was 

dissolved in 1975 by the government.  

Nehru/Shastri era (1947–1966) 

From 1951 until his death in 1964, Jawaharlal Nehru was the 

paramount leader of the party. Congress gained power in 

landslide victories in the general elections of 1951–52, 1957, 

and 1962. During his tenure, Nehru implemented policies 

based on import substitution industrialisation, and advocated 

a mixed economy where the government-controlled public 

sector co-existed with the private sector. He believed the 

establishment of basic and heavy industries was fundamental 

to the development and modernisation of the Indian economy. 

The Nehru government directed investment primarily into key 

public sector industries—steel, iron, coal, and power—

promoting their development with subsidies and protectionist 

policies. Nehru embraced secularism, socialistic economic 

practices based on state-driven industrialisation, and a non-

aligned and non-confrontational foreign policy that became 

typical of the modern Congress Party. The policy of non-

alignment during the Cold War meant Nehru received financial 

and technical support from both the Eastern and Western 

Blocs to build India's industrial base from nothing.  
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During his period in office, there were four known 

assassination attempts on Nehru. The first attempt on his life 

was during partition in 1947 while he was visiting the North-

West Frontier Province in a car. The second was by a knife-

wielding rickshaw-puller in Maharashtra in 1955. A third 

attempt happened in Bombay in 1956. The fourth was a failed 

bombing attempt on railway tracks in Maharashtra in 1961. 

Despite threats to his life, Nehru despised having excess 

security personnel around him and did not like his movements 

to disrupt traffic.  

In 1964, Nehru died because of an aortic dissection, raising 

questions about the party's future.After Nehru's death in 1964, 

the congress party started to face internal crisis. There were 

differences among the top leadership of the Congress regarding 

the future of the party which makes lot of issues within the 

party. This resulted in formation of many congress named 

parties in Kerala Congress, Orissa Jana Congress, Bangla 

Congress, Utkal Congress, Bharatiya Kranti Dal, etc. Following 

the death of Nehru, Gulzarilal Nanda was appointed as the 

interim Prime Minister on May 27, 1964, pending the election 

of a new parliamentary leader of the Congress party who would 

then become Prime Minister.  

K. Kamaraj became the president of the All India Congress 

Committee in 1963 during the last year of Nehru's life. Prior to 

that, he had been the chief minister of Madras state for nine 

years. Kamraj had also been a member of "the syndicate", a 

group of right wing leaders within Congress.In 1963 the 

Congress lost popularity following the defeat in the Indo-

Chinese war of 1962.To revitalize the party, Kamraj proposed 

the Kamaraj Plan to Nehru that encouraged six Congress chief 
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ministers (including himself) and six senior cabinet ministers 

to resign to take up party work. After Nehru's death in May 

1964, Kamaraj was widely credited as the "kingmaker" in 

Indian politics for ensuring the victory of Lal Bahadur Shastri 

over Morarji Desai as the successor of Nehru. The Congress 

was then split into two parties : Indian National Congress (O) 

and Indian National Congress (R) as a left-wing/right-wing 

division. Indira Gandhi wanted to use a populist agenda in 

order to mobilize popular support for the party while Kamraj 

and Desai stood for a more right-wing agenda.  

As prime minister, Shastri retained many members of Nehru's 

Council of Ministers; T. T. Krishnamachari was retained as 

Finance Minister of India, as was Defence Minister 

Yashwantrao Chavan. Shastri appointed Swaran Singh to 

succeed him as External Affairs Minister. Shashtri appointed 

Indira Gandhi, Jawaharlal Nehru's daughter and former party 

president, Minister of Information and Broadcasting. Gulzarilal 

Nanda continued as the Minister of Home Affairs. As Prime 

Minister, Shastri continued Nehru's policy of non-alignment, 

but built closer relations with the Soviet Union. In the 

aftermath of the Sino-Indian War of 1962, and the formation of 

military ties between China and Pakistan, Shastri's government 

expanded the defence budget of India's armed forces. He also 

promoted the White Revolution—a national campaign to 

increase the production and supply of milk by creating the 

National Dairy Development Board. The Madras anti-Hindi 

agitation of 1965 occurred during Shastri's tenure.  

Shastri became a national hero following victory in the Indo-

Pakistani War of 1965. His slogan, "Jai Jawan Jai Kisan" ("Hail 

the soldier, Hail the farmer"), became very popular during the 
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war. On 11 January 1966, a day after signing the Tashkent 

Declaration, Shastri died in Tashkent, reportedly of a heart 

attack; but the circumstances of his death remain mysterious. 

Indian National Congress (O) was led first by Kamraj and later 

by Morarji Desai. The "O" stands for organisation/Old 

Congress. Some people used to it the Original Congress.  

Indira era (1966–1984) 

After Shastri's death, Congress elected Indira Gandhi as leader 

over Morarji Desai. Once again, politician K. Kamaraj was 

instrumental in achieving this result. In 1967, following a poor 

performance in the general election, Indira Gandhi started 

moving towards the political left. In mid-1969, she was 

involved in a dispute with senior party leaders on a number of 

issues. The two major issues were Gandhi supporting the 

independent candidate, V. V. Giri, rather than the official 

Congress party candidate, Neelam Sanjiva Reddy, for the 

vacant post of the President of India. The second issue was 

Mrs. Gandhi's abrupt nationalization of the 14 biggest banks 

in India, which resulted in the resignation of the finance 

minister, Morarji Desai. Later in the year, the Congress party 

president, S. Nijalingappa, expelled her from the party for 

indiscipline. Mrs. Gandhi as a counter-move launched her own 

faction of the INC. Mrs. Gandhi's faction, called Congress (R), 

was supported by most of the Congress MPs while the original 

party had the support of only 65 MPs. It was also known as 

Congress (R) R stood for Requisition or Ruling. It soon came to 

be known as the New Congress. In the All India Congress 

Committee, 446 of its 705 members walked over to Indira's 

side. This created a belief among Indians that Indira's 

Congress was the Real Congress (INC-R). After the separation 
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of the two parties, there was also a dispute about the party 

logo. The "Old Congress" retained the party symbol of a pair of 

bullocks carrying a yoke while Indira's breakaway faction was 

given a new symbol of a cow with a suckling calf by the 

Election Commission as the party election symbol. The split 

occurred when, in 1969, a united opposition under the banner 

of Samyukt Vidhayak Dal, won control over several states in 

the Hindi Belt.  

In the mid-term parliamentary elections held in 1971, the 

Gandhi-led Congress (R) Party won a landslide victory on a 

platform of progressive policies such as the elimination of 

poverty (Garibi Hatao). The policies of the Congress (R) Party 

under Gandhi before the 1971 elections included proposals to 

abolish the Privy Purse to former rulers of the Princely states, 

and the 1969 nationalisation of India's 14 largest banks.  

The New Congress Party's popular support began to wane in 

the mid-1970s. From 1975, Gandhi's government grew 

increasingly more authoritarian and unrest among the 

opposition grew. On 12 June 1975, the High Court of 

Allahabad declared Indira Gandhi's election to the Lok Sabha, 

the lower house of India's parliament, void on the grounds of 

electoral malpractice. However, Gandhi rejected calls to resign 

and announced plans to appeal to the Supreme Court. She 

moved to restore order by ordering the arrest of most of the 

opposition participating in the unrest. In response to 

increasing disorder and lawlessness, Gandhi's cabinet and 

government recommended that President Fakhruddin Ali 

Ahmed declare a State of Emergency, which he did on 25 June 

1975 based on the provisions of Article 352 of the 

Constitution.  
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During the nineteen-month emergency, widespread oppression 

and abuse of power by Gandhi's unelected younger son and 

political heir Sanjay Gandhi and his close associates occurred. 

This period of oppression ended on 23 January 1977, when 

Gandhi released all political prisoners and called fresh 

elections for the Lok Sabha to be held in March. The 

Emergency officially ended on 23 March 1977. In that month's 

parliamentary elections, the Janata alliance of anti-Indira 

opposition parties won a landslide victory over Congress, 

winning 295 seats in the Lok Sabha against Congress' 153. 

Gandhi lost her seat to her Janata opponent Raj Narain. On 2 

January 1978, she and her followers seceded and formed a new 

opposition party, popularly called Congress (I)—the "I" 

signifying Indira. During the next year, her new party attracted 

enough members of the legislature to become the official 

opposition. In November 1978, Gandhi regained a 

parliamentary seat. In January 1980, following a landslide 

victory for Congress (I), she was again elected prime minister. 

The national election commission declared Congress (I) to be 

the real Indian National Congress for the 1984 general 

election. However, the designation I was dropped only in 1996.  

Early during Gandhi's new term as prime minister, her 

youngest son Sanjay died in an aeroplane crash in June 1980. 

This led her to encourage her elder son Rajiv, who was working 

as an airline pilot, to enter politics. Gradually, Indira Gandhi's 

politics and outlook grew more authoritarian and autocratic, 

and she became the central figure within the Congress Party. 

As prime minister, she became known for her political 

ruthlessness and unprecedented centralization of power.  
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Gandhi's term as prime minister also saw increasing turmoil in 

Punjab, with demands for Sikh autonomy by Jarnail Singh 

Bhindranwale and his militant followers. In 1983, they 

headquartered themselves in the Golden Temple in Amritsar 

and started accumulating weapons. In June 1984, after several 

futile negotiations, Gandhi ordered the Indian Army to enter 

the Golden Temple to establish control over the complex and 

remove Bhindranwale and his armed followers. This event is 

known as Operation Blue Star.On 31 October 1984, two of 

Gandhi's bodyguards, Satwant Singh and Beant Singh, shot 

her with their service weapons in the garden of the prime 

minister's residence in response to her authorisation of 

Operation Blue Star. Gandhi was due to be interviewed by 

British actor Peter Ustinov, who was filming a documentary for 

Irish television. Her assassination prompted the 1984 anti-

Sikh riots, during which more than 3,000 people were killed.  

Rajiv Gandhi and Rao era (1984–1998) 

In 1984, Indira Gandhi's son Rajiv Gandhi became nominal 

head of Congress, and went on to become prime minister upon 

her assassination. In December, he led Congress to a landslide 

victory, where it secured 401 seats in the legislature. His 

administration took measures to reform the government 

bureaucracy and liberalise the country's economy. Rajiv 

Gandhi's attempts to discourage separatist movements in 

Punjab and Kashmir backfired. After his government became 

embroiled in several financial scandals, his leadership became 

increasingly ineffectual. Gandhi was regarded as a non-

abrasive person who consulted other party members and 

refrained from hasty decisions. The Bofors scandal damaged 

his reputation as an honest politician, but he was 
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posthumously cleared of bribery allegations in 2004. On 21 

May 1991, Gandhi was killed by a bomb concealed in a basket 

of flowers carried by a woman associated with the Tamil Tigers. 

He was campaigning in Tamil Nadu for upcoming parliamentary 

elections. In 1998, an Indian court convicted 26 people in the 

conspiracy to assassinate Gandhi. The conspirators, who 

consisted of Tamil militants from Sri Lanka and their Indian 

allies, had sought revenge against Gandhi because the Indian 

troops he sent to Sri Lanka in 1987 to help enforce a peace 

accord there had fought with Tamil Militant guerrillas.  

Rajiv Gandhi was succeeded as party leader by P. V. 

Narasimha Rao, who was elected prime minister in June 1991. 

His rise to the prime ministership was politically significant 

because he was the first holder of the office from South India. 

His administration oversaw major economic change and 

experienced several home incidents that affected India's 

national security. Rao, who held the Industries portfolio, was 

personally responsible for the dismantling of the Licence Raj, 

which came under the purview of the Ministry of Commerce 

and Industry. He is often called the "father of Indian economic 

reforms".  

Future prime ministers Atal Bihari Vajpayee and Manmohan 

Singh continued the economic reform policies begun by Rao's 

government. Rao accelerated the dismantling of the Licence 

Raj, reversing the socialist policies of previous governments. 

He employed Manmohan Singh as his finance minister to begin 

a historic economic change. With Rao's mandate, Singh 

launched India's globalisation reforms that involved 

implementing International Monetary Fund (IMF) policies to 

prevent India's impending economic collapse. Rao was also 
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referred to as Chanakya for his ability to push tough economic 

and political legislation through the parliament while he 

headed a minority government.  

By 1996, the party's image was suffering from allegations of 

corruption, and in elections that year, Congress was reduced 

to 140 seats, its lowest number in the Lok Sabha to that point. 

Rao later resigned as prime minister and, in September, as 

party president. He was succeeded as president by Sitaram 

Kesri, the party's first non-Brahmin leader. During the tenure 

of both Rao and Kesri, the two leaders conducted internal 

elections to the Congress working committees and their own 

posts as party presidents.  

INC (1998–present) 

The 1998 general election saw Congress win 141 seats in the 

Lok Sabha, its lowest tally until then. To boost its popularity 

and improve its performance in the forthcoming election, 

Congress leaders urged Sonia Gandhi, Rajiv Gandhi's widow, to 

assume leadership of the party. She had previously declined 

offers to become actively involved in party affairs and had 

stayed away from politics. After her election as party leader, a 

section of the party that objected to the choice because of her 

Italian ethnicity broke away and formed the Nationalist 

Congress Party (NCP), led by Sharad Pawar.  

Sonia Gandhi struggled to revive the party in her early years as 

its president; she was under continuous scrutiny for her 

foreign birth and lack of political acumen. In the snap 

elections called by the National Democratic Alliance (NDA) 

government in 1999, Congress' tally further plummeted to just 
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114 seats. Although the leadership structure was unaltered as 

the party campaigned strongly in the assembly elections that 

followed, Gandhi began to make such strategic changes as 

abandoning the party's 1998 Pachmarhi resolution of ekla 

chalo, or "go it alone" policy, and formed alliances with other 

like-minded parties. In the intervening years, the party was 

successful at various legislative assembly elections; at one 

point, Congress ruled 15 states. For the 2004 general election, 

Congress forged alliances with regional parties including the 

NCP and the Dravida Munnetra Kazhagam. The party's 

campaign emphasised social inclusion and the welfare of the 

common masses—an ideology that Gandhi herself endorsed for 

Congress during her presidency—with slogans such as 

Congress ka haath, aam aadmi ke saath ("Congress hand in 

hand with the common man"), contrasting with the NDA's 

"India Shining" campaign. The Congress-led United Progressive 

Alliance (UPA) won 222 seats in the new parliament, defeating 

the NDA by a substantial margin. With the subsequent support 

of the communist front, Congress won a majority and formed a 

new government. Despite massive support from within the 

party, Gandhi declined the post of prime minister, choosing to 

appoint Manmohan Singh instead. She remained as party 

president and headed the National Advisory Council (NAC).  

During its first term in office, the UPA government passed 

several social reform bills. These included an employment 

guarantee bill, the Right to Information Act, and a right to 

education act. The NAC, as well as the Left Front that 

supported the government from the outside, were widely seen 

as being the driving force behind such legislation. The Left 

Front withdrew its support of the government over 

disagreements about the U.S.–India Civil Nuclear Agreement. 
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Despite the effective loss of 62 seats in parliament, the 

government survived the trust vote that followed. In the Lok 

Sabha elections held soon after, Congress won 207 seats, the 

highest tally of any party since 1991. The UPA as a whole won 

262, enabling it to form a government for the second time. The 

social welfare policies of the first UPA government, and the 

perceived divisiveness of the BJP, are broadly credited with the 

victory.  

By the 2014 Lok Sabha elections, the party had lost much of 

its popular support, mainly because of several years of poor 

economic conditions in the country, and growing discontent 

over a series of corruption allegations involving government 

officials, including the 2G spectrum case and the Indian coal 

allocation scam. Congress won only 44 seats in the Lok Sabha, 

compared to the 336 of the BJP and its allies The UPA suffered 

heavy defeat, which was its worst-ever performance in a 

national election with its vote share dipping below 20% for the 

first time. Narendra Modi succeeded Singh as Prime Minister 

as the head of the National Democratic Alliance. Sonia Gandhi 

retired as party president in December 2017, having served for 

a record nineteen years. She was succeeded by her son Rahul 

Gandhi, who was elected unopposed in the 2017 Indian 

National Congress presidential election.  

Rahul Gandhi resigned from his post after the 2019 Indian 

general election, due to the party's dismal performance. The 

INC had managed to win only 52 seats, hence failing to provide 

an official Leader of the Opposition for a second consecutive 

term. Following Gandhi's resignation, party leaders began 

deliberations for a suitable candidate to replace him. The 

Congress Working Committee met on 10 August to make a final 
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decision on the matter and passed a resolution asking Sonia 

Gandhi to take over as interim president until a consensus 

candidate could be picked.  

History of the Indian National 

Congress 

The Indian National Congress was established when 72 

delegates from all over country met at Bombay in 1885. 

Prominent delegates included Dadabhai Naoroji, Surendranath 

Banerjee, Badruddin Tyabji, W. C. Bonnerjee, S. Ramaswami 

Mudaliar, S.Subramanya Iyer and Romesh Chunder Dutt. A.O. 

Hume, a retired British officer and servant was one of the 

founding members of the Indian National Congress.  

Formation and early days 

(1885 – 1905) 

Retired British Indian Civil Service (ICS) officer Allan Octavian 

Hume founded the Indian National Congress (A political party 

of India (British India to Free India)) in order to form a 

platform for civil and political dialogue among educated 

Indians. After the Indian Rebellion of 1857, control of India 

was transferred from the East India Company to the British 

Empire. British-controlled India, known as the British Raj, or 

just the Raj, worked to try to support and justify its 

governance of India with the aid of English-educated Indians, 

who tended to be more familiar with and friendly to British 

culture and political thinking. Ironically, a few of the reasons 
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that the Congress grew and survived, particularly in the 19th 

century era of undisputed British dominance or hegemony, was 

through the patronage of British authorities and the rising 

class of Indians and Anglo-Indians educated in the English 

language-based British tradition.  

Hume embarked on an endeavor to get an organization started 

by reaching-out to selected alumni of the University of 

Calcutta. In an 1883 letter, he wrote that,  

Every nation secures precisely as good a Government as it 

merits. If you, the picked men, the most highly educated of the 

nation, cannot, scorning personal ease and selfish objects, 

make a resolute struggle to secure greater freedom for 

yourselves and your country, a more impartial administration, 

a larger share in the management of your own affairs, then we, 

your friends, are wrong and our adversaries right, then are 

Lord Ripon's noble aspirations for your good fruitless and 

visionary, then, at present at any rate all hopes of progress are 

at an end[,] and India truly neither desires nor deserves any 

better Government than she enjoys. 

In May 1885, Hume secured the viceroy's approval to create an 

"Indian National Union", which would be affiliated with the 

government and act as a platform to voice Indian public 

opinion. Hume and a group of educated Indians came together 

on October 12 and published "An Appeal from the People of 

India to the Electors of Great Britain and Ireland" which asked 

British voters in the 1885 British general election to support 

candidates sympathetic to the positions of Indians. These 

included opposition to taxation of India to finance British 

campaigns in Afghanistan, and support for legislative reform in 
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India. The appeal however, was a failure, and was interpreted 

by many Indians as "a rude shock, but a true realization that 

they had to fight their battles alone."  

On 28 December 1885, the Indian National Congress was 

founded at Gokuldas Tejpal Sanskrit College in Bombay, with 

72 delegates in attendance. Hume assumed office as the 

General Secretary, and Womesh Chunder Bonnerjee of Calcutta 

was elected president. Besides Hume, two additional British 

members (both Scottish civil servants) were members of the 

founding group, William Wedderburn and Justice (later, Sir) 

John Jardine. The other members were mostly Hindus from the 

Bombay and Madras Presidencies.  

Policies of Indian National Congress during 1885–1905 

Between 1885 and 1905, the Indian National Congress passed 

several resolutions in its annual sessions. Through the 

resolutions, the humble demands made by Congress included 

civil rights, administrative, constitutional and economic 

policies. A look at the resolution passed on these methods 

would be given an idea the directions of Congress programs 

were taking.  

a) Civil Rights: The Congress leaders realized the value of 

freedom of speech and press, the right to organize processions, 

meetings and similar other rights.  

b) Administrative: The Congress leaders urged the government 

to remove certain administrative abuses and run public welfare 

measures. They put emphasis on the appointment of Indians in 

the government services. Specific proposals are made to open 

agricultural banks for the relief of peasantry. The Congress 
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leaders also raised the voice of protest against the 

discriminatory laws enacted by the government.  

c) Constitutional: The humble demand made by the early 

Congress leaders in respect to constitutional matters were: to 

increase the power of legislative councils; to include elected 

Indian representatives. It must be mentioned here that the 

British government of India paid scant regard to the above 

demands made by Congress.  

d) Economic: In the economic sphere, Congress blamed the 

wrong policies of the British that resulted in rising property 

and economic repression of the Indian people. The Congress 

also put forward certain specific suggestions for the economic 

improvement of the country and her people. These included the 

introduction of modern industry, Indianization of public 

services, etc. The Congress also demanded the abolition of salt 

tax for the benefit particularly of the poor section of the people  

Foreign Policy 

Even before independence of India, the Indian National 

Congress had well articulated foreign policy positions. In the 

words of Rejaul Karim Laskar, a scholar of Indian foreign 

policy and an ideologue of Indian National Congress, "Right 

after the establishment of the Indian National Congress, it 

started articulating its views on foreign affairs. In its first 

session in 1885, the Indian National Congress deplored the 

annexation of upper Burma by British Indian Government."  
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Muslim Response 

Many Muslim community leaders, like the prominent 

educationalist Syed Ahmed Khan, viewed the Congress 

negatively, owing to its membership being dominated by 

Hindus. Hindu community and religious leaders were also 

averse, seeing the Congress as supportive of Western cultural 

invasion.  

The ordinary people of India were not informed of or concerned 

about its existence on the whole, for Congress never attempted 

to address the issues of poverty, lack of health care, social 

oppression, and the prejudiced negligence of the people's 

concerns by British authorities. The perception of bodies like 

the Congress was that of an elitist, then educated and wealthy 

people's institution.  

Rise of Indian nationalism 

The first spurts of nationalistic sentiment that rose amongst 

Congress members were when the desire to be represented in 

the bodies of government, to have a say, a vote in the 

lawmaking and issues of administration of India. Congressmen 

saw themselves as loyalists, but wanted an active role in 

governing their own country, albeit as part of the Empire.  

This was personified by Dadabhai Naoroji, considered by many 

as the eldest Indian statesman. Naoroji went as far as 

contesting, successfully, an election to the British House of 

Commons, becoming its first Indian member. That he was 

aided in his campaign by young, aspiring Indian student 
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activists like Muhammad Ali Jinnah, describes where the 

imagination of the new Indian generation lay.  

Bal Gangadhar Tilak was among the first Indian nationalists to 

embrace swaraj as the destiny of the nation. Tilak deeply 

opposed the British education system that ignored and 

defamed India's culture, history, and values, defying and 

disgracing the Indian culture. He resented the denial of 

freedom of expression for nationalists and the lack of any voice 

or role for ordinary Indians in the affairs of their nation. For 

these reasons, he considered swaraj as the natural and only 

solution: the abandonment of all the British things and to 

protect the Indian economy from the exploitation of the British, 

and their biased and discriminatory policies. He was backed by 

rising public leaders like Bipin Chandra Pal and Lala Lajpat 

Rai, Aurobindo Ghose, V. O. Chidambaram Pillai who held the 

same point of view. Under them, India's four great states – 

Madras, Bombay, Bengal, and Punjab region shaped the 

demand of the people and India's nationalism.  

The moderates, led by Gopal Krishna Gokhale, Pherozeshah 

Mehta, and Dadabhai Naoroji, held firm to calls for 

negotiations and political dialogue. Gokhale criticized Tilak for 

encouraging acts of violence and disorder. The Congress of 

1906 did not have public membership, and thus Tilak and his 

supporters were forced to leave the party.  

With Tilak's arrest, all hopes for an Indian offensive were 

stalled. The Congress lost credit with the people. Muslims 

formed the All India Muslim League in 1906, considering the 

Congress as completely unsuitable for Indian Muslims.  
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World War I: the battle for the soul 

When the British entered the British Indian Army into World 

War I, it provoked the first definitive, nationwide political 

debate of its kind in India. Voices calling for political 

independence grew in number.  

The divided Congress re-united in the pivotal Lucknow session 

in 1916, with the efforts of Bal Gangadhar Tilak and 

Muhammad Ali Jinnah. Tilak had considerably moderated his 

views and now favoured political dialogue with the British. He, 

along with the young Muhammad Ali Jinnah and Mrs. Annie 

Besant launched the Home Rule Movement to put forth Indian 

demands for Home Rule – Indian participation in the affairs of 

their own country – a precursor to Swaraj. The All India Home 

Rule League was formed to demand dominion status within the 

Empire.  

But another Indian man with another way was destined to lead 

the Congress and the Indian struggle. Mohandas Gandhi was a 

lawyer who had successfully led the struggle of Indians in 

South Africa against British discriminatory laws. Returning to 

India in 1915, Gandhi looked to Indian culture and history, the 

values and lifestyle of its people to empower a new revolution, 

with the concept of non-violence, civil disobedience, he coined 

a term, Satyagraha.  

Champaran and Kheda 

Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi, who later on became more 

popular as Mahatma Gandhi, had success in defeating the 

British in Champaran and Kheda, giving India its first victory 
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in the struggle for freedom. Then Indian National Congress had 

supported that movement; Indians gained confidence in the 

working of that organization that the British could be thwarted 

through that organization, and millions of young people from 

across the country flooded into Congress membership.  

The Battle for the soul 

A whole class of political leaders disagreed with Gandhi. Bipin 

Chandra Pal, Muhammad Ali Jinnah, Annie Besant, Bal 

Gangadhar Tilak all criticized the idea of civil disobedience. 

But Gandhi had the backing of the people and a whole new 

generation of Indian nationalists as well as the British Raj.  

In a series of sessions in 1918, 1919 and 1920, where the old 

and the new generations clashed in famous and important 

debates, Gandhi and his young supporters imbued the 

Congress rank-and-file with passion and energy to combat 

British rule directly. With the tragedy of the 1919 Amritsar 

Massacre and the riots in Punjab, Indian anger and passions 

were palpable and radical. With the election of Mohandas K. 

Gandhi to the presidency of the Indian National Congress, the 

battle of the party's soul was won, and a new path to India's 

destiny was forged.  

Lokmanya Tilak, whom Gandhi had called The Father of Modern 

India died in 1920, and Gopal Krishna Gokhale had died four 

years earlier. Motilal Nehru, Lala Lajpat Rai and some other 

stalwarts backed Gandhi as they were not sure that they can 

lead the people like Tilak and Gokhale. Thus it was now 

entirely up to Gandhi's Congress to show the way for the 

nation.  
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Expansion and re-organization 

In the years after the World War, the Congress expanded 

considerably, owing to public excitement after Gandhi's 

success in Champaran and Kheda. A whole new generation of 

leaders arose from different parts of India, who were committed 

Gandhians Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel, Rajendra Prasad, 

Chakravarti Rajagopalachari, Narhari Parikh, Mahadev Desai 

— as well as hot-blooded nationalists aroused by Gandhi's 

active leadership — Chittaranjan Das, Subhas Chandra Bose, 

Srinivasa Iyengar.  

Gandhi transformed the Congress from an elitist party based in 

the cities, to an organization of the people:  

• Membership fees were considerably reduced. 

• Congress established a large number of state units 

across India – known as Pradesh Congress 

Committees – based on its own configuration of 

India's states on basis of linguistic groups. PCCs 

emerged for Maharashtra, Karnataka, Gujarat — 

states that did not yet exist and were spread over 

hundreds of princely states outside British India. 

• All former practices distinguishing Congressmen on 

basis of caste, ethnicity, religion and sex were 

eliminated — all-India unity was stressed. 

• Native tongues were given official use and respect in 

Congress meetings – especially Urdu renamed by 

Gandhi as Hindustani, which was adopted for use by 

the All India Congress Committee. 
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• Leadership posts and offices at all levels would be 

filled by elections, and not by appointments. This 

introduction of democracy was vital in rejuvenating 

the party, giving voice to ordinary members as well 

as valuable practice for Indians in democracy. 

• Eligibility for leadership would be determined by how 

much social work and service a member had done, 

not by his wealth or social standing. 

Social development 

During the 1920s, M.K. Gandhi encouraged tens of thousands 

of Congress volunteers to embrace a wide variety of organized 

tasks to address major social problems across India. Under the 

guidance of Congress committees and Gandhi's network of 

ashrams in Gujarat, Maharashtra, Uttar Pradesh, Bihar and 

Tamil Nadu, the Congress attacked:  

• Untouchability and caste discrimination 

• Alcoholism 

• Unhygienic conditions and lack of sanitation 

• Lack of health care and medical aid 

• Purdah and the oppression of women 

• Illiteracy, with the organization of national schools 

and colleges 

• Poverty, with proliferating khadi cloth, cottage 

industries 

This profound work by M. K. Gandhi impressed the people of 

India particularly, formations of ashrams, that in later period 

he was mentioned as Mahatma, Great soul, by way of honor, by 

people of India.  
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Ascendance to power (1937–1942) 

Under the Government of India Act 1935, the Congress first 

tasted political power in the provincial elections of 1937. It 

performed very well, coming to power in eight of the eleven 

provinces where elections were held. Its internal organization 

bloomed in the diversity of political attitudes and ideologies. 

The focus would change slightly from the single-minded 

devotion to complete independence, to also entertaining 

excitement and theorizing about the future governance of the 

nation. However, when the Viceroy Lord Linlithgow declared 

India a belligerent in World War II without any consultation 

with the elected representatives of the people, the Congress 

ministries resigned.  

The radical followers of Subhas Chandra Bose, believers in 

socialism and active revolution would ascend in the hierarchy 

with Bose's 1938 election to the Congress presidency.  

Traditionalists 

According to one approach, the traditionalist point of view, 

though not in a political sense, was represented in 

Congressmen like Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel, Rajendra Prasad, 

C. Rajagopalachari, Purushottam Das Tandon, Khan Abdul 

Ghaffar Khan and Maulana Azad, who were also associates and 

followers of Gandhi. Their organizational strength, achieved 

through leading the clashes with the government, was 

undisputed and proven when despite winning the 1939 

election, Bose resigned from the Congress presidency because 

of the lack of confidence he enjoyed amongst national leaders. 
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A year earlier, in the 1938 election, however, Bose had been 

elected with the support of Gandhi. Differences arose in 1939 

on whether Bose should have a second term. Jawaharlal 

Nehru, who Gandhi had always preferred to Bose, had had a 

second term earlier. Bose's own differences centred on the 

place to be accorded to non-violent as against revolutionary 

methods. When he set up his Indian National Army in South-

east Asia during the Second World War, he invoked Gandhi's 

name and hailed him as the Father of The Nation. It would be 

wrong to suggest that the so-called traditionalist leaders 

looked merely to the ancient heritage of Indian, Asian or, in 

the case of Maulana Azad and Khan Abdul Ghaffar Khan, 

Islamic civilization for inspiration. 

They believed, along with educationists like Zakir Husain and 

E W Aryanayakam, that education should be imparted in a 

manner that enables the learners also to be able to make 

things with their own hands and learn skills that would make 

them self-supporting. This method of education was also 

adopted in some areas in Egypt. (See Reginald Reynolds, 

Beware of Africans). Zakir Husain was inspired by some 

European educationists and was able, with Gandhi's support, 

to dovetail this approach to the one favoured by the Basic 

Education method introduced by the Indian freedom 

movement. 

They believed that the education system, economy and social 

justice model for a future nation should be designed to suit the 

specific local requirements. While most were open to the 

benefits of Western influences and the socio-economic 

egalitarianism of socialism, they were opposed to being defined 

by either model.  
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The final battles 

The last important episodes in the Congress involved the final 

step to independence, and the division of the country on the 

basis of religions.  

Quit India 

Chakravarthi Rajagopalachari, the prominent leader from Tamil 

Nadu resigned from the Congress to actively advocate 

supporting the British war effort. it was started in 1942.  

Indian National Army Trials 

During the INA trials of 1946, the Congress helped to form the 

INA Defence Committee, which forcefully defended the case of 

the soldiers of the Azad Hind government. The committee 

declared the formation of the Congress' defence team for the 

INA and included famous lawyers of the time, including 

Bhulabhai Desai, Asaf Ali, and Jawaharlal Nehru. QUIT INDIA 

BILL passed on 8 Aug 1942.  

Royal Indian Navy Mutiny 

Some members of the Congress initially supported the sailors 

who led the Royal Indian Navy Mutiny. However, they withdrew 

support at the critical juncture, as the mutiny failed.  

Partition of India 

Within the Congress, the Partition was opposed by Khan Abdul 

Ghaffar Khan, Saifuddin Kitchlew, Dr. Khan Sahib and 
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Congressmen from the provinces that would inevitably become 

parts of Pakistan. Maulana Azad, an Indian Islamic scholar, 

opposed partition in principle, but did not wish to impede the 

national leadership; preferred to stay with Indian side.  

1947 – 1952: Transformation 

Constitution 

In the Assembly and Constitution debates, the Congress 

attitude was marked by inclusiveness and liberalism. The 

Government appointed some prominent Indians who were Raj 

loyalists and liberals to important offices, and did not adopt 

any punitive control over the Indian civil servants who had 

aided the Raj in its governance of India and suppression of 

nationalist activities.  

A Congress-dominated Assembly adopted B.R. Ambedkar, a 

fierce Congress critic as the chairman of the Constitution draft 

committee. Syama Prasad Mookerjee, a Hindu Mahasabha 

leader became the Minister for Industry.  

The Congress stood firm on its fundamental promises and 

delivered a Constitution that abolished untouchability and 

discrimination based on caste, religion or gender. Primary 

education was made a right, and Congress governments made 

the zamindar system illegal, created minimum wages and 

authorized the right to strike and form labor unions.  
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Leadership change 

In 1947, the Congress presidency passed upon Jivatram 

Kripalani, a veteran Gandhian and ally of both Nehru and 

Patel. India's duumvirate expressed neutrality and full support 

to the elected winner of the 1947, 1948 and 1949 presidential 

races.  

However, a tug of war began between Nehru and his socialist 

wing, and Patel and Congress traditionalists broke out in 

1950's race. Nehru lobbied intensely to oppose the candidacy 

of Purushottam Das Tandon, whom he perceived as a Hindu 

revivalist with "problematic" views on Hindu-Muslim relations. 

Nehru openly backed Kripalani to oppose Tandon, but 

neglected courtesy to Patel upon the question.  

With Patel's tacit support (especially in Patel's home state of 

Gujarat, where due to Patel's work, Kripalani received not one 

vote) Tandon won a tight contest, and Nehru threatened to 

resign. With Patel's convincing, Nehru did not quit.  

However, with Patel's death in 1950, the balance shifted 

permanently in Nehru's favor. Kripalani, C. Rajagopalachari 

and Tandon were marginalized, and the Congress Party's 

election fortunes began depending solely on Nehru's leadership 

and popularity. With the 1952 election sweep, the Congress 

became India's main political party.  

  



Chapter 38 

Jawaharlal Nehru 

Jawaharlal Nehru (14 November 1889 – 27 May 1964) was an 

Indian independence activist and, subsequently, the first prime 

minister of India. Considered as one of the greatest statesmen 

of India and of the twentieth century, he was a central figure 

in Indian politics both before and after independence. He 

emerged as an eminent leader of the Indian independence 

movement, serving India as Prime Minister from its 

establishment in 1947 as an independent nation, until his 

death in 1964. He was also known as Pandit Nehru due to his 

roots with the Kashmiri Pandit community, while Indian 

children knew him better as Chacha Nehru (Hindi: Uncle 

Nehru).  

The son of Swarup Rani and Motilal Nehru, a prominent lawyer 

and nationalist statesman, Nehru was a graduate of Trinity 

College, Cambridge and the Inner Temple, where he trained to 

be a barrister. Upon his return to India, he enrolled at the 

Allahabad High Court and took an interest in national politics, 

which eventually replaced his legal practice. A committed 

nationalist since his teenage years, he became a rising figure 

in Indian politics during the upheavals of the 1910s. He 

became the prominent leader of the left-wing factions of the 

Indian National Congress during the 1920s, and eventually of 

the entire Congress, with the tacit approval of his mentor, 

Mahatma Gandhi. As Congress President in 1929, Nehru called 

for complete independence from the British Raj and instigated 

the Congress's decisive shift towards the left.  
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Nehru and the Congress dominated Indian politics during the 

1930s as the country moved towards independence. His idea of 

a secular nation-state was seemingly validated when the 

Congress swept the 1937 provincial elections and formed the 

government in several provinces; on the other hand, the 

separatist Muslim League fared much poorer. However, these 

achievements were severely compromised in the aftermath of 

the Quit India Movement in 1942, which saw the British 

effectively crush the Congress as a political organisation. 

Nehru, who had reluctantly heeded Gandhi's call for immediate 

independence, for he had desired to support the Allied war 

effort during World War II, came out of a lengthy prison term 

to a much altered political landscape. The Muslim League 

under his old Congress colleague and now opponent, 

Muhammad Ali Jinnah, had come to dominate Muslim politics 

in India. Negotiations between Congress and Muslim League for 

power sharing failed and gave way to the independence and 

bloody partition of India in 1947.  

Nehru was elected by the Congress to assume office as 

independent India's first Prime Minister, although the question 

of leadership had been settled as far back as 1941, when 

Gandhi acknowledged Nehru as his political heir and 

successor. As Prime Minister, he set out to realise his vision of 

India. The Constitution of India was enacted in 1950, after 

which he embarked on an ambitious program of economic, 

social and political reforms. Chiefly, he oversaw India's 

transition from a colony to a republic, while nurturing a 

plural, multi-party system. In foreign policy, he took a leading 

role in the Non-Aligned Movement while projecting India as a 

regional hegemon in South Asia.  
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Under Nehru's leadership, the Congress emerged as a catch-all 

party, dominating national and state-level politics and winning 

consecutive elections in 1951, 1957, and 1962. He remained 

popular with the people of India in spite of political troubles in 

his final years and failure of leadership during the 1962 Sino-

Indian War. In India, his birthday is celebrated as Children's 

Day.  

Early life and career (1889–1912) 

Birth and family background 

Jawaharlal Nehru was born on 14 November 1889 in Allahabad 

in British India. His father, Motilal Nehru (1861–1931), a self-

made wealthy barrister who belonged to the Kashmiri Pandit 

community, served twice as President of the Indian National 

Congress, in 1919 and 1928. His mother, Swarup Rani Thussu 

(1868–1938), who came from a well-known Kashmiri Brahmin 

family settled in Lahore, was Motilal's second wife, the first 

having died in childbirth. Jawaharlal was the eldest of three 

children, two of whom were girls. The elder sister, Vijaya 

Lakshmi, later became the first female president of the United 

Nations General Assembly. The youngest sister, Krishna 

Hutheesing, became a noted writer and authored several books 

on her brother.  

Childhood 

Nehru described his childhood as a "sheltered and uneventful 

one." He grew up in an atmosphere of privilege at wealthy 

homes including a palatial estate called the Anand Bhavan. His 
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father had him educated at home by private governesses and 

tutors. Under the influence Ferdinand T. Brooks' tutelage, 

Nehru became interested in science and theosophy. He was 

subsequently initiated into the Theosophical Society at age 

thirteen by a family friend Annie Besant. However, his interest 

in theosophy did not prove to be enduring and he left the 

society shortly after Brooks departed as his tutor. He wrote: 

"for nearly three years [Brooks] was with me and in many 

ways, he influenced me greatly."  

Nehru's theosophical interests had induced him to the study of 

the Buddhist and Hindu scriptures. According to Bal Ram 

Nanda, these scriptures were Nehru's "first introduction to the 

religious and cultural heritage of [India].… [They] provided 

Nehru the initial impulse for [his] long intellectual quest which 

culminated…in The Discovery of India."  

Youth 

Nehru became an ardent nationalist during his youth. The 

Second Boer War and the Russo-Japanese War intensified his 

feelings. About the latter he wrote, "[The] Japanese victories 

[had] stirred up my enthusiasm.… Nationalistic ideas filled my 

mind.… I mused of Indian freedom and Asiatic freedom from 

the thraldom of Europe." 

Later, when he had begun his institutional schooling in 1905 

at Harrow, a leading school in England, he was greatly 

influenced by G. M. Trevelyan's Garibaldi books, which he had 

received as prizes for academic merit. He viewed Garibaldi as a 

revolutionary hero. He wrote: "Visions of similar deeds in India 
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came before, of [my] gallant fight for [Indian] freedom and in 

my mind, India and Italy got strangely mixed together."  

Graduation 

Nehru went to Trinity College, Cambridge in October 1907 and 

graduated with an honours degree in natural science in 1910. 

During this period, he also studied politics, economics, 

history, and literature with little interest. The writings of 

Bernard Shaw, H. G. Wells, John Maynard Keynes, Bertrand 

Russell, Lowes Dickinson, and Meredith Townsend moulded 

much of his political and economic thinking.  

After completing his degree in 1910, Nehru moved to London 

and studied law at Inner temple Inn. During this time, he 

continued to study the scholars of the Fabian Society including 

Beatrice Webb. He was called to the Bar in 1912.  

Advocate practice 

After returning to India in August 1912, Nehru enrolled himself 

as an advocate of the Allahabad High Court and tried to settle 

down as a barrister. 

But, unlike his father, he had very little interest in his 

profession and did not relish either the practice of law or the 

company of lawyers: "Decidedly the atmosphere was not 

intellectually stimulating and a sense of the utter insipidity of 

life grew upon me." His involvement in nationalist politics 

would gradually replace his legal practice in the coming years.  
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Early struggle for independence 

(1912–1938) 

Britain and return to India: 1912–1913 

Nehru had developed an interest in Indian politics during his 

time in Britain as a student and a barrister.  

Within months of his return to India in 1912, Nehru attended 

an annual session of the Indian National Congress in Patna. 

Congress in 1912 was the party of moderates and elites, and 

he was disconcerted by what he saw as "very much an English-

knowing upper-class affair." Nehru harboured doubts regarding 

the effectiveness of Congress but agreed to work for the party 

in support of the Indian civil rights movement led by Mahatma 

Gandhi in South Africa, collecting funds for the movement in 

1913. Later, he campaigned against indentured labour and 

other such discrimination faced by Indians in the British 

colonies.  

World War I: 1914–1915 

• When World War I broke out, sympathy in India was 

divided. Although educated Indians "by and large 

took a vicarious pleasure" in seeing the British 

rulers humbled, the ruling upper classes sided with 

the Allies. Nehru confessed that he viewed the war 

with mixed feelings. As Frank Moraes writes, "[i]f 

[Nehru's] sympathy was with any country it was with 

France, whose culture he greatly admired." During 

the war, Nehru volunteered for the St. John 
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Ambulance and worked as one of the provincial 

secretaries of the organisation in Allahabad. He also 

spoke out against the censorship acts passed by the 

British government in India. 

Nehru emerged from the war years as a leader whose political 

views were considered radical. Although the political discourse 

had been dominated at this time by Gopal Krishna Gokhale, a 

moderate who said that it was "madness to think of 

independence," Nehru had spoken, "openly of the politics of 

non-cooperation, of the need of resigning from honorary 

positions under the government and of not continuing the 

futile politics of representation." He ridiculed the Indian Civil 

Service for its support of British policies. He noted that 

someone had once defined the Indian Civil Service, "with which 

we are unfortunately still afflicted in this country, as neither 

Indian, nor civil, nor a service." Motilal Nehru, a prominent 

moderate leader, acknowledged the limits of constitutional 

agitation, but counselled his son that there was no other 

"practical alternative" to it. Nehru, however, was not satisfied 

with the pace of the national movement. He became involved 

with aggressive nationalists leaders who were demanding Home 

Rule for Indians.  

The influence of the moderates on Congress politics began to 

wane after Gokhale died in 1915. Anti-moderate leaders such 

as Annie Besant and Bal Gangadhar Tilak took the opportunity 

to call for a national movement for Home Rule. However, in 

1915, the proposal was rejected because of the reluctance of 

the moderates to commit to such a radical course of action.  
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Home rule movement: 1916–1917 

Besant nevertheless formed a league for advocating Home Rule 

in 1916, and Tilak, on his release from a prison term, had in 

April 1916 formed his own league. Nehru joined both leagues 

but worked especially for the former. He remarked later that 

"[Besant] had a very powerful influence on me in my 

childhood…even later when I entered political life her influence 

continued." Another development that brought about a radical 

change in Indian politics was the espousal of Hindu-Muslim 

unity with the Lucknow Pact at the annual meeting of the 

Congress in December 1916. The pact had been initiated 

earlier in the year at Allahabad at a meeting of the All India 

Congress Committee which was held at the Nehru residence at 

Anand Bhawan. Nehru welcomed and encouraged the 

rapprochement between the two Indian communities.  

Several nationalist leaders banded together in 1916 under the 

leadership of Annie Besant to voice a demand for self-

governance, and to obtain the status of a Dominion within the 

British Empire as enjoyed by Australia, Canada, South Africa, 

New Zealand, and Newfoundland at the time. Nehru joined the 

movement and rose to become secretary of Besant's Home Rule 

League.  

In June 1917, Besant was arrested and interned by the British 

government. The Congress and various other Indian 

organisations threatened to launch protests if she were not set 

free. The British government was subsequently forced to 

release Besant and make significant concessions after a period 

of intense protest.  
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Non-cooperation: 1920–1927 

The first big national involvement of Nehru came at the onset 

of the Non-cooperation movement in 1920. He led the 

movement in the United Provinces (now Uttar Pradesh). Nehru 

was arrested on charges of anti-governmental activities in 

1921, and was released a few months later. In the rift that 

formed within the Congress following the sudden closure of the 

Non-Cooperation movement after the Chauri Chaura incident, 

Nehru remained loyal to Gandhi and did not join the Swaraj 

Party formed by his father Motilal Nehru and CR Das. In 1923, 

Nehru suffered imprisonment in Nabha, a princely state, when 

he went there to see the struggle that was being waged by the 

Sikhs against the corrupt Mahants.  

Internationalising struggle for Indian independence: 

1927 

Nehru played a leading role in the development of the 

internationalist outlook of the Indian independence struggle. 

He sought foreign allies for India and forged links with 

movements for independence and democracy all over the world. 

In 1927, his efforts paid off, and the Congress was invited to 

attend the congress of oppressed nationalities in Brussels in 

Belgium. The meeting was called to coordinate and plan a 

common struggle against imperialism. Nehru represented India 

and was elected to the Executive Council of the League against 

Imperialism that was born at this meeting.  

Increasingly, Nehru saw the struggle for independence from 

British imperialism as a multinational effort by the various 

colonies and dominions of the Empire; some of his statements 
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on this matter, however, were interpreted as complicity with 

the rise of Hitler and his espoused intentions. In the face of 

these allegations, Nehru responded: 

We have sympathy for the national movement of Arabs in 

Palestine because it is directed against British Imperialism. 

Our sympathies cannot be weakened by the fact that the 

national movement coincides with Hitler's interests. 

Fundamental Rights and Economic Policy: 1929 

Nehru drafted the policies of the Congress and a future Indian 

nation in 1929. He declared that the aims of the congress were 

freedom of religion; right to form associations; freedom of 

expression of thought; equality before law for every individual 

without distinction of caste, colour, creed, or religion; 

protection to regional languages and cultures, safeguarding the 

interests of the peasants and labour; abolition of 

untouchability; introduction of adult franchise; imposition of 

prohibition, nationalisation of industries; socialism; and 

establishment of a secular India. All these aims formed the 

core of the "Fundamental Rights and Economic Policy" 

resolution drafted by Nehru in 1929–1931 and were ratified in 

1931 by the Congress party session at Karachi chaired by 

Vallabhbhai Patel.  

Declaration of independence 

Nehru was one of the first leaders to demand that the Congress 

Party should resolve to make a complete and explicit break 

from all ties with the British Empire. His resolution for 

independence was approved at the Madras session of Congress 
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in 1927 despite Gandhi's criticism. At that time he also formed 

Independence for India league, a pressure group within the 

Congress. In 1928, Gandhi agreed to Nehru's demands and 

proposed a resolution that called for the British to grant 

Dominion status to India within two years. If the British failed 

to meet the deadline, the Congress would call upon all Indians 

to fight for complete independence. Nehru was one of the 

leaders who objected to the time given to the British—he 

pressed Gandhi to demand immediate actions from the British. 

Gandhi brokered a further compromise by reducing the time 

given from two years to one. Nehru agreed to vote for the new 

resolution.  

Demands for dominion status were rejected by the British in 

1929. Nehru assumed the presidency of the Congress party 

during the Lahore session on 29 December 1929 and 

introduced a successful resolution calling for complete 

independence. Nehru drafted the Indian declaration of 

independence, which stated:  

We believe that it is the inalienable right of the Indian people, 

as of any other people, to have freedom and to enjoy the fruits 

of their toil and have the necessities of life, so that they may 

have full opportunities for growth. We believe also that if any 

government deprives a people of these rights and oppresses 

them the people have a further right to alter it or abolish it. 

The British government in India has not only deprived the 

Indian people of their freedom but has based itself on the 

exploitation of the masses, and has ruined India economically, 

politically, culturally, and spiritually. We believe, therefore, 

that India must sever the British connection and attain Purna 

Swaraj or complete independence. 
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At midnight on New Year's Eve 1929, Nehru hoisted the 

tricolour flag of India upon the banks of the Ravi in Lahore. A 

pledge of independence was read out, which included a 

readiness to withhold taxes. The massive gathering of the 

public attending the ceremony was asked if they agreed with it, 

and the vast majority of people were witnessed to raise their 

hands in approval. 172 Indian members of central and 

provincial legislatures resigned in support of the resolution 

and in accordance with Indian public sentiment. The Congress 

asked the people of India to observe 26 January as 

Independence Day. The flag of India was hoisted publicly 

across India by Congress volunteers, nationalists, and the 

public. Plans for mass civil disobedience were also underway.  

After the Lahore session of the Congress in 1929, Nehru 

gradually emerged as the paramount leader of the Indian 

independence movement. Gandhi stepped back into a more 

spiritual role. Although Gandhi did not officially designate 

Nehru his political heir until 1942, the country as early as the 

mid-1930s saw in Nehru the natural successor to Gandhi.  

Salt March: 1930 

Nehru and most of the Congress leaders were initially 

ambivalent about Gandhi's plan to begin civil disobedience 

with a satyagraha aimed at the British salt tax. After the 

protest gathered steam, they realised the power of salt as a 

symbol. Nehru remarked about the unprecedented popular 

response, "it seemed as though a spring had been suddenly 

released." He was arrested on 14 April 1930 while on train 

from Allahabad for Raipur. He had earlier, after addressing a 

huge meeting and leading a vast procession, ceremoniously 
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manufactured some contraband salt. He was charged with 

breach of the salt law, tried summarily behind prison walls, 

and sentenced to six months of imprisonment.  

He nominated Gandhi to succeed him as Congress President 

during his absence in jail, but Gandhi declined, and Nehru 

then nominated his father as his successor. With Nehru's 

arrest the civil disobedience acquired a new tempo, and 

arrests, firing on crowds and lathi charges grew to be ordinary 

occurrences.  

Salt satyagraha success 

The Salt Satyagraha succeeded in drawing the attention of the 

world. Indian, British, and world opinion increasingly began to 

recognise the legitimacy of the claims by the Congress party for 

independence. Nehru considered the salt satyagraha the high-

water mark of his association with Gandhi, and felt that its 

lasting importance was in changing the attitudes of Indians:  

Of course these movements exercised tremendous pressure on 

the British Government and shook the government machinery. 

But the real importance, to my mind, lay in the effect they had 

on our own people, and especially the village masses.… Non-

cooperation dragged them out of the mire and gave them self-

respect and self-reliance.… They acted courageously and did 

not submit so easily to unjust oppression; their outlook 

widened and they began to think a little in terms of India as a 

whole.… It was a remarkable transformation and the Congress, 

under Gandhi's leadership, must have the credit for it. 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 19th Century, Vol 5 

 

887 

Electoral politics, Europe, and economics: 1936–1938 

During the mid-1930s, Nehru was much concerned with 

developments in Europe, which seemed to be drifting toward 

another world war. He was in Europe in early 1936, visiting his 

ailing wife, shortly before she died in a sanitarium in 

Switzerland. At that time, he emphasised that, in the event of 

war, India's place was alongside the democracies, though he 

insisted that India could only fight in support of Great Britain 

and France as a free country.  

Nehru's visit to Europe in 1936 proved to be the watershed in 

his political and economic thinking. His real interest in 

Marxism and his socialist pattern of thought stem from that 

tour. His subsequent sojourns in prison enabled him to study 

Marxism in more depth. Interested in its ideas but repelled by 

some of its methods, he could never bring himself to accept 

Karl Marx's writings as revealed scripture. Yet from then on, 

the yardstick of his economic thinking remained Marxist, 

adjusted, where necessary, to Indian conditions.  

At the 1936 Lucknow session of 1936, the Congress party, 

despite opposition from the newly elected Nehru as the party 

president, agreed to contest the provincial elections to be held 

in 1937 under the Government of India Act 1935. The elections 

brought Congress party to power in a majority of the provinces 

with increased popularity and power for Nehru. Since the 

Muslim League under Muhammad Ali Jinnah (who was to 

become the creator of Pakistan) had fared badly at the polls, 

Nehru declared that the only two parties that mattered in India 

were the British colonial authorities and the Congress. 

Jinnah's statements that the Muslim League was the third and 
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"equal partner" within Indian politics was widely rejected. 

Nehru had hoped to elevate Maulana Azad as the preeminent 

leader of Indian Muslims, but in this, he was undermined by 

Gandhi, who continued to treat Jinnah as the voice of Indian 

Muslims.  

In the 1930s, the Congress Socialist Party group was formed 

within the INC under the leadership of Jayaprakash Narayan, 

Narendra Deo, and others. Nehru, however, never joined the 

group but did act as bridge between them and Gandhi. He had 

the support of the left-wing Congressmen Maulana Azad and 

Subhas Chandra Bose. The trio combined to oust Dr. Prasad as 

Congress President in 1936. Nehru was elected in his place 

and held the presidency for two years (1936–37). He was then 

succeeded by his socialist colleagues Bose (1938–39) and Azad 

(1940–46). During Nehru's second term as general secretary of 

the Congress, he proposed certain resolutions concerning the 

foreign policy of India. From that time onward, he was given 

carte blanche in framing the foreign policy of any future Indian 

nation. Nehru worked closely with Bose in developing good 

relations with governments of free countries all over the world.  

Nehru was one of the first nationalist leaders to realise the 

sufferings of the people in the states ruled by Indian princes. 

The nationalist movement had been confined to the territories 

under direct British rule. He helped to make the struggle of the 

people in the princely states a part of the nationalist movement 

for independence. Nehru has also given the responsibility of 

planning the economy of a future India and appointed the 

National Planning Commission in 1938 to help in framing such 

policies. However, many of the plans framed by Nehru and his 
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colleagues would come undone with the unexpected partition of 

India in 1947.  

The All India States Peoples Conference (AISPC) was formed in 

1927 and Nehru, who had been supporting the cause of the 

people of the princely states for many years, was made the 

President of the organization in 1939. He opened up its ranks 

to membership from across the political spectrum. The body 

would play an important role during the political integration of 

India, helping Indian leaders Vallabhbhai Patel and V. P. 

Menon (to whom Nehru had delegated the task of integrating 

the princely states into India) negotiate with hundreds of 

princes.  

Struggle for independence, from 

World War II 

When World War II began, Viceroy Linlithgow had unilaterally 

declared India a belligerent on the side of Britain, without 

consulting the elected Indian representatives. Nehru hurried 

back from a visit to China, announcing that, in a conflict 

between democracy and fascism, that "our sympathies must 

inevitably be on the side of democracy.… I should like India to 

play its full part and throw all her resources into the struggle 

for a new order.  

After much deliberation, the Congress under Nehru informed 

the government that it would cooperate with the British but on 

certain conditions. First, Britain must give an assurance of full 

independence for India after the war and allow the election of a 

constituent assembly to frame a new constitution; second, 
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although the Indian armed forces would remain under the 

British Commander-in-chief, Indians must be included 

immediately in the central government and given a chance to 

share power and responsibility. When Nehru presented Lord 

Linlithgow with the demands, he chose to reject them. A 

deadlock was reached: "The same old game is played again," 

Nehru wrote bitterly to Gandhi, "the background is the same, 

the various epithets are the same and the actors are the same 

and the results must be the same."  

On 23 October 1939, the Congress condemned the Viceroy's 

attitude and called upon the Congress ministries in the various 

provinces to resign in protest. Before this crucial 

announcement, Nehru urged Jinnah and the Muslim League to 

join the protest but the latter declined.  

As Nehru firmly placed India on the side of democracy and 

freedom during a time when the world was under the threat of 

fascism, he and Bose would split in the late 1930s when the 

latter agreed to seek the help of fascists in driving the British 

out of India. At the same time, Nehru had supported the 

Republicans who were fighting against Francisco Franco's 

forces in the Spanish Civil War. Nehru along with his aide V. 

K. Krishna Menon visited Spain and declared support for the 

Republicans. He refused to meet Benito Mussolini, dictator of 

Italy, when the latter expressed his desire to meet him.  

Pakistan Resolution, August Offer, civil disobedience: 

1940 

In March 1940, Muhammad Ali Jinnah passed what would 

come to be known as the Pakistan Resolution, declaring that 
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"Muslims are a nation according to any definition of a nation, 

and they must have their homelands, their territory and their 

State." This state was to be known as Pakistan, meaning 'Land 

of the Pure'. Nehru angrily declared that "all the old 

problems…pale into insignificance before the latest stand 

taken by the Muslim League leader in Lahore." Linlithgow made 

Nehru an offer on 8 October 1940, which stated that Dominion 

status for India was the objective of the British government. 

However, it referred neither to a date nor method of 

accomplishment. Only Jinnah received something more precise: 

"The British would not contemplate transferring power to a 

Congress-dominated national government the authority of 

which was 'denied by large and powerful elements in India's 

national life.'"  

In October 1940, Gandhi and Nehru, abandoning their original 

stand of supporting Britain, decided to launch a limited civil 

disobedience campaign in which leading advocates of Indian 

independence were selected to participate one by one. Nehru 

was arrested and sentenced to four years' imprisonment. On 15 

January 1941, Gandhi had stated:  

Some say Jawaharlal and I were estranged. It will require 

much more than difference of opinion to estrange us. We had 

differences from the time we became co-workers and yet I have 

said for some years and say so now that not Rajaji but 

Jawaharlal will be my successor. 

After spending a little more than a year in jail, Nehru was 

released, along with other Congress prisoners, three days 

before the bombing of Pearl Harbor in Hawaii.  
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Japan attacks India, Cripps' mission, Quit India: 1942 

When the Japanese carried their attack through Burma (now 

Myanmar) to the borders of India in the spring of 1942, the 

British government, faced by this new military threat, decided 

to make some overtures to India, as Nehru had originally 

desired. Prime Minister Winston Churchill dispatched Sir 

Stafford Cripps, a member of the War cabinet who was known 

to be politically close to Nehru and also knew Jinnah, with 

proposals for a settlement of the constitutional problem. As 

soon as he arrived he discovered that India was more deeply 

divided than he had imagined. 

Nehru, eager for a compromise, was hopeful; Gandhi was not. 

Jinnah had continued opposing the Congress: "Pakistan is our 

only demand, and by God, we will have it," and declared the 

Muslim League newspaper Dawn. Cripps' mission failed as 

Gandhi would accept nothing less than independence. 

Relations between Nehru and Gandhi cooled over the latter's 

refusal to cooperate with Cripps, but the two later reconciled.  

In 1942, Gandhi called on the British to leave India; Nehru, 

though reluctant to embarrass the allied war effort, had no 

alternative but to join Gandhi. Following the Quit India 

resolution passed by the Congress party in Bombay on 8 

August 1942, the entire Congress working committee, 

including Gandhi and Nehru, was arrested and imprisoned. 

Most of the Congress working committee including, Nehru, 

Abdul Kalam Azad, Sardar Patel were incarcerated at the 

Ahmednagar Fort until 15 June 1945.  
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Expansion of the Muslim League: 1943 

During the period where all of the Congress leadership were in 

jail, the Muslim League under Jinnah grew in power. In April 

1943, the League captured the governments of Bengal and, a 

month later, that of the North West Frontier Province. In none 

of these provinces had the League previously had a majority – 

only the arrest of Congress members made it possible. With all 

the Muslim dominated provinces except Punjab under Jinnah's 

control, the concept of a separate Muslim State was turning 

into a reality. However, by 1944, Jinnah's power and prestige 

were waning.  

A general sympathy towards the jailed Congress leaders was 

developing among Muslims, and much of the blame for the 

disastrous Bengal famine of 1943–44 during which two million 

died, had been laid on the shoulders of the province's Muslim 

League government. The numbers at Jinnah's meetings, once 

counted in thousands soon numbered only a few hundreds. In 

despair, Jinnah left the political scene for a stay in Kashmir. 

His prestige was restored unwittingly by Gandhi, who had been 

released from prison on medical grounds in May 1944 and had 

met Jinnah in Bombay in September. There he offered the 

Muslim leader a plebiscite in the Muslim areas after the war to 

see whether they wanted to separate from the rest of India. 

Essentially, it was an acceptance of the principle of Pakistan – 

but not in so many words. Jinnah demanded that the exact 

words be said; Gandhi refused and the talks broke down. 

Jinnah, however, had greatly strengthened his own position 

and that of the League. The most influential member of 

Congress had been seen to negotiate with him on equal terms. 
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Other Muslim League leaders, opposed both to Jinnah and to 

the partition of India, lost strength.  

Prime Minister of India (1947–1964) 

Nehru served as prime minister for 18 years, first as the 

interim prime minister and from 1950 as the prime minister of 

the Republic of India.  

Republicanism 

In July 1946, Nehru pointedly observed that no princely state 

could prevail militarily against the army of independent India. 

In January 1947, he said that independent India would not 

accept the Divine right of kings, and in May 1947, he declared 

that any princely state which refused to join the Constituent 

Assembly would be treated as an enemy state. Vallabhbhai 

Patel and V. P. Menon were more conciliatory towards the 

princes, and as the men charged with integrating the states, 

were successful in the task. During the drafting of the Indian 

constitution, many Indian leaders (except Nehru) of that time 

were in favour of allowing each princely state or covenanting 

state to be independent as a federal state along the lines 

suggested originally by the Government of India Act 1935. But 

as the drafting of the constitution progressed and the idea of 

forming a republic took concrete shape, it was decided that all 

the princely states/covenanting States would merge with the 

Indian republic.  

Nehru's daughter, Indira Gandhi, as prime minister, de-

recognised all the rulers by presidential order in 1969, a 

decision struck down by the Supreme Court of India. 
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Eventually, her government by the 26th amendment to the 

constitution was successful in derecognizing these former 

rulers and ending the privy purse paid to them in 1971. In a 

series of letters Nehru wrote to his ten-year-old daughter 

Indira in 1928, Letters from a Father to His Daughter, he 

promotes the republican model of government to her, and 

heavily criticizes the monarchs of India: 

When the patriarch's office became hereditary, that is son 

succeeded father, there was little difference between him and a 

king. He developed into a king and the king got the strange 

notion that everything in the country belonged to him. He 

thought he was the country. ... Kings forgot that they were 

really chosen by the people to organize and distribute the food 

and other things of the country among the people. They forgot 

that they were chosen because they were supposed to be the 

cleverest and the most experienced persons in the tribe or 

country. They imagined that they were masters and all the 

other people in the country were their servants. As a matter of 

fact, they were servants of the country.  

Later on ... kings became so conceited that they thought that 

people had nothing to do with choosing them. It was God 

himself, they said, that had made them kings. They called this 

the "divine right of kings." For long years, they misbehaved like 

this and lived in great pomp and luxury while their people 

starved.  

In India, we have still many rajas and maharajas and nawabs. 

You see them going about with fine clothes, inexpensive motor 

cars and spending a lot of money on themselves. Where do they 

get all this money from? They get it in taxes from the people. 
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The taxes are given so that the money may be used to help all 

the people in the country – by making schools and hospitals 

and libraries and museums and good roads and many other 

things for the good of the people. But our rajas and maharajas 

still think as the French king did of old L’etat c’est moi — "the 

state, it is I." And they spend the money of the people on their 

own pleasures. While they live in luxury, their people, who 

work hard and give them the money, starve and their children 

have no schools to go to. 

Interim Prime Minister and Independence: 1946–52 

Nehru and his colleagues were released prior to the arrival of 

the British 1946 Cabinet Mission to India to propose plans for 

the transfer of power. The agreed plan in 1946 led to elections 

to the provincial assemblies and the members of the 

assemblies in turn electing members of the Constituent 

assembly. Congress won the majority of seats in the assembly 

and headed the interim government with Nehru as the prime 

minister. The period before independence in early 1947 was 

impaired by outbreaks of communal violence and political 

disorder, and the opposition of the Muslim League led by 

Muhammad Ali Jinnah, who were demanding a separate 

Muslim state of Pakistan. After failed bids to form coalitions, 

Nehru reluctantly supported the partition of India, according 

to a plan released by the British on 3 June 1947.  

Independence 

He took office as the Prime Minister of India on 15 August, and 

delivered his inaugural address titled "Tryst with Destiny".  
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Long years ago we made a tryst with destiny, and now the time 

comes when we shall redeem our pledge, not wholly or in full 

measure, but very substantially. At the stroke of the midnight 

hour, when the world sleeps, India will awake to life and 

freedom. A moment comes, which comes but rarely in history 

when we step out from the old to the new when an age ends, 

and when the soul of a nation, long suppressed, finds 

utterance. It is fitting that at this solemn moment we take the 

pledge of dedication to the service of India and her people and 

to the still larger cause of humanity." 

Assassination of Mahatma Gandhi: 1948 

On 30 January 1948, Gandhi was shot while he was walking to 

a platform from which he was to address a prayer meeting. The 

assassin, Nathuram Godse, was a Hindu nationalist with links 

to the extremist Hindu Mahasabha party, who held Gandhi 

responsible for weakening India by insisting upon a payment to 

Pakistan. Nehru addressed the nation through radio:  

Friends and comrades, the light has gone out of our lives, and 

there is darkness everywhere, and I do not quite know what to 

tell you or how to say it. Our beloved leader, Bapu as we called 

him, the father of the nation, is no more. Perhaps I am wrong 

to say that; nevertheless, we will not see him again, as we have 

seen him for these many years, we will not run to him for 

advice or seek solace from him, and that is a terrible blow, not 

only for me but for millions and millions in this country. 

Yasmin Khan argued that Gandhi's death and funeral helped 

consolidate the authority of the new Indian state under Nehru 

and Patel. The Congress tightly controlled the epic public 
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displays of grief over a two-week period—the funeral, mortuary 

rituals and distribution of the martyr's ashes—as millions 

participated and hundreds of millions watched. The goal was to 

assert the power of the government, legitimise the Congress 

party's control and suppress all religious paramilitary groups. 

Nehru and Patel suppressed the RSS, the Muslim National 

Guards, and the Khaksars, with some 200,000 arrests. 

Gandhi's death and funeral linked the distant state with the 

Indian people and made more understand the need to suppress 

religious parties during the transition to independence for the 

Indian people.  

In later years, there emerged a revisionist school of history 

which sought to blame Nehru for the partition of India, mostly 

referring to his highly centralised policies for an independent 

India in 1947, which Jinnah opposed in favour of a more 

decentralised India.  

Integration of states: 1947–1950 

The British Indian Empire, which included present-day India, 

Pakistan, and Bangladesh, was divided into two types of 

territories: the Provinces of British India, which were governed 

directly by British officials responsible to the Viceroy of India; 

and princely states, under the rule of local hereditary rulers 

who recognised British suzerainty in return for local 

autonomy, 

in most cases as established by a treaty. Between 1947 and 

about 1950, the territories of the princely states were 

politically integrated into the Indian Union under Nehru and 

Sardar Patel. Most were merged into existing provinces; others 
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were organised into new provinces, such as Rajputana, 

Himachal Pradesh, Madhya Bharat, and Vindhya Pradesh, 

made up of multiple princely states; a few, including Mysore, 

Hyderabad, Bhopal, and Bilaspur, became separate provinces. 

The Government of India Act 1935 remained the constitutional 

law of India pending adoption of a new Constitution.  

Adoption of New Constitution: 1950 

The new Constitution of India, which came into force on 26 

January 1950, made India a sovereign democratic republic. 

The new republic was declared to be a "Union of States". The 

constitution of 1950 distinguished between three main types of 

states:  

• Part A states, which were the former governors' 

provinces of British India, were ruled by an elected 

governor and state legislature. 

• The Part B states were former princely states or 

groups of princely states, governed by a rajpramukh, 

who was usually the ruler of a constituent state, and 

an elected legislature. The rajpramukh was 

appointed by the President of India. 

• The Part C states included both the former chief 

commissioner's provinces and some princely states, 

and each was governed by a chief commissioner 

appointed by the President of India. 

• The sole Part D state was the Andaman and Nicobar 

Islands, which were administered by a lieutenant 

governor appointed by the central government. 
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Election of 1952 

After the adoption of the constitution on 26 November 1949, 

the Constituent Assembly continued to act as the interim 

parliament until new elections. Nehru's interim cabinet 

consisted of 15 members from diverse communities and 

parties. The first elections to Indian legislative bodies (National 

parliament and State assemblies ) under the new constitution 

of India were held in 1952. Various members of the cabinet 

resigned from their posts and formed their own parties to 

contest the elections. During that period, the then Congress 

party president, Purushottam Das Tandon also resigned his 

post because of differences with Nehru and since Nehru's 

popularity was needed for winning elections. Nehru, while 

being the PM, also was elected the president of Congress for 

1951 and 1952. In the election, despite a large number of 

parties competing, the Congress party under Nehru's 

leadership won large majorities at both state and national 

level.  

First term as Prime Minister: 

1952–1957 

State reorganization 

In December 1953, Nehru appointed the States Reorganisation 

Commission to prepare for the creation of states on linguistic 

lines. Headed by Justice Fazal Ali, the commission itself was 

also known as the Fazal Ali Commission. The efforts of this 

commission were overseen by Govind Ballabh Pant, who served 
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as Nehru's Home Minister from December 1954. The 

commission created a report in 1955 recommending the 

reorganisation of India's states.  

Under the Seventh Amendment, the existing distinction 

between Part A, Part B, Part C, and Part D states was 

abolished. The distinction between Part A and Part B states 

was removed, becoming known simply as states. A new type of 

entity, the union territory, replaced the classification as a Part 

C or Part D state. Nehru stressed commonality among Indians 

and promoted pan-Indianism, refusing to reorganise states on 

either religious or ethnic lines. Western scholars have mostly 

praised Nehru for the integration of the states into a modern 

republic, though the act was not accepted universally in India.  

Subsequent elections: 1957, 1962 

In the 1957 elections, Nehru also led the Congress party to 

victory with 47.8% of the votes and taking 371 of the 494 seats 

in the 1957 elections.  

In 1962, Nehru led the Congress to victory yet with a 

diminished majority. Communist and socialist parties were the 

main beneficiaries although some right-wing groups like 

Bharatiya Jana Sangh also did well.  

Unchallenged popularity during premiership 

Nehru is considered to be as the most popular prime minister 

so far who won three elections with around 45% of votes polled 

to his account. A Pathé News archive video reporting Nehru's 

death remarks "neither on the political stage nor in moral 

stature was his leadership ever challenged". A letter from then 
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President of the United StatesDwight D. Eisenhower to Nehru, 

dated November 27,1958, read: “Universally you are recognised 

as one of the most powerful influences for peace and 

conciliation in the world. I believe that because you are a world 

leader for peace in your individual capacity,as well as a 

representative of the largest neutral nation…” Ramachandra 

Guha in his book Verdicts on Nehru cited what a 

comtemporary account described what Nehru's 1951–52 Indian 

general election campaign looked like: 

Almost at every place, city, town, village or wayside halt, 

people had waited overnight to welcome the nation’s leader. 

Schools and shops closed; milkmaids and cowherds had taken 

a holiday; the kisan and his helpmate took a temporary respite 

from their dawn-to-dusk programme of hard work in field and 

home. In Nehru’s name, stocks of soda and lemonade sold out; 

even water became scarce . . . Special trains were run from 

out-of-the-way places to carry people to Nehru’s meetings, 

enthusiasts travelling not only on footboards but also on top of 

carriages. Scores of people fainted in milling crowds. 

Vision and governing policies 

According to Bhikhu Parekh, Nehru can be regarded as the 

founder of the modern Indian state. Parekh attributes this to 

the national philosophy for India that Nehru formulated. For 

Nehru, modernization was the national philosophy, with seven 

goals: national unity, parliamentary democracy, 

industrialization, socialism, development of the scientific 

temper, and non-alignment. In Parekh's opinion, the 

philosophy and the policies that resulted from that benefited a 

large section of society such as the public sector workers, 
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industrial houses, middle and upper peasantry. It failed, 

however, to benefit the urban and rural poor, the unemployed 

and the Hindu fundamentalists.  

After the fall of Bose from the mainstream of Indian politics 

(because of his support of violence in driving the British out of 

India), the power struggle between the socialists and 

conservatives balanced out. However, Sardar Patel died in 

1950, leaving Nehru as the sole remaining iconic national 

leader, and soon the situation became such that Nehru was 

able to implement many of his basic policies without 

hindrance. Nehru's daughter, Indira Gandhi, during the state 

of Emergency she imposed, was able to fulfill her father's 

dream by the 42nd amendment (1976) of the Indian 

constitution by which India officially became "socialist" and 

"secular."  

Economic policies 

Nehru implemented policies based on import substitution 

industrialization and advocated a mixed economy where the 

government-controlled public sector would co-exist with the 

private sector. He believed that the establishment of basic and 

heavy industry was fundamental to the development and 

modernisation of the Indian economy. The government, 

therefore, directed investment primarily into key public sector 

industries—steel, iron, coal, and power—promoting their 

development with subsidies and protectionist policies.  

The policy of non-alignment during the Cold War meant that 

Nehru received financial and technical support from both 

power blocs in building India's industrial base from scratch. 
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Steel mill complexes were built at Bokaro and Rourkela with 

assistance from the Soviet Union and West Germany. There 

was substantial industrial development. Industry grew 7.0% 

annually between 1950 and 1965—almost trebling industrial 

output and making India the world's seventh largest industrial 

country. Nehru's critics, however, contended that India's 

import substitution industrialisation, which was continued 

long after the Nehru era, weakened the international 

competitiveness of its manufacturing industries. India's share 

of world trade fell from 1.4% in 1951–1960 to 0.5% over 1981–

1990. On the other hand, India's export performance is argued 

to have actually showed sustained improvement over the 

period. The volume of exports went up at an annual rate of 

2.9% in 1951–1960 to 7.6% in 1971–1980.  

GDP and GNP grew 3.9 and 4.0% annually between 1950 and 

1951 and 1964–1965. It was a radical break from the British 

colonial period, but the growth rates were considered anemic 

at best in comparison to other industrial powers in Europe and 

East Asia. India lagged behind the miracle economies (Japan, 

West Germany, France, and Italy). State planning, controls, 

and regulations were argued to have impaired economic 

growth. While India's economy grew faster than both the 

United Kingdom and the United States, low initial income and 

rapid population increase meant that growth was inadequate 

for any sort of catch-up with rich income nations.  

Nehru's preference for big state-controlled enterprises created 

a complex system of quantitative regulations, quotas and 

tariffs, industrial licenses, and a host of other controls. This 

system, known in India as Permit Raj, was responsible for 

economic inefficiencies that stifled entrepreneurship and 
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checked economic growth for decades until the liberalization 

policies initiated by the Congress government in 1991 under P. 

V. Narasimha Rao.  

Agriculture policies 

Under Nehru's leadership, the government attempted to 

develop India quickly by embarking on agrarian reform and 

rapid industrialisation. 

A successful land reform was introduced that abolished giant 

landholdings, but efforts to redistribute land by placing limits 

on landownership failed. Attempts to introduce large-scale 

cooperative farming were frustrated by landowning rural elites, 

who formed the core of the powerful right-wing of the Congress 

and had considerable political support in opposing the efforts 

of Nehru. Agricultural production expanded until the early 

1960s, as additional land was brought under cultivation and 

some irrigation projects began to have an effect. 

The establishment of agricultural universities, modelled after 

land-grant colleges in the United States, contributed to the 

development of the economy. 

These universities worked with high-yielding varieties of wheat 

and rice, initially developed in Mexico and the Philippines, that 

in the 1960s began the Green Revolution, an effort to diversify 

and increase crop production. At the same time a series of 

failed monsoons would cause serious food shortages despite 

the steady progress and increase in agricultural production.  
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Social policies 

Education 

Nehru was a passionate advocate of education for India's 

children and youth, believing it essential for India's future 

progress. His government oversaw the establishment of many 

institutions of higher learning, including the All India Institute 

of Medical Sciences, the Indian Institutes of Technology, the 

Indian Institutes of Management and the National Institutes of 

Technology. Nehru also outlined a commitment in his five-year 

plans to guarantee free and compulsory primary education to 

all of India's children. For this purpose, Nehru oversaw the 

creation of mass village enrollment programs and the 

construction of thousands of schools. Nehru also launched 

initiatives such as the provision of free milk and meals to 

children to fight malnutrition. Adult education centers, 

vocational and technical schools were also organised for 

adults, especially in the rural areas.  

Hindu Marriage law 

Under Nehru, the Indian Parliament enacted many changes to 

Hindu law to criminalize caste discrimination and increase the 

legal rights and social freedoms of women.  

Nehru specifically wrote Article 44 of the Indian constitution 

under the Directive Principles of State Policy which states: 

"The State shall endeavor to secure for the citizens a uniform 

civil code throughout the territory of India." The article has 

formed the basis of secularism in India. However, Nehru has 
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been criticized for the inconsistent application of the law. Most 

notably, Nehru allowed Muslims to keep their personal law in 

matters relating to marriage and inheritance. Also in the small 

state of Goa, a civil code based on the old Portuguese Family 

Laws was allowed to continue, and Muslim personal law was 

prohibited by Nehru. This was the result of the annexation of 

Goa in 1961 by India, when Nehru promised the people that 

their laws would be left intact. This has led to accusations of 

selective secularism.  

While Nehru exempted Muslim law from legislation and they 

remained unreformed, he did pass the Special Marriage Act in 

1954. The idea behind this act was to give everyone in India 

the ability to marry outside the personal law under a civil 

marriage. As usual, the law applied to all of India, except 

Jammu and Kashmir (again leading to accusations of selective 

secularism). In many respects, the act was almost identical to 

the Hindu Marriage Act, 1955, which gives some idea as to how 

secularised the law regarding Hindus had become. The Special 

Marriage Act allowed Muslims to marry under it and thereby 

retain the protections, generally beneficial to Muslim women, 

that could not be found in the personal law. Under the act 

polygamy was illegal, and inheritance and succession would be 

governed by the Indian Succession Act, rather than the 

respective Muslim personal law. Divorce also would be 

governed by the secular law, and maintenance of a divorced 

wife would be along the lines set down in the civil law.  

Reservations for socially-oppressed communities 

A system of reservations in government services and 

educational institutions was created to eradicate the social 
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inequalities and disadvantages faced by peoples of the 

Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes. Nehru also 

championed secularism and religious harmony, increasing the 

representation of minorities in government.  

Language policy 

Nehru led the faction of the Congress party which promoted 

Hindi as the l ingua franca of the Indian nation. After an 

exhaustive and divisive debate with the non-Hindi speakers, 

Hindi was adopted as the official language of India in 1950 

with English continuing as an associate official language for a 

period of 15 years, after which Hindi would become the sole 

official language. 

Efforts by the Indian Government to make Hindi the sole 

official language after 1965 were not acceptable to many non-

Hindi Indian states, who wanted the continued use of English. 

The Dravida Munnetra Kazhagam (DMK), a descendant of 

Dravidar Kazhagam, led the opposition to Hindi. To allay their 

fears, 

Nehru enacted the Official Languages Act in 1963 to ensure the 

continuing use of English beyond 1965. The text of the Act did 

not satisfy the DMK and increased their scepticism that his 

assurances might not be honoured by future administrations. 

The Official Languages Act was eventually amended in 1967 by 

the Congress Government headed by Indira Gandhi to 

guarantee the indefinite use of Hindi and English as official 

languages. This effectively ensured the current "virtual 

indefinite policy of bilingualism" of the Indian Republic.  
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Foreign policy 

Throughout his long tenure as the prime minister, Nehru also 

held the portfolio of External Affairs. As such, he has been 

credited as the sole architect of Indian foreign policy by many 

including Rajendra Prasad Dubey. His idealistic approach 

focused on giving India a leadership position in nonalignment. 

He sought to build support among the newly independent 

nations of Asia and Africa in opposition to the two hostile 

superpowers contesting the Cold War. The war with China in 

1962 caused a radical shift. After that, he became more 

defence-minded.  

The Commonwealth 

After independence, Nehru wanted to maintain good relations 

with Britain and other British commonwealth countries and 

signed the London Declaration, under which India agreed that, 

when it becomes a republic in January 1950, it would join the 

Commonwealth of Nations and accept the British monarch as a 

"symbol of the free association of its independent member 

nations and as such the Head of the Commonwealth." The 

other nations of the Commonwealth recognised India's 

continuing membership of the association. The reaction back 

home was favourable; only the far-left and the far-right 

criticised Nehru's decision.  

Non-aligned movement 

On the international scene, Nehru was an opponent of military 

action and of military alliances. He was a strong supporter of 

the United Nations, except when it tried to resolve the Kashmir 
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question. He pioneered the policy of non-alignment and co-

founded the Non-Aligned Movement of nations professing 

neutrality between the rival blocs of nations led by the US and 

the USSR. Recognising the People's Republic of China soon 

after its founding (while most of the Western bloc continued 

relations with Taiwan), Nehru argued for its inclusion in the 

United Nations and refused to brand the Chinese as the 

aggressors in their conflict with Korea. He sought to establish 

warm and friendly relations with China in 1950 and hoped to 

act as an intermediary to bridge the gulf and tensions between 

the communist states and the Western bloc.  

Nehru was a key organizer of the Bandung Conference of April 

1955, which brought 29 newly independent nations together 

from Asia and Africa, and was designed to galvanize the 

nonalignment movement under Nehru's leadership. He 

envisioned it as his key leadership opportunity on the world 

stage, where he would bring together the emerging nations. 

Instead, he was upstaged by the Chinese representative, Zhou 

Enlai, who downplayed revolutionary communism and 

acknowledged the right of all nations to choose their own 

economic and political systems, including even capitalism. 

Nehru and his top foreign-policy aide V.K. Krishna Menon by 

contrast gained an international reputation as rude and 

undiplomatic. 

Zhou said privately, "I have never met a more arrogant man 

than Mr. Nehru." A senior Indian foreign office official 

characterizes Menon as "an outstanding world statesman but 

the world's worst diplomat," adding that he was often 

"overbearing, churlish and vindictive".  
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Defence and nuclear policy 

Nehru, while adverse to war, led the preparations and actual 

campaigns against Pakistan with regard to Kashmir. He used 

overwhelming military force to seize Hyderabad in 1948 and 

Goa in 1961. He was keenly sensitive regarding the 

geostrategic and military strengths and weaknesses of India in 

1947. While laying the foundation stone of the National 

Defence Academy in 1949, he stated: "We, who for generations 

had talked about and attempted in everything a peaceful way 

and practised non-violence, should now be, in a sense, 

glorifying our army, navy and air force. It means a lot. Though 

it is odd, yet it simply reflects the oddness of life. Though life 

is logical, we have to face all contingencies, and unless we are 

prepared to face them, we will go under. There was no greater 

prince of peace and apostle of non-violence than Mahatma 

Gandhi...but yet, he said it was better to take the sword than 

to surrender, fail or run away. We cannot live carefree 

assuming that we are safe. Human nature is such. We cannot 

take the risks and risk our hard-won freedom. We have to be 

prepared with all modern defense methods and a well-equipped 

army, navy, and air force."  

Nehru envisioned the development of nuclear weapons and 

established the Atomic Energy Commission of India in 1948. 

Nehru also called Dr. Homi J. Bhabha, a nuclear physicist, 

who was entrusted with complete authority over all nuclear-

related affairs and programs and answered only to Nehru 

himself. Indian nuclear policy was set by an unwritten 

personal understanding between Nehru and Bhabha. Nehru 

famously said to Bhabha, "Professor Bhabha take care of 

Physics, leave international relation to me". From the outset in 
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1948, Nehru had the high ambition to develop this program to 

stand against the industrialised states, and to establish a 

nuclear weapons capability as part of India's regional 

superiority to other South-Asian states, most particularly 

Pakistan. Nehru also told Bhabha, and later it was told by 

Bhabha to Raja Rammanna, that: "We must have the 

capability. We should first prove ourselves and then talk of 

Gandhi, non-violence and a world without nuclear weapons."  

Nehru was hailed by many for working to defuse global 

tensions and the threat of nuclear weapons after the Korean 

War (1950–1953). He commissioned the first study of the 

effects of nuclear explosions on human health, and 

campaigned ceaselessly for the abolition of what he called 

"these frightful engines of destruction". He also had pragmatic 

reasons for promoting de-nuclearisation, fearing that a nuclear 

arms race would lead to over-militarisation that would be 

unaffordable for developing countries such as his own.  

Defending Kashmir 

At Lord Mountbatten's urging Nehru had promised in 1948 to 

hold a plebiscite in Kashmir under the auspices of the UN. 

Kashmir was a disputed territory between India and Pakistan, 

the two having gone to war with each other over the state in 

1947. However, as Pakistan failed to pull back troops in 

accordance with the UN resolution, and as Nehru grew 

increasingly wary of the UN, he declined to hold a plebiscite in 

1953. His policies on Kashmir and the integration of the state 

into India were frequently defended in front of the United 

Nations by his aide, V. K. Krishna Menon, who earned a 

reputation in India for his passionate speeches.  
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Nehru orchestrated the ouster and arrest of Sheikh Abdullah, 

the then prime minister of Kashmir in 1953, whom he had 

previously supported but now suspected of harbouring 

separatist ambitions; Bakshi Ghulam Mohammad replaced him.  

In 1957, Menon was instructed to deliver an unprecedented 

eight-hour speech defending India's stand on Kashmir; to date, 

the speech is the longest ever delivered in the United Nations 

Security Council, covering five hours of the 762nd meeting on 

23 January, and two hours and forty-eight minutes on the 

24th, reportedly concluding with Menon's collapse on the 

Security Council floor. During the filibuster, Nehru moved 

swiftly and successfully to consolidate Indian power in 

Kashmir (then under great unrest). Menon's passionate defence 

of Indian sovereignty in Kashmir enlarged his base of support 

in India, and led to the Indian press temporarily dubbing him 

the "Hero of Kashmir". Nehru was then at the peak of his 

popularity in India; the only (minor) criticism came from the 

far-right.  

China 

In 1954, Nehru signed with China the Five Principles of 

Peaceful Coexistence, known in India as the Panchsheel (from 

the Sanskrit words, panch: five, sheel: virtues), a set of 

principles to govern relations between the two states. Their 

first formal codification in treaty form was in an agreement 

between China and India in 1954 which recognized Chinese 

sovereignty over Tibet. They were enunciated in the preamble 

to the "Agreement (with exchange of notes) on trade and 

intercourse between Tibet Region of China and India", which 

was signed at Peking on 29 April 1954. Negotiations took place 
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in Delhi from December 1953 to April 1954 between the 

Delegation of the PRC Government and the Delegation of the 

Indian Government on the relations between the two countries 

with respect to the disputed territories of Aksai Chin and 

South Tibet. By 1957, Chinese premier Zhou Enlai had also 

succeeded in persuading Nehru to accept the Chinese position 

on Tibet, thus depriving Tibet of a possible ally, and of the 

possibility of receiving military aid from India. The treaty was 

disregarded in the 1960s, but in the 1970s, the Five Principles 

again came to be seen as important in China–India relations, 

and more generally as norms of relations between states. They 

became widely recognised and accepted throughout the region 

during the premiership of Indira Gandhi and the 3-year rule of 

the Janata Party (1977–1980). Although the Five Principles of 

Peaceful Coexistence were the basis of the 1954 Sino-Indian 

border treaty, in later years, Nehru's foreign policy suffered 

from increasing Chinese assertiveness over border disputes 

and Nehru's decision to grant asylum to the 14th Dalai Lama.  

Dag Hammarskjöld, the second Secretary-General of the United 

Nations, said that while Nehru was superior from a moral point 

of view, Zhou Enlai was more skilled in realpolitik.  

United States 

In 1956, Nehru had criticised the joint invasion of the Suez 

Canal by the British, French, and Israelis. The role of Nehru, 

both as Indian Prime Minister and a leader of the Non-Aligned 

Movement was significant; he tried to be even-handed between 

the two sides while denouncing Eden and co-sponsors of the 

invasion vigorously. Nehru had a powerful ally in the US 

president Dwight Eisenhower who, if relatively silent publicly, 
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went to the extent of using America's clout in the International 

Monetary Fund to make Britain and France back down. During 

the Suez crisis, Nehru's right-hand man, Menon attempted to 

persuade a recalcitrant Gamal Nasser to compromise with the 

West, and was instrumental in moving Western powers towards 

an awareness that Nasser might prove willing to compromise.  

The US had hoped to court Nehru after its intervention in 

favour of Nasser during the Suez crisis. However, Cold War 

suspicions and the American distrust of Nehruvian socialism 

cooled relations between India and the US, which suspected 

Nehru of tacitly supporting the Soviet Union. Nehru 

maintained good relations with Britain even after the Suez 

Crisis. Nehru accepted the arbitration of the UK and World 

Bank, signing the Indus Waters Treaty in 1960 with Pakistani 

ruler Ayub Khan to resolve long-standing disputes about 

sharing the resources of the major rivers of the Punjab region.  

Goa 

After years of failed negotiations, Nehru authorised the Indian 

Army to invade Portuguese-controlled Goa in 1961, and then 

he formally annexed it to India. It increased his popularity in 

India, but he was criticised by the communist opposition in 

India for the use of military force.  

Sino-Indian War of 1962 

From 1959, in a process that accelerated in 1961, Nehru 

adopted the "Forward Policy" of setting up military outposts in 

disputed areas of the Sino-Indian border, including in 43 

outposts in territory not previously controlled by India. China 
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attacked some of these outposts, and thus the Sino-Indian War 

began, which India lost, and China withdrew to pre-war lines 

in the eastern zone at Tawang but retained Aksai Chin which 

was within British India and was handed over to India after 

independence. Later, Pakistan handed over some portion of 

Kashmir near Siachen controlled by Pakistan since 1948 to 

China.  

The war exposed the unpreparedness of India's military which 

could send only 14,000 troops to the war zone in opposition to 

the much larger Chinese Army, and Nehru was widely criticised 

for his government's insufficient attention to defence. In 

response, Nehru sacked the defence minister V. K. Krishna 

Menon and sought U.S. military aid. Nehru's improved 

relations with the US under John F. Kennedy proved useful 

during the war, as in 1962, President of Pakistan (then closely 

aligned with the Americans) Ayub Khan was made to guarantee 

his neutrality in regards to India, who was threatened by 

"communist aggression from Red China." The Indian 

relationship with the Soviet Union, criticised by right-wing 

groups supporting free-market policies was also seemingly 

validated. Nehru would continue to maintain his commitment 

to the non-aligned movement despite calls from some to settle 

down on one permanent ally.  

The aftermath of the war saw sweeping changes in the Indian 

military to prepare it for similar conflicts in the future and 

placed pressure on Nehru, who was seen as responsible for 

failing to anticipate the Chinese attack on India. Under 

American advice (by American envoy John Kenneth Galbraith 

who made and ran American policy on the war as all other top 

policymakers in the US were absorbed in coincident Cuban 
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Missile Crisis) Nehru refrained, not according to the best 

choices available, from using the Indian air force to beat back 

the Chinese advances. The CIA later revealed that at that time 

the Chinese had neither the fuel nor runways long enough for 

using their air force effectively in Tibet. Indians, in general, 

became highly sceptical of China and its military. Many 

Indians view the war as a betrayal of India's attempts at 

establishing a long-standing peace with China and started to 

question Nehru's usage of the term Hindi-Chini bhai-bhai 

('Indians and Chinese are brothers). The war also put an end to 

Nehru's earlier hopes that India and China would form a strong 

Asian Axis to counteract the increasing influence of the Cold 

War bloc superpowers.  

The unpreparedness of the army was blamed on Defence 

Minister Menon, who "resigned" his government post to allow 

for someone who might modernise India's military further. 

India's policy of weaponisation via indigenous sources and self-

sufficiency began in earnest under Nehru, completed by his 

daughter Indira Gandhi, who later led India to a crushing 

military victory over rival Pakistan in 1971. Toward the end of 

the war, India had increased her support for Tibetan refugees 

and revolutionaries, some of them having settled in India, as 

they were fighting the same common enemy in the region. 

Nehru ordered the raising of an elite Indian-trained "Tibetan 

Armed Force" composed of Tibetan refugees, which served with 

distinction in future wars against Pakistan in 1965 and 1971.  

During the conflict, Nehru wrote two desperate letters to US 

President John F. Kennedy, requesting 12 squadrons of fighter 

jets and a modern radar system. These jets were seen as 

necessary to beef up Indian air strength so that air-to-air 
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combat could be initiated safely from the Indian perspective 

(bombing troops was seen as unwise for fear of Chinese 

retaliatory action). Nehru also asked that these aircraft be 

manned by American pilots until Indian airmen were trained to 

replace them. These requests were rejected by the Kennedy 

Administration (which was involved in the Cuban Missile Crisis 

during most of the Sino-Indian War), leading to a cooldown in 

Indo-US relations. According to former Indian diplomat G 

Parthasarathy, "only after we got nothing from the US did arms 

supplies from the Soviet Union to India commence". Per Time 

Magazine's 1962 editorial on the war, however, this may not 

have been the case. The editorial states, 'When Washington 

finally turned its attention to India, it honoured the 

ambassador's pledge, loaded 60 US planes with $5,000,000 

worth of automatic weapons, heavy mortars, and land mines. 

Twelve huge C-130 Hercules transports, complete with US 

crews and maintenance teams, took off for New Delhi to fly 

Indian troops and equipment to the battle zone. Britain 

weighed in with Bren and Sten guns and airlifted 150 tons of 

arms to India. Canada prepared to ship six transport planes. 

Australia opened Indian credits for $1,800,000 worth of 

munitions'.  

Assassination attempts and security 

There were four known assassination attempts on Nehru. The 

first attempt on his life was during partition in 1947 while he 

was visiting North-West Frontier Province (now in Pakistan) in 

a car. The second one was by a knife-wielding rickshaw-puller 

near Nagpur in 1955. The third one happened in Bombay in 

1956. The fourth one was a failed bombing attempt on train 
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tracks in Maharashtra in 1961. Despite threats to his life, 

Nehru despised having too much security around him and did 

not like to disrupt traffic due to his movement.  

Death 

Nehru's health began declining steadily after 1962, and he 

spent months recuperating in Kashmir through 1963. Some 

historians attribute this dramatic decline to his surprise and 

chagrin over the Sino-Indian War, which he perceived as a 

betrayal of trust. Upon his return from Dehradun on 26 May 

1964 he was feeling quite comfortable and went to bed at about 

23:30 as usual, he had a restful night until about 06:30 soon 

after he returned from the bathroom, Nehru complained of pain 

in the back. He spoke to the doctors who attended on him for a 

brief while and almost immediately Nehru collapsed. He 

remained unconscious until he died early in the afternoon. His 

death was announced in the Lok Sabha at 14:00 local time on 

27 May 1964; the cause of death is believed to be a heart 

attack. Draped in the Indian national Tri-colour flag the body 

of Jawaharlal Nehru was placed for public viewing. "Raghupati 

Raghava Rajaram" was chanted as the body was placed on the 

platform. On 28 May, Nehru was cremated in accordance with 

Hindu rites at the Shantivan on the banks of the Yamuna, 

witnessed by 1.5 million mourners who had flocked into the 

streets of Delhi and the cremation grounds.  

Nehru's death left India with no clear political heir to his 

leadership (later Lal Bahadur Shastri succeeded him as the 

Prime Minister). The death was announced to the Indian 

parliament in words similar to Nehru's own at the time of 

Gandhi's assassination: "The light is out."  
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Key cabinet members and associates 

Nehru served as the prime minister for eighteen years. During 

his tenure, he had many ministers in his cabinet who were 

heavyweights in their own right.  

B. R. Ambedkar 

B. R. Ambedkar, the law minister in the interim cabinet who 

also chaired the Constitution Drafting Committee.  

Vallabhbhai Patel 

Vallabhbhai Patel served as home minister in the interim 

government. He was instrumental in getting the Congress party 

working committee to vote for partition. He is also credited 

with integrating peacefully most of the princely states of India. 

Patel was a strong rival to Nehru but died in 1950, leaving 

Nehru as the unchallenged leader of India until his own death 

in 1964.  

Abul Kalam Azad 

Abul Kalam Azad was the First Minister of Education in the 

Indian government Minister of Human Resource Development 

(until 25 September 1958, Ministry of Education). His 

contribution to establishing the education foundation in India 

is recognised by celebrating his birthday as National Education 

Day across India.  
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Jagjivan Ram 

Jagjivan Ram became the youngest minister in Nehru's Interim 

government of India a Labour Minister and also a member of 

the Constituent Assembly of India, where, as a member from 

the dalit caste, he ensured that social justice was enshrined in 

the Constitution. He went on to serve as a minister with 

various portfolios during Nehru's tenure and in Shastri and 

Indira Gandhi governments.  

Morarji Desai 

Govind Vallabh Pant 

Govind Ballabh Pant (1887–1961) was a key figure in the 

Indian independence movement and later a pivotal figure in the 

politics of UP and later in the Indian Government. Pant served 

in Nehru's cabinet as Union Home Minister from 1955 until 

Pant's death in 1961. As Home Minister, his chief achievement 

was the re-organisation of States along linguistic lines. He was 

also responsible for the establishment of Hindi as an official 

language of the central government and a few states. During 

his tenure as the Home Minister, Pant was awarded the Bharat 

Ratna.  

C. D. Deshmukh 

C. D. Deshmukh was one of 5 members of the Planning 

Commission when it was constituted in 1950 by a cabinet 

resolution. Deshmukh succeeded John Mathai as the Union 

Finance Minister in 1950 after Mathai resigned in protest over 
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the transfer of certain powers to the Planning Commission. As 

Finance Minister, Deshmukh continued to remain a member of 

the Planning Commission. Deshmukh's tenure – during which 

he delivered six budgets and an interim budget – is noted for 

the effective management of the Indian economy and its steady 

growth which saw the economy recover from the impacts of the 

events of the 1940s.  

During Deshmukh's tenure the State Bank of India was formed 

in 1955 through the nationalisation and amalgamation of the 

Imperial Bank with several smaller banks. The nationalisation 

of insurance companies and the formation of the Life Insurance 

Corporation of India was accomplished by him through the Life 

Insurance Corporation of India Act, 1956.  

Deshmukh resigned over the proposal of the Government of 

India to move a bill in Parliament bifurcating Bombay State 

into Gujarat and Maharashtra while designating the city of 

Bombay a Union territory.  

Krishna Menon 

Vengalil Krishnan Krishna Menon (1896–1974) was a close 

associate of Nehru, and had been described by some as the 

second most powerful man in India during Nehru's tenure as 

prime minister. Under Nehru, he served as India's high 

commissioner to UK, UN ambassador, and union minister of 

defence. He was forced to resign after the debacle of 1962 

China war.  
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Indira Gandhi 

In the years following independence, Nehru frequently turned 

to his daughter Indira to look after him and manage his 

personal affairs. Indira moved into Nehru's official residence to 

attend to him and became his constant companion in his 

travels across India and the world. She would virtually become 

Nehru's chief of staff. Indira was elected as Congress party 

President in 1959 which aroused criticism for alleged 

nepotism, although actually Nehru had disapproved of her 

election, partly because he considered that it smacked of 

"dynasticism"; he said, indeed it was "wholly undemocratic and 

an undesirable thing", and refused her a position in his 

cabinet. Indira herself was at loggerheads with her father over 

policy; most notably, she used his oft-stated personal 

deference to the Congress Working Committee to push through 

the dismissal of the Communist Party of India government in 

the state of Kerala, over his own objections. Nehru began to be 

frequently embarrassed by her ruthlessness and disregard for 

parliamentary tradition and was "hurt" by what he saw as 

assertiveness with no purpose other than to stake out an 

identity independent of her father.  

Personal life 

Nehru married Kamala Kaul in 1916. Their only daughter 

Indira was born a year later in 1917. Kamala gave birth to a 

boy in November 1924, but he lived for only a week. Indira 

married Feroze Gandhi in 1942. They had two sons – Rajiv (b. 

1944) and Sanjay (b. 1946).  
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After Kamala's death in 1936, Nehru was rumoured to have 

relationships with several women. These included Shraddha 

Mata, Padmaja Naidu and Edwina Mountbatten. Edwina's 

daughter Pamela acknowledged Nehru's platonic relationship 

with Edwina. Nehru sent an Indian Navy frigate to the sea 

burial of Edwina Mountbatten in 1960.  

British historian Philip Ziegler, with access to the private 

letters and diaries, concludes the relationship:  

• was to endure until Edwina Mountbatten's death: 

intensely loving, romantic, trusting, generous, 

idealistic, even spiritual. If there was any physical 

element it can only have been of minor importance to 

either party. [India's Governor-General] 

Mountbatten's reaction was one of pleasure....He 

liked and admired Nehru, it was useful to him that 

the Prime Minister should find such attractions in 

the Governor-General's home, it was agreeable to 

find Edwina almost permanently in good temper: the 

advantages of the alliance were obvious. 

Nehru's sister, Vijaya Lakshmi Pandit told Pupul Jayakar, 

Indira Gandhi's friend and biographer, that Padmaja Naidu and 

Nehru lived together for many years.  

During most of Nehru's tenure as the prime minister, Indira 

served her father unofficially as a personal assistant. Towards 

the end of the 1950s, Indira Gandhi served as the President of 

the Congress. In that capacity, she was instrumental in getting 

the Communist led Kerala State Government dismissed in 

1959.  
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Religion and personal beliefs 

Described as Hindu Agnostic, and styling himself as a 

"scientific humanist", Nehru thought that religious taboos were 

preventing India from going forward and adapting to modern 

conditions: "No country or people who are slaves to dogma and 

dogmatic mentality can progress, and unhappily our country 

and people have become extraordinarily dogmatic and little-

minded."  

The spectacle of what is called religion, or at any rate 

organised religion, in India and elsewhere, has filled me with 

horror and I have frequently condemned it and wished to make 

a clean sweep of it. Almost always it seemed to stand for blind 

belief and reaction, dogma and bigotry, superstition, 

exploitation and the preservation of vested interests. 

• —�Toward Freedom: The Autobiography of 

Jawaharlal Nehru (1936); pp. 240–241. 

In his autobiography, he analysed Christianity and Islam, and 

their impact on India. He wanted to model India as a secular 

country; his secularist policies remain a subject of debate.  

Legacy 

As India's first Prime minister and external affairs minister, 

Jawaharlal Nehru played a major role in shaping modern 

India's government and political culture along with sound 

foreign policy. He is praised for creating a system providing 

universal primary education, reaching children in the farthest 

corners of rural India. Nehru's education policy is also credited 
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for the development of world-class educational institutions 

such as the All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Indian 

Institutes of Technology, and the Indian Institutes of 

Management.  

In addition, Nehru's stance as an unfailing nationalist led him 

to also implement policies that stressed commonality among 

Indians while still appreciating regional diversities. This 

proved particularly important as post-Independence differences 

surfaced since British withdrawal from the subcontinent 

prompted regional leaders to no longer relate to one another as 

allies against a common adversary. While differences in culture 

and, especially, language threatened the unity of the new 

nation, Nehru established programs such as the National Book 

Trust and the National Literary Academy which promoted the 

translation of regional literatures between languages and also 

organised the transfer of materials between regions. In pursuit 

of a single, unified India, Nehru warned, "Integrate or perish."  

Historian Ramachandra Guha writes, "[had] Nehru retired in 

1958 he would be remembered as not just India's best prime 

minister, but as one of the great statesmen of the modern 

world." Nehru, thus, left behind a disputed legacy, being 

"either adored or reviled for India's progress or lack of it".  

Commemoration 

In his lifetime, Jawaharlal Nehru enjoyed an iconic status in 

India and was widely admired across the world for his idealism 

and statesmanship. His birthday, 14 November is celebrated in 

India as Bal Divas ("Children's Day") in recognition of his 

lifelong passion and work for the welfare, education and 
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development of children and young people. Children across 

India remember him as Chacha Nehru (Uncle Nehru). Nehru 

remains a popular symbol of the Congress Party which 

frequently celebrates his memory. Congress leaders and 

activists often emulate his style of clothing, especially the 

Gandhi cap and the "Nehru jacket", and his mannerisms. 

Nehru's ideals and policies continue to shape the Congress 

Party's manifesto and core political philosophy. An emotional 

attachment to his legacy was instrumental in the rise of his 

daughter Indira to leadership of the Congress Party and the 

national government.  

In 2012, Nehru was ranked number 4 in Outlook 's poll of The 

Greatest Indian.  

Nehru's personal preference for the sherwani ensured that it 

continues to be considered formal wear in North India today; 

aside from lending his name to a kind of cap, the Nehru jacket 

is named in his honour because of his preference for that style.  

Numerous public institutions and memorials across India are 

dedicated to Nehru's memory. The Jawaharlal Nehru University 

in Delhi is among the most prestigious universities in India. 

The Jawaharlal Nehru Port near the city of Mumbai is a 

modern port and dock designed to handle a huge cargo and 

traffic load. Nehru's residence in Delhi is preserved as the Teen 

Murti House now has Nehru Memorial Museum & Library, and 

one of five Nehru Planetariums that were set in Mumbai, Delhi, 

Bangalore, Allahabad and Pune. The complex also houses the 

offices of the 'Jawaharlal Nehru Memorial Fund', established in 

1964 under the Chairmanship of Sarvepalli Radhakrishnan, 

then President of India. The foundation also gives away the 
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prestigious 'Jawaharlal Nehru Memorial Fellowship', 

established in 1968. The Nehru family homes at Anand Bhavan 

and Swaraj Bhavan are also preserved to commemorate Nehru 

and his family's legacy.  

In popular culture 

Many documentaries about Nehru's life have been produced. 

He has also been portrayed in fictionalised films. The canonical 

performance is probably that of Roshan Seth, who played him 

three times: in Richard Attenborough's 1982 film Gandhi, 

Shyam Benegal's 1988 television series Bharat Ek Khoj, based 

on Nehru's The Discovery of India, and in a 2007 TV film 

entitled The Last Days of the Raj. Benegal also directed the 

1983 documentary film Nehru, covering his political career. 

Indian film director Kiran Kumar made a 1990 film about 

Nehru titled Nehru: The Jewel of India, it starred Partap 

Sharma in the titular role. In Ketan Mehta's film Sardar, Nehru 

was portrayed by Benjamin Gilani. Naunihal (lit.� 'Young man'), 

a 1967 Indian Hindi-language drama film by Raj Marbros 

follows Raju, an orphan, who has come to believe that 

Jawaharlal Nehru is his relative and sets out to meet him. 

Similarly in the earlier 1957 film Ab Dilli Dur Nahin (lit.� 'Now 

Delhi is not far away') by Amar Kumar, Rattan, a young boy, 

travels to Delhi and seeks to avert the death sentence of his 

wrongly convicted father by asking Prime Minister Nehru for 

help. Girish Karnad's historical play, Tughlaq (1962) is an 

allegory about the Nehruvian era. It was staged by Ebrahim 

Alkazi with National School of Drama Repertory at Purana Qila, 

Delhi in the 1970s and later at the Festival of India, London in 

1982.  
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Writings 

Nehru was a prolific writer in English and wrote a number of 

books, such as The Discovery of India, Glimpses of World 

History, and his autobiography, Toward Freedom. He had 

written 30 letters to his daughter Indira Gandhi, when she was 

10 years old and in a boarding school in Mussoorie, teaching 

about natural history and the story of civilisations. The 

collection of these letters was later published as a book Letters 

from a Father to His Daughter.  

Awards and honours 

In 1948, Nehru was conferred an honorary doctorate by the 

University of Mysore. He later received honorary doctorates 

from the University of Madras, Columbia University, and Keio 

University 

In 1955, Nehru was awarded the Bharat Ratna, India's highest 

civilian honour. President Rajendra Prasad awarded him the 

honour without taking advice from the Prime Minister as would 

be the normal constitutional procedure.  

  



Chapter 39 

Khudiram Bose 

Khudiram Bose (also spelled Khudiram Basu or Khudiram 

Bose) (3 December 1889 – 11 August 1908) was an Indian 

revolutionary from Bengal Presidency who opposed British rule 

of India. For his role in the Muzaffarpur Conspiracy Case, 

along with Prafulla Chaki, he was sentenced to death and 

subsequently executed, making him one of the youngest 

martyrs of the Indian Independence Movement.  

Khudiram, along with Prafulla Chaki, attempted to assassinate 

a British judge, Magistrate Douglas Kingsford, by throwing 

bombs on the carriage they suspected the man was in. 

Magistrate Kingsford, however, was seated in a different 

carriage, and the throwing of bombs resulted in the deaths of 

two British women. Prafulla fatally shot himself before the 

arrest. Khudiram was arrested and trialed for the murder of 

the two women, ultimately being sentenced to death. He was 

one of the first freedom fighters in Bengal to be executed by 

Britishers.  

At the time of his hanging, Khudiram was 18 years, 8 months, 

and 11 days,10 hours old making him one of the 2nd youngest 

revolutionaries in India. Mahatma Gandhi, however, denounced 

the violence, lamenting the deaths of the two innocent women. 

He stated "that the Indian people will not win their freedom 

through these methods." Bal Gangadhar Tilak, in his 

newspaper Kesari, defended the two young men and called for 

immediate swaraj. This was followed by the immediate arrest of 

Tilak by the British colonial government on charges of sedition. 
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Early life 

Khudiram Bose was born on 3 December 1889 in a kayastha 

family the small village named Mohobani, situated under the 

Keshpur Police Station in the Medinipur district of Bengal. His 

father was a Tehsildar in the Nerajol.  

Khudiram was the fourth child in a family of three daughters. 

His parents, Trailokyanath Bose and Lakshmipriya Devi had 

two sons before the birth of Khudiram but both of them died 

prematurely. Following the traditional customs prevalent in the 

culture, the newborn child was symbolically sold to his eldest 

sister in exchange of three handfuls of food grains locally 

known as Khud, in an attempt to save him from dying at an 

early age. This way he acquired the name, Khudiram.  

He lost his mother when he was six years old. His father died a 

year after. Aparupa Roy, his elder sister, brought him to her 

house at Hatgachha village under the Daspur Police Station. 

Aparupa's husband, Amritalal Roy, got him admitted to 

Tamluk's Hamilton High School.  

In 1902 and 1903, Sri Aurobindo and Sister Nivedita visited 

Midnapore. They held a series of public lectures and private 

session with the existing revolutionary groups for freedom. 

Khudiram, a teenager, was an active participant in the 

discussions about the revolution.  

Apparently, he joined Anushilan Samiti, and came into contact 

with the network of Barindra Kumar Ghosh of Calcutta. He 

became a volunteer at the age of 15, and was arrested for 

distributing pamphlets against the British rule in India. At the 
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young age of 16, Khudiram took part in planting bombs near 

the police stations and targeted government officials.  

Kingsford assassination attempts 

• First Attempt 

The first attempt to kill Kingsford was in the form of a book 

bomb constructed by Hemchandra. An empty tin of Cadbury 

cocoa was packed with a pound of picric acid and three 

detonators. This was packed into a hollowed section of Herbert 

Broom's Commentaries on the Common Law and delivered 

wrapped in a brown paper to Kingsford's house by Paresh 

Mallick, a young revolutionary. Kingsford placed the unopened 

package in his shelf to examine later. By March 1908, fearful 

of the judge's safety, he was promoted to the District Judge 

position and transferred by the government to Muzaffarpur, 

Bihar. With him went his furniture, library and the book bomb.  

• The Reconnaissance at Muzaffarpur 

Anushilan Samiti persisted in their attempt to kill Kingsford. In 

April, a two-man reconnaissance team visited Muzaffarpur, 

which included Prafulla Chaki. On their return, Hemchandra 

provided the bomb, which was composed of 6 ounces of 

dynamite, a detonator, and a black powder fuse. Prafulla Chaki 

returned to Muzaffarpur with a new boy, Khudiram Bose.  

• Police Suspicion 

The activities of Aurobindo Ghosh, Barindra Ghosh and their 

associates roused suspicion. The Calcutta police became aware 
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of the plans on Kingsford's life. Commissioner F.L. Halliday's 

alerts to the Superintendent of Police in Muzzafarpur were 

ignored. However, four men were assigned to guard the 

magistrate's house. In the meantime, Khudiram Bose and 

Prafulla Chaki adopted the name of Haren Sarkar and Dinesh 

Chandra Roy respectively and took up residence in a charitable 

inn (Dharamshala) run by Kishorimohan Bandyopadhyay. In 

the ensuing days, the duo monitored the activities and daily 

routine of their target. The two revolutionaries successfully hid 

their identities for over three weeks. The CID officer from 

Calcutta returned with a letter from the Superintendent of 

Muzaffarpur, Armstrong, that the duo had not arrived.  

On the evening of 29 April, Khudiram and Prafulla were in 

place to execute their plans. Pretending to be schoolboys, they 

surveyed the Muzaffarpur park situated opposite The British 

Club, frequented by Kingsford. They were noticed by a 

constable.  

• Kingsford Assassination Attempt at Muzaffarpur 

On a fateful day, Kingsford and his wife were playing bridge 

with the daughter and wife of Pringle Kennedy, a British 

barrister. They decided to head home around 8.30 PM. 

Kingsford and his wife were in a carriage identical to the one 

carrying Kennedy and his family. As their carriage reached the 

eastern gate of the compound of the European Club, Khudiram 

and Prafulla ran towards the carriage and threw the bombs 

into the carriage. A loud explosion ensued and the carriage 

was taken to Kingsford's house. The carriage was shattered 

and the Kennedy ladies sustained terrible injuries. Miss 
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Kennedy died within an hour and Mrs. Kennedy died on 2 May 

of sustained injuries.  

• Escape 

Khudiram and Prafulla went their own way to escape capture. 

By the midnight, the whole town knew of the incident and by 

early morning, armed policemen were stationed on all the rail 

route to keep an eye on every passenger. By morning, 

Khudiram had walked 25 miles and he reached a station called 

Waini. As he asked for a glass of water at a tea stall, he was 

confronted by two armed constables, Fateh Singh, and Sheo 

Pershad Singh, who immediately suspected something upon 

seeing his dusty feet, and his exhausted and perspiring 

appearance. After a couple of questions, their suspicion 

became stronger, and they decided to detain Khudiram. 

Khudiram started struggling with the two men, and 

immediately, one of the two hidden revolvers fell out. Before 

Khudiram could use the other one to fire on the constables, 

one of them held him from behind in a bear-hug. The much 

younger and lightly built Khudiram had no more chance of 

defence or escape. On his person were found 37 rounds of 

ammunition, Rs. 30 in cash, a railway map and a page of the 

rail timetable. The fate of Khudiram was sealed forever. The 

Waini station is now known as Khudiram Bose Pusa Station.  

On the other hand, Prafulla had travelled long arduous hours. 

Around midday, a civil named Trigunacharan Ghosh noticed a 

young way coming his way. He was aware of the bomb blast 

and realized that Prafulla was the other revolutionary. Ghosh 

decided to save his life, and let him bathe, eat, and rest in his 

house. He arranged for Prafulla to return to Kolkata the same 
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night. He boarded a train from Samastipur for Mokamaghat, 

and continue his onward journey with a train to Howrah. A 

sub-inspector in the British police, Nandalal Bannerjee, was 

travelling in the same compartment. He struck a conversation 

and realized Prafulla to be the other revolutionary. When 

Prafulla got down at the Shipwright station to drink water, 

Bannerjee sent a telegram to the Muzaffarpur police station. 

Banerjee tried to apprehend Prafulla at the Mokamaghat 

station. Prafulla tried to fight his way through with his 

revolver but in the end, down to his last bullet, he shot himself 

in the mouth.  

On 1 May, the handcuffed Khudiram was brought from to 

Muzaffarpur. The entire town descended at the police station to 

take a look at the teenage boy surrounded by a team of armed 

policemen. Khudiram was taken to the house of the district 

magistrate, Mr Woodman. The English daily, The Statesman, 

wrote on the following day, 2 May 1908:  

The Railway station was crowded to see the boy. A mere boy of 

18 or 19 years old, who looked quite determined. He came out of 

a first-class compartment and walked all the way to the 

phaeton, kept for him outside, like a cheerful boy who knows no 

anxiety.....on taking his seat the boy cheerfully cried 

'Vandemataram'. 

Khudiram had to give a statement or declaration to the 

magistrate. He took full responsibility for the assassination, 

unknown that Prafulla was dead. Only after Khudiram finished 

giving his statement, the body of Prafulla reached Muzaffarpur. 

Khudiram realized that lying would go in vain. He identified 

the body of Prafulla and the British also received details from 

the encounter with sub-inspector Bannerjee. Instead of 
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believing Khudiram, the British thought it more proper to cut 

off the head from the body and send it to Kolkata for better 

confirmation.  

First hearing 

The historical trial started on 21 May 1908, presided by Judge 

Corndoff, Nathuni Prasad and Janak Prasad in the Jury. Along 

with Khudiram, two others were tried for assisting the 

revolutionaries in their mission — Mrityunjay Chakraborty and 

Kishorimohan Bandopadhyay, who had accommodated 

Khudiram Bose and Prafulla Chaki in his Dharmashala for 

their mission. Mrityunjay died during the trial, and 

subsequently, the trial of Kishorimohan was separated from 

that of Khudiram.  

Mannum and Binod Bihari Majumdar were the prosecutors for 

the British government. Lawyers Kalidas Basu, Upendranath 

Sen, and Kshetranath Bandopadhyay took up Khudiram's 

defence. They were joined later in the trial by Kulkamal Sen, 

Nagendra Lal Lahiri, and Satischandra Chakraborty—all of 

them fighting the case without any fees.  

On 23 May, Khudiram resubmitted his statement to magistrate 

E.W. Bredhowd, denying any involvement or responsibility in 

any aspect or stage of the entire mission and operation down 

to the bombing. Initially, Khudiram was not ready to sign this 

statement but did so after persuasion from his lawyers. On 13 

June, the scheduled date for the verdict and sentence, the 

judge and the prosecutors received an anonymous letter of 

warning, which told them that there was one more bomb 

coming for them from Kolkata and that henceforth. it will be 
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the Biharis, and not the Bengalis, who are going to kill them. 

On the other hand, it made the defence lawyers more confident 

as the letter was proof there could be other masterminds and 

executors of the Muzaffarpur bombing other than Khudiram, 

and that along with Khudiram's age should make the judge 

deliver sentencing other than death. But, to the 

disappointment to all, the Judge pronounced the death 

sentence for Khudiram.  

Khudiram's immediate and spontaneous response was to smile. 

The judge, surprised, asked Khudiram whether he had 

understood the meaning of the pronounced sentence. 

Khudiram replied that he surely had. When the judge asked 

him again whether he had anything to say, in front of a packed 

audience, Khudiram replied with the same smile that if he 

could be given some time, he could teach the judge the skill of 

bomb-making. By then, the Judge was instructing the police to 

escort the boy out of the courtroom.  

As per the legal system, Khudiram had 7 days to appeal to the 

High Court. Khudiram refused to appeal. However, after some 

persuasion by his counselors — with the logic that if he 

receives a life sentence instead of getting hanged because of 

this appeal, he would live to serve his nation once free and he 

would have age on his side when that happens — Khudiram 

finally agreed, in a detached manner, to go along with his 

defence team.  

Second hearing 

The High Court hearing took place on 8 July 1908. 

Narendrakumar Basu came to Khudiram's defence and 
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concentrated all his legal skills and experience in this case to 

save a boy who had overnight become a wonder and a hero for 

the whole country. He challenged the verdict of the session 

court by saying that the judging was not according to law and 

was flawed. He reasoned that according to article 164 of the 

penal code, the accused is required to submit his statement in 

front of a first class magistrate, which Mr. Woodman was not, 

and moreover, during the first statement Khudiram was not 

told anything of the person's identity and position.  

Secondly, pointed out Basu, the article 364 requires that all 

questions to the accused be made in the mother tongue of the 

same, and all answers from the accused in his mother tongue 

be documented verbatim in that language, but which was done 

in English in Khudiram's case. Moreover, Khudiram's signature 

was required to be given on the statement on the same date 

and at the time of the statement in the presence of the 

magistrate, but in reality, Khudiram was made to sign the day 

after, and in front of a different person, who was an additional 

magistrate. Lastly, since such a statement is by definition 

required to be totally voluntary, with the magistrate being sure 

that it was so, there was no proof that Khudiram was allowed 

to give a voluntary statement without any direct or indirect 

manipulation after his capture.  

Lastly, Narendrakumar Basu said that Prafulla aka "Dinesh" 

(the name used in the trial) was stronger than Khudiram was, 

and he was the bomb-expert among the two of them. Thus, it is 

highly likely that the actual thrower of the bomb was "Dinesh". 

Further, Prafulla's suicide on the verge of capture only 

reinforces the possibility of his being the actual thrower of the 

bombs.  
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After the defence, it was announced by the two British judges 

that the final verdict would be passed on 13 July 1908.  

Judgment 

As Khudiram was the only of the two alive, his lone statement 

of a two-man team was the foundation for the entire case. 

Since all the legal arguments put forth by Narendrakumar 

Basu were believed to be technically correct, it was hoped that 

for the sake of the law—about which the British prided 

themselves ad infinitum — Khudiram's life would, at least, be 

spared. But, on a historical day, the British judges confirmed 

the conviction and sentence and dismissed the appeal.  

Execution 

On 11 August, the region around the prison became packed 

with a swelling crowd before the scheduled time, 6 AM. People 

holding flower garlands filled up the front rows of the crowd. 

Upendranath Sen, the lawyer-journalist of the Bengali news 

daily "Bengalee", who was close to Khudiram, reports having 

reached the venue by 5 AM, in a car with all the necessary 

funerary arrangements and clothes. After the hanging, the 

funeral procession went through the city, with police guards 

holding back the crowd all along the central artery street. The 

people kept throwing their flowers on the body as the carriage 

passed by.  

The Amrita Bazar Patrika, one of the prominent dailies of that 

era, carried the story of the hanging the next day, on 12 
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August. Under the headline "Khudiram's End: Died cheerful 

and smiling" the newspaper wrote: 

"Khudiram's execution took place at 6 a.m. this morning. He 

walked to the gallows firmly and cheerfully and even smiled 

when the cap was drawn over his head." 

An established British newspaper, The Empire, wrote: 

"Khudiram Bose was executed this morning...It is alleged that 

he mounted the scaffold with his body erect. He was cheerful 

and smiling." 

The Kesari, nationalist Marathi newspaper, observed on 26 May 

1908: 

"Neither the Jubilee murder of 1897, nor the reported tampering 

of the Sikh regiments had produced so much commotion, and the 

English public opinion seems inclined to regard birth of the 

bomb in India as the most extraordinary event since the mutiny 

at 1857." 

The Bengali poet Kazi Nazrul Islam wrote a poem to honour 

him.  

After martyrdom, Khudiram became so popular that weavers of 

Bengal started weaving a special type of dhoti, with 'Khudiram' 

written on its side. Boys studying in school colleges wore these 

dhotis and stitched and walked on the path of independence. 

Khudiram Bose is considered to be the first fighter to sacrifice 

his life in the Indian freedom struggle.  



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 19th Century, Vol 5 

 

941 

Statement made by Khudiram Bose 

In his own words, Khudiram made a statement (which was 

updated) while under arrest, recorded by the special branch of 

the police, before he was hanged: "I was naughty in my 

childhood. (But after I entered Midnapore Collegiate School) a 

change overtook me".  

Legacy 

• Khudiram Bose Central College – established in 1965 

as an undergraduate college in Kolkata, West Bengal, 

India. It offers only courses in arts and commerce. It 

is affiliated with the University of Calcutta. 

• Shahid Khudiram Station – a metro railway station 

near Garia in Kolkata. 

• Shahid Khudiram Bose Hospital – a hospital on BT 

Road near Municipality park. 

• Khudiram Bose Memorial Central Jail – the 

Muzaffarpur Jail, where the freedom fighter was 

incarcerated and hanged on 11 August 1908, was 

renamed. 

• Sahid Khudiram Siksha Prangan – a university 

campus for postgraduate studies of University of 

Calcutta, Kolkata. It is also known as Alipore 

Campus. 

• Khudiram Anushilan Kendra – located adjacent to 

the Netaji Subhash Chandra Bose Indore Stadium in 

Kolkata. 

• Khudiram Bose Pusa railway station 
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Films 

Over the years, Khudiram Bose and his journey have been 

represented in several films.  

• Main Khudiram Bose Hun 

  



Chapter 40 

B. R. Ambedkar 

Bhimrao Ramji Ambedkar 14 April 1891 – 6 December 1956), 

venerated as Babasaheb Ambedkar was an Indian jurist, 

economist, politician and social reformer, who inspired the 

Dalit Buddhist movement and campaigned against social 

discrimination towards the untouchables (Dalits). He was 

British India's Minister of Labour in Viceroy's Executive 

Council, Chairman of the Constituent Drafting committee, 

independent India's first Minister of Law and Justice, and 

considered the chief architect of the Constitution of India.  

Ambedkar was a prolific student, earning doctorates in 

economics from both Columbia University and the London 

School of Economics, gaining reputation as a scholar for his 

research in law, economics and political science. In his early 

career, he was an economist, professor, and lawyer. His later 

life was marked by his political activities; he became involved 

in campaigning and negotiations for India's independence, 

publishing journals, advocating political rights and social 

freedom for Dalits, and contributing significantly to the 

establishment of the state of India. In 1956, he converted to 

Buddhism, initiating mass conversions of Dalits.  

In 1990, the Bharat Ratna, India's highest civilian award, was 

posthumously conferred upon Ambedkar. Ambedkar's legacy 

includes numerous memorials and depictions in popular 

culture.  
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Early life 

Ambedkar was born on 14 April 1891 in the town and military 

cantonment of Mhow (now officially known as Dr Ambedkar 

Nagar) in the Central Provinces (now in Madhya Pradesh). He 

was the 14th and last child of Ramji Maloji Sakpal, an army 

officer who held the rank of Subedar, and Bhimabai Sakpal, 

daughter of Laxman Murbadkar. His family was of Marathi 

background from the town of Ambadawe (Mandangad taluka) in 

Ratnagiri district of modern-day Maharashtra. Ambedkar was 

born into a Mahar (dalit) caste, who were treated as 

untouchables and subjected to socio-economic discrimination. 

Ambedkar's ancestors had long worked for the army of the 

British East India Company, and his father served in the 

British Indian Army at the Mhow cantonment. Although they 

attended school, Ambedkar and other untouchable children 

were segregated and given little attention or help by teachers. 

They were not allowed to sit inside the class. When they 

needed to drink water, someone from a higher caste had to 

pour that water from a height as they were not allowed to 

touch either the water or the vessel that contained it. This task 

was usually performed for the young Ambedkar by the school 

peon, and if the peon was not available then he had to go 

without water; he described the situation later in his writings 

as "No peon, No Water". He was required to sit on a gunny sack 

which he had to take home with him.  

Ramji Sakpal retired in 1894 and the family moved to Satara 

two years later. Shortly after their move, Ambedkar's mother 

died. The children were cared for by their paternal aunt and 

lived in difficult circumstances. Three sons – Balaram, 
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Anandrao and Bhimrao – and two daughters – Manjula and 

Tulasa – of the Ambedkars survived them. Of his brothers and 

sisters, only Ambedkar passed his examinations and went to 

high school. His original surname was Sakpal but his father 

registered his name as Ambadawekar in school, meaning he 

comes from his native village 'Ambadawe' in Ratnagiri district. 

His Devrukhe Brahmin teacher, Krishnaji Keshav Ambedkar, 

changed his surname from 'Ambadawekar' to his own surname 

'Ambedkar' in school records.  

Education 

Post-secondary education 

In 1897, Ambedkar's family moved to Mumbai where Ambedkar 

became the only untouchable enrolled at Elphinstone High 

School. In 1906, when he was about 15 years old, he married a 

nine-year-old girl, Ramabai. The match per the customs 

prevailing at that time was arranged by the couple's parents.  

Studies at the University of Bombay 

In 1907, he passed his matriculation examination and in the 

following year he entered Elphinstone College, which was 

affiliated to the University of Bombay, becoming, according to 

him, the first from his Mahar caste to do so. When he passed 

his English fourth standard examinations, the people of his 

community wanted to celebrate because they considered that 

he had reached "great heights" which he says was "hardly an 

occasion compared to the state of education in other 

communities". A public ceremony was evoked, to celebrate his 
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success, by the community, and it was at this occasion that he 

was presented with a biography of the Buddha by Dada 

Keluskar, the author and a family friend.  

By 1912, he obtained his degree in economics and political 

science from Bombay University, and prepared to take up 

employment with the Baroda state government. His wife had 

just moved his young family and started work when he had to 

quickly return to Mumbai to see his ailing father, who died on 

2 February 1913.  

Studies at Columbia University 

In 1913, at the age of 22, Ambedkar moved to the United 

States. He had been awarded a Baroda State Scholarship of 

£11.50 (Sterling) per month for three years under a scheme 

established by Sayajirao Gaekwad III (Gaekwad of Baroda) that 

was designed to provide opportunities for postgraduate 

education at Columbia University in New York City. Soon after 

arriving there he settled in rooms at Livingston Hall with Naval 

Bhathena, a Parsi who was to be a lifelong friend. He passed 

his M.A. exam in June 1915, majoring in Economics, and other 

subjects of Sociology, History, Philosophy and Anthropology. 

He presented a thesis, Ancient Indian Commerce. Ambedkar 

was influenced by John Dewey and his work on democracy.  

In 1916 he completed his second thesis, National Dividend of 

India – A Historic and Analytical Study, for another M.A. On 9 

May, he presented the paper Castes in India: Their Mechanism, 

Genesis and Development before a seminar conducted by the 

anthropologist Alexander Goldenweiser.  
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Studies at the London School of Economics 

In October 1916, he enrolled for the Bar course at Gray's Inn, 

and at the same time enrolled at the London School of 

Economics where he started working on a doctoral thesis. In 

June 1917, he returned to India because his scholarship from 

Baroda ended. His book collection was dispatched on a 

different ship from the one he was on, and that ship was 

torpedoed and sunk by a German submarine. He got 

permission to return to London to submit his thesis within 

four years. He returned at the first opportunity, and completed 

a master's degree in 1921. His thesis was on "The problem of 

the rupee: Its origin and its solution". In 1923, he completed a 

D.Sc. in Economics which was awarded from University of 

London, and the same year he was called to the Bar by Gray's 

Inn. His third and fourth Doctorates (LL.D, Columbia, 1952 

and D.Litt., Osmania, 1953) were conferred honoris causa.  

Opposition to untouchability 

As Ambedkar was educated by the Princely State of Baroda, he 

was bound to serve it. He was appointed Military Secretary to 

the Gaikwad but had to quit in a short time. He described the 

incident in his autobiography, Waiting for a Visa. Thereafter, 

he tried to find ways to make a living for his growing family. He 

worked as a private tutor, as an accountant, and established 

an investment consulting business, but it failed when his 

clients learned that he was an untouchable. In 1918, he 

became Professor of Political Economy in the Sydenham College 

of Commerce and Economics in Mumbai. Although he was 
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successful with the students, other professors objected to his 

sharing a drinking-water jug with them.  

Ambedkar had been invited to testify before the Southborough 

Committee, which was preparing the Government of India Act 

1919. At this hearing, Ambedkar argued for creating separate 

electorates and reservations for untouchables and other 

religious communities. In 1920, he began the publication of 

the weekly Mooknayak (Leader of the Silent) in Mumbai with 

the help of Shahu of Kolhapur i.e. Shahu IV (1874–1922).  

Ambedkar went on to work as a legal professional. In 1926, he 

successfully defended three non-Brahmin leaders who had 

accused the Brahmin community of ruining India and were 

then subsequently sued for libel. Dhananjay Keer notes that 

"The victory was resounding, both socially and individually, for 

the clients and the doctor".  

While practising law in the Bombay High Court, he tried to 

promote education to untouchables and uplift them. His first 

organised attempt was his establishment of the central 

institution Bahishkrit Hitakarini Sabha, intended to promote 

education and socio-economic improvement, as well as the 

welfare of "outcastes", at the time referred to as depressed 

classes. For the defence of Dalit rights, he started many 

periodicals like Mook Nayak, Bahishkrit Bharat, and Equality 

Janta.  

He was appointed to the Bombay Presidency Committee to work 

with the all-European Simon Commission in 1925. This 

commission had sparked great protests across India, and while 

its report was ignored by most Indians, Ambedkar himself 
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wrote a separate set of recommendations for the future 

Constitution of India.  

By 1927, Ambedkar had decided to launch active movements 

against untouchability. He began with public movements and 

marches to open up public drinking water resources. He also 

began a struggle for the right to enter Hindu temples. He led a 

satyagraha in Mahad to fight for the right of the untouchable 

community to draw water from the main water tank of the 

town. In a conference in late 1927, Ambedkar publicly 

condemned the classic Hindu text, the Manusmriti (Laws of 

Manu), for ideologically justifying caste discrimination and 

"untouchability", and he ceremonially burned copies of the 

ancient text. On 25 December 1927, he led thousands of 

followers to burn copies of Manusmriti. Thus annually 25 

December is celebrated as Manusmriti Dahan Din (Manusmriti 

Burning Day) by Ambedkarites and Dalits.  

In 1930, Ambedkar launched the Kalaram Temple movement 

after three months of preparation. About 15,000 volunteers 

assembled at Kalaram Temple satygraha making one of the 

greatest processions of Nashik. The procession was headed by 

a military band and a batch of scouts; women and men walked 

with discipline, order and determination to see the god for the 

first time. When they reached the gates, the gates were closed 

by Brahmin authorities.  

Poona Pact 

In 1932, the British colonial government announced the 

formation of a separate electorate for "Depressed Classes" in 

the Communal Award. Gandhi fiercely opposed a separate 
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electorate for untouchables, saying he feared that such an 

arrangement would divide the Hindu community. Gandhi 

protested by fasting while imprisoned in the Yerwada Central 

Jail of Poona. Following the fast, congressional politicians and 

activists such as Madan Mohan Malaviya and Palwankar Baloo 

organised joint meetings with Ambedkar and his supporters at 

Yerwada. On 25 September 1932, the agreement, known as the 

Poona Pact was signed between Ambedkar (on behalf of the 

depressed classes among Hindus) and Madan Mohan Malaviya 

(on behalf of the other Hindus). The agreement gave reserved 

seats for the depressed classes in the Provisional legislatures 

within the general electorate. Due to the pact the depressed 

class received 148 seats in the legislature instead of the 71, as 

allocated in the Communal Award proposed earlier by the 

colonial government under Prime Minister Ramsay MacDonald. 

The text used the term "Depressed Classes" to denote 

Untouchables among Hindus who were later called Scheduled 

Castes and Scheduled Tribes under the India Act 1935, and the 

later Indian Constitution of 1950. In the Poona Pact, a unified 

electorate was in principle formed, but primary and secondary 

elections allowed Untouchables in practice to choose their own 

candidates.  

Political career 

In 1935, Ambedkar was appointed principal of the Government 

Law College, Bombay, a position he held for two years. He also 

served as the chairman of Governing body of Ramjas College, 

University of Delhi, after the death of its Founder Shri Rai 

Kedarnath. Settling in Bombay (today called Mumbai), 

Ambedkar oversaw the construction of a house, and stocked 
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his personal library with more than 50,000 books. His wife 

Ramabai died after a long illness the same year. It had been 

her long-standing wish to go on a pilgrimage to Pandharpur, 

but Ambedkar had refused to let her go, telling her that he 

would create a new Pandharpur for her instead of Hinduism's 

Pandharpur which treated them as untouchables. At the Yeola 

Conversion Conference on 13 October in Nasik, Ambedkar 

announced his intention to convert to a different religion and 

exhorted his followers to leave Hinduism. He would repeat his 

message at many public meetings across India.  

In 1936, Ambedkar founded the Independent Labour Party, 

which contested the 1937 Bombay election to the Central 

Legislative Assembly for the 13 reserved and 4 general seats, 

and secured 11 and 3 seats respectively.  

Ambedkar published his book Annihilation of Caste on 15 May 

1936. It strongly criticised Hindu orthodox religious leaders 

and the caste system in general, and included "a rebuke of 

Gandhi" on the subject. Later, in a 1955 BBC interview, he 

accused Gandhi of writing in opposition of the caste system in 

English language papers while writing in support of it in 

Gujarati language papers.  

During this time, Ambedkar also fought against the khoti 

system prevalent in Konkan, where khots, or government 

revenue collectors, regularly exploited farmers and tenants. In 

1937, Ambedkar tabled a bill in the Bombay Legislative 

Assembly aimed at abolishing the khoti system by creating a 

direct relationship between government and farmers.  

Ambedkar served on the Defence Advisory Committee and the 

Viceroy's Executive Council as minister for labour.  
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After the Lahore resolution (1940) of the Muslim League 

demanding Pakistan, Ambedkar wrote a 400 page tract titled 

Thoughts on Pakistan, which analysed the concept of "Pakistan" 

in all its aspects. Ambedkar argued that the Hindus should 

concede Pakistan to the Muslims. He proposed that the 

provincial boundaries of Punjab and Bengal should be redrawn 

to separate the Muslim and non-Muslim majority parts. He 

thought the Muslims could have no objection to redrawing 

provincial boundaries. If they did, they did not quite 

"understand the nature of their own demand". Scholar Venkat 

Dhulipala states that Thoughts on Pakistan "rocked Indian 

politics for a decade". It determined the course of dialogue 

between the Muslim League and the Indian National Congress, 

paving the way for the Partition of India.  

In his work Who Were the Shudras?, Ambedkar tried to explain 

the formation of untouchables. He saw Shudras and Ati 

Shudras who form the lowest caste in the ritual hierarchy of 

the caste system, as separate from Untouchables. Ambedkar 

oversaw the transformation of his political party into the 

Scheduled Castes Federation, although it performed poorly in 

the 1946 elections for Constituent Assembly of India. Later he 

was elected into the constituent assembly of Bengal where 

Muslim League was in power.  

Ambedkar contested in the Bombay North first Indian General 

Election of 1952, but lost to his former assistant and Congress 

Party candidate Narayan Kajrolkar. Ambedkar became a 

member of Rajya Sabha, probably an appointed member. He 

tried to enter Lok Sabha again in the by-election of 1954 from 

Bhandara, but he placed third (the Congress Party won). By 

the time of the second general election in 1957, Ambedkar had 
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died. Ambedkar also criticised Islamic practice in South Asia. 

While justifying the Partition of India, he condemned child 

marriage and the mistreatment of women in Muslim society.  

No words can adequately express the great and many evils of 

polygamy and concubinage, and especially as a source of 

misery to a Muslim woman. Take the caste system. Everybody 

infers that Islam must be free from slavery and caste. [...] 

[While slavery existed], much of its support was derived from 

Islam and Islamic countries. While the prescriptions by the 

Prophet regarding the just and humane treatment of slaves 

contained in the Koran are praiseworthy, there is nothing 

whatever in Islam that lends support to the abolition of this 

curse. But if slavery has gone, caste among Musalmans 

[Muslims] has remained. 

Drafting India's Constitution 

Upon India's independence on 15 August 1947, the new 

Congress-led government invited Ambedkar to serve as the 

nation's first Law Minister, which he accepted. On 29 August, 

he was appointed Chairman of the Constitution Drafting 

Committee, and was appointed by the Assembly to write India's 

new Constitution.  

Granville Austin described the Indian Constitution drafted by 

Ambedkar as 'first and foremost a social document'. 'The 

majority of India's constitutional provisions are either directly 

arrived at furthering the aim of social revolution or attempt to 

foster this revolution by establishing conditions necessary for 

its achievement.'  
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The text prepared by Ambedkar provided constitutional 

guarantees and protections for a wide range of civil liberties 

for individual citizens, including freedom of religion, the 

abolition of untouchability, and the outlawing of all forms of 

discrimination. Ambedkar argued for extensive economic and 

social rights for women, and won the Assembly's support for 

introducing a system of reservations of jobs in the civil 

services, schools and colleges for members of scheduled castes 

and scheduled tribes and Other Backward Class, a system akin 

to affirmative action. India's lawmakers hoped to eradicate the 

socio-economic inequalities and lack of opportunities for 

India's depressed classes through these measures. The 

Constitution was adopted on 26 November 1949 by the 

Constituent Assembly.  

Ambedkar opposed Article 370 of the Constitution of India, 

which granted a special status to the State of Jammu and 

Kashmir, and which was included against his wishes. Balraj 

Madhok reportedly said, Ambedkar had clearly told the 

Kashmiri leader, Sheikh Abdullah: "You wish India should 

protect your borders, she should build roads in your area, she 

should supply you food grains, and Kashmir should get equal 

status as India. But Government of India should have only 

limited powers and Indian people should have no rights in 

Kashmir. To give consent to this proposal, would be a 

treacherous thing against the interests of India and I, as the 

Law Minister of India, will never do it." Then Sk. Abdullah 

approached Nehru, who directed him to Gopal Swami 

Ayyangar, who in turn approached Sardar Patel, saying Nehru 

had promised Sk. Abdullah the special status. Patel got the 

Article passed while Nehru was on a foreign tour. On the day 

the article came up for discussion, Ambedkar did not reply to 
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questions on it but did participate on other articles. All 

arguments were done by Krishna Swami Ayyangar. 

During the debates in the Constituent Assembly, Ambedkar 

demonstrated his will to reform Indian society by 

recommending the adoption of a Uniform Civil Code. Ambedkar 

resigned from the cabinet in 1951, when parliament stalled his 

draft of the Hindu Code Bill, which sought to enshrine gender 

equality in the laws of inheritance and marriage. Ambedkar 

independently contested an election in 1952 to the lower house 

of parliament, the Lok Sabha, but was defeated in the Bombay 

(North Central) constituency by a little-known Narayan Sadoba 

Kajrolkar, who polled 138,137 votes compared to Ambedkar's 

123,576. He was appointed to the upper house, of parliament, 

the Rajya Sabha in March 1952 and would remain as member 

till death.  

Economics 

Ambedkar was the first Indian to pursue a doctorate in 

economics abroad. He argued that industrialisation and 

agricultural growth could enhance the Indian economy. He 

stressed investment in agriculture as the primary industry of 

India. According to Sharad Pawar, Ambedkar’s vision helped 

the government to achieve its food security goal. Ambedkar 

advocated national economic and social development, stressing 

education, public hygiene, community health, residential 

facilities as the basic amenities. His DSc thesis, The problem of 

the Rupee: Its Origin and Solution (1923) examines the causes 

for the Rupee's fall in value. In this dissertation, he argued in 

favour of a gold standard in modified form, and was opposed to 

the gold-exchange standard favoured by Keynes in his treatise 
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Indian Currency and Finance (1909), claiming it was less 

stable. He favoured the stoppage of all further coinage of the 

rupee and the minting of a gold coin, which he believed would 

fix currency rates and prices.  

He also analysed revenue in his PhD dissertation The Evolution 

of Provincial Finance in British India. In this work, he analysed 

the various systems used by the British colonial government to 

manage finances in India. His views on finance were that 

governments should ensure their expenditures have 

"faithfulness, wisdom and economy." "Faithfulness" meaning 

governments should use money as nearly as possible to the 

original intentions of spending the money in the first place. 

"Wisdom" meaning it should be used as best as possible for the 

public good, and "economy" meaning the funds should be used 

so that the maximum value can be extracted from them.  

In 1951, Ambedkar established the Finance Commission of 

India. He opposed income tax for low-income groups. He 

contributed in Land Revenue Tax and excise duty policies to 

stabilise the economy. He played an important role in land 

reform and the state economic development. According to him, 

the caste system, due to its division of labourers and 

hierarchical nature, impedes movement of labour (higher 

castes would not do lower-caste occupations) and movement of 

capital (assuming investors would invest first in their own 

caste occupation). His theory of State Socialism had three 

points: state ownership of agricultural land, the maintenance 

of resources for production by the state, and a just 

distribution of these resources to the population. He 

emphasised a free economy with a stable Rupee which India 

has adopted recently. He advocated birth control to develop the 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 19th Century, Vol 5 

 

957 

Indian economy, and this has been adopted by Indian 

government as national policy for family planning. He 

emphasised equal rights for women for economic development.  

Ambedkar's views on agricultural land was that too much of it 

was idle, or that it was not being utilized properly. He believed 

there was an "ideal proportion" of production factors that 

would allow agricultural land to be used most productively. To 

this end, he saw the large portion of people who lived on 

agriculture at the time as a major problem. Therefore, he 

advocated industrialization of the economy to allow these 

agricultural labourers to be of more use elsewhere.  

Ambedkar was trained as an economist, and was a professional 

economist until 1921, when he became a political leader. He 

wrote three scholarly books on economics:  

• Administration and Finance of the East India 

Company 

• The Evolution of Provincial Finance in British India 

• The Problem of the Rupee: Its Origin and Its Solution 

The Reserve Bank of India (RBI), was based on the ideas that 

Ambedkar presented to the Hilton Young Commission.  

Second marriage 

Ambedkar's first wife Ramabai died in 1935 after a long illness. 

After completing the draft of India's constitution in the late 

1940s, he suffered from lack of sleep, had neuropathic pain in 

his legs, and was taking insulin and homoeopathic medicines. 

He went to Bombay for treatment, and there met Sharada 
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Kabir, whom he married on 15 April 1948, at his home in New 

Delhi. Doctors recommended a companion who was a good cook 

and had medical knowledge to care for him. She adopted the 

name Savita Ambedkar and cared for him the rest of his life. 

Savita Ambedkar, who was called also 'Mai', died on May 29, 

2003, aged 93 in Mumbai.  

Conversion to Buddhism 

Ambedkar considered converting to Sikhism, which encouraged 

opposition to oppression and so appealed to leaders of 

scheduled castes. But after meeting with Sikh leaders, he 

concluded that he might get "second-rate" Sikh status.  

Instead, around 1950, he began devoting his attention to 

Buddhism and travelled to Ceylon (now Sri Lanka) to attend a 

meeting of the World Fellowship of Buddhists. While dedicating 

a new Buddhist vihara near Pune, Ambedkar announced he 

was writing a book on Buddhism, and that when it was 

finished, he would formally convert to Buddhism. He twice 

visited Burma in 1954; the second time to attend the third 

conference of the World Fellowship of Buddhists in Rangoon. In 

1955, he founded the Bharatiya Bauddha Mahasabha, or the 

Buddhist Society of India. In 1956, he completed his final 

work, The Buddha and His Dhamma, which was published 

posthumously.  

After meetings with the Sri Lankan Buddhist monk Hammalawa 

Saddhatissa, Ambedkar organised a formal public ceremony for 

himself and his supporters in Nagpur on 14 October 1956. 

Accepting the Three Refuges and Five Precepts from a Buddhist 

monk in the traditional manner, Ambedkar completed his own 
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conversion, along with his wife. He then proceeded to convert 

some 500,000 of his supporters who were gathered around 

him. He prescribed the 22 Vows for these converts, after the 

Three Jewels and Five Precepts. He then travelled to 

Kathmandu, Nepal to attend the Fourth World Buddhist 

Conference. His work on The Buddha or Karl Marx and 

"Revolution and counter-revolution in ancient India" remained 

incomplete.  

Death 

Since 1948, Ambedkar suffered from diabetes. He was bed-

ridden from June to October in 1954 due to medication side-

effects and poor eyesight. His health worsened during 1955. 

Three days after completing his final manuscript The Buddha 

and His Dhamma, Ambedkar died in his sleep on 6 December 

1956 at his home in Delhi.  

A Buddhist cremation was organised at Dadar Chowpatty 

beach on 7 December, attended by half a million grieving 

people. A conversion program was organised on 16 December 

1956, so that cremation attendees were also converted to 

Buddhism at the same place.  

Ambedkar was survived by his second wife Savita Ambedkar 

(known as Maisaheb Ambedkar), who died in 2003, and his son 

Yashwant Ambedkar (known as Bhaiyasaheb Ambedkar), who 

died in 1977. Savita and Yashwant carried on the socio-

religious movement started by B. R. Ambedkar. Yashwant 

served as the 2nd President of the Buddhist Society of India 

(1957–1977) and a member of the Maharashtra Legislative 

Council (1960–1966). Ambedkar's elder grandson, Prakash 
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Yashwant Ambedkar, is the chief-adviser of the Buddhist 

Society of India, leads the Vanchit Bahujan Aghadi and has 

served in both houses of the Indian Parliament. Ambedkar's 

younger grandson, Anandraj Ambedkar leads the Republican 

Sena (tran: The "Republican Army").  

A number of unfinished typescripts and handwritten drafts 

were found among Ambedkar's notes and papers and gradually 

made available. Among these were Waiting for a Visa, which 

probably dates from 1935–36 and is an autobiographical work, 

and the Untouchables, or the Children of India's Ghetto, which 

refers to the census of 1951.  

A memorial for Ambedkar was established in his Delhi house at 

26 Alipur Road. His birthdate is celebrated as a public holiday 

known as Ambedkar Jayanti or Bhim Jayanti. He was 

posthumously awarded India's highest civilian honour, the 

Bharat Ratna, in 1990.  

On the anniversary of his birth and death, and on Dhamma 

Chakra Pravartan Din (14 October) at Nagpur, at least half a 

million people gather to pay homage to him at his memorial in 

Mumbai. Thousands of bookshops are set up, and books are 

sold. His message to his followers was "educate, agitate, 

organise!". 

Legacy 

Ambedkar's legacy as a socio-political reformer had a deep 

effect on modern India. In post-Independence India, his socio-

political thought is respected across the political spectrum. His 

initiatives have influenced various spheres of life and 
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transformed the way India today looks at socio-economic 

policies, education and affirmative action through socio-

economic and legal incentives. His reputation as a scholar led 

to his appointment as free India's first law minister, and 

chairman of the committee for drafting the constitution. He 

passionately believed in individual freedom and criticised caste 

society. His accusations of Hinduism as being the foundation 

of the caste system made him controversial and unpopular 

among Hindus. His conversion to Buddhism sparked a revival 

in interest in Buddhist philosophy in India and abroad.  

Many public institutions are named in his honour, and the Dr. 

Babasaheb Ambedkar International Airport in Nagpur, 

otherwise known as Sonegaon Airport. Dr. B. R. Ambedkar 

National Institute of Technology, Jalandhar, Ambedkar 

University Delhi is also named in his honour.  

The Maharashtra government has acquired a house in London 

where Ambedkar lived during his days as a student in the 

1920s. The house is expected to be converted into a museum-

cum-memorial to Ambedkar.  

Ambedkar was voted "the Greatest Indian" in 2012 by a poll 

organised by History TV18 and CNN IBN, ahead of Patel and 

Nehru. Nearly 20 million votes were cast. Due to his role in 

economics, Narendra Jadhav, a notable Indian economist, has 

said that Ambedkar was "the highest educated Indian 

economist of all times." Amartya Sen, said that Ambedkar is 

"father of my economics", and "he was highly controversial 

figure in his home country, though it was not the reality. His 

contribution in the field of economics is marvelous and will be 

remembered forever."  
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On 2 April 1967, an 3.66 metre (12 foot) tall bronze statue of 

Ambedkar was installed in the Parliament of India. The statue, 

sculpted by B.V. Wagh, was unveiled by the then President of 

India, Sarvepalli Radhakrishnan. On 12 April 1990, a portrait 

of Dr. B.R. Ambedkar is put in the Central Hall of Parliament 

House. The portrait of Ambedkar, painted by Zeba Amrohawi, 

was unveiled by the then Prime Minister of India, V. P. Singh. 

Another portrait of Ambedkar is put in the Parliamentary 

Museum and archives of the Parliament House.  

Indian Post issued stamps dedicated to his birthday in 1966, 

1973, 1991, 2001, and 2013, and featured him on other 

stamps in 2009, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2020.  

Ambedkar's legacy was not without criticism. Ambedkar has 

been criticised for his one-sided views on the issue of caste at 

the expense of cooperation with the larger nationalist 

movement. Ambedkar has been also criticised by some of his 

biographers over his neglect of organization-building.  

Ambedkar's political philosophy has given rise to a large 

number of political parties, publications and workers' unions 

that remain active across India, especially in Maharashtra. His 

promotion of Buddhism has rejuvenated interest in Buddhist 

philosophy among sections of population in India. Mass 

conversion ceremonies have been organised by human rights 

activists in modern times, emulating Ambedkar's Nagpur 

ceremony of 1956. Some Indian Buddhists regard him as a 

Bodhisattva, although he never claimed it himself. Outside 

India, during the late 1990s, some Hungarian Romani people 

drew parallels between their own situation and that of the 
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downtrodden people in India. Inspired by Ambedkar, they 

started to convert to Buddhism.  

Views 

Religion 

In 1935, Ambedkar said that he was born a Hindu but won't 

die as one. He viewed Hinduism as an "oppressive religion" and 

started to consider conversion to any other religion.  

Ambedkar viewed Christianity to be incapable of fighting 

injustices. He wrote that "It is an incontrovertible fact that 

Christianity was not enough to end the slavery of the Negroes 

in the United States. A civil war was necessary to give the 

Negro the freedom which was denied to him by the Christians."  

Ambedkar criticized distinctions within Islam and described 

the religion as "a close corporation and the distinction that it 

makes between Muslims and non-Muslims is a very real, very 

positive and very alienating distinction".  

He opposed conversions of depressed classes to convert to 

Islam or Christianity added that if they converted to Islam then 

"the danger of Muslim domination also becomes real" and if 

they converted to Christianity then it "will help to strengthen 

the hold of Britain on the country".  

Initially, Ambedkar planned to convert to Sikhism but he 

rejected this idea after he discovered that British government 

would not guarantee the privileges accorded to the 

untouchables in reserved parliamentary seats.  
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On 16 October 1956, he convered to Buddhism just weeks 

before his death.  

Aryan Invasion Theory 

Ambedkar viewed the Shudras as Aryan and adamantly 

rejected the Aryan invasion theory, describing it as "so absurd 

that it ought to have been dead long ago" in his 1946 book Who 

Were the Shudras?. Ambedkar viewed Shudras as originally 

being "part of the Kshatriya Varna in the Indo-Aryan society", 

but became socially degraded after they inflicted many 

tyrannies on Brahmins.  

According to Arvind Sharma, Ambedkar noticed certain flaws in 

the Aryan invasion theory that were later acknowledged by 

western scholarship. For example, scholars now acknowledge 

anās in Rig Veda 5.29.10 refers to speech rather than the 

shape of the nose. Ambedkar anticipated this modern view by 

stating:  

The term Anasa occurs in Rig Veda V.29.10. What does the 

word mean? There are two interpretations. One is by Prof. Max 

Muller. The other is by Sayanacharya. According to Prof. Max 

Muller, it means 'one without nose' or 'one with a flat nose' 

and has as such been relied upon as a piece of evidence in 

support of the view that the Aryans were a separate race from 

the Dasyus. Sayanacharya says that it means 'mouthless,' i.e., 

devoid of good speech. This difference of meaning is due to 

difference in the correct reading of the word Anasa. 

Sayanacharya reads it as an-asa while Prof. Max Muller reads 

it as a-nasa. As read by Prof. Max Muller, it means 'without 

nose.' Question is : which of the two readings is the correct 
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one? There is no reason to hold that Sayana's reading is 

wrong. On the other hand there is everything to suggest that it 

is right. In the first place, it does not make non-sense of the 

word. Secondly, as there is no other place where the Dasyus 

are described as noseless, there is no reason why the word 

should be read in such a manner as to give it an altogether 

new sense. It is only fair to read it as a synonym of 

Mridhravak. There is therefore no evidence in support of the 

conclusion that the Dasyus belonged to a different race. 

Ambedkar disputed various hypotheses of the Aryan homeland 

being outside India, and concluded the Aryan homeland was 

India itself. According to Ambedkar, the Rig Veda says Aryans, 

Dāsa and Dasyus were competing religious groups, not 

different peoples.  

Communism 

Ambedkar's views on Communism were expressed in his essay 

"Buddhism and Communism." He accepted the Marxist theory 

that the privileged few's exploitation the masses perpetuated 

poverty and its issues. However, he did not see this 

exploitation as purely economic, theorizing that the cultural 

aspects of exploitation are as bad or worse than economic 

exploitation. In addition, he did not see economic relationships 

as the only important aspect of human life. He also saw 

Communists as willing to resort to any means to achieve 

proletarian revolution, including violence, while he himself saw 

democratic and peaceful measures as the best option for 

change. Ambedkar also opposed the Marxist idea of controlling 

all the means of production and private ownership of property: 

seeing the latter measure as not able to fix the problems of 
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society. In addition, rather than advocating for the eventual 

annihilation of the state as Marxism does, Ambedkar believed 

in a classless society, but also believed the state would exist 

as long as society and that it should be active in development.  

In popular culture 

Several films, plays, and other works have been based on the 

life and thoughts of Ambedkar.  

• Indian director Jabbar Patel made a documentary 

titled Dr. Babasaheb Ambedkar in 1991; he followed 

this with a full-length feature film Dr. Babasaheb 

Ambedkar in 2000 with Mammootty in the lead role. 

This biopic was sponsored by the National Film 

Development Corporation of India and the 

government's Ministry of Social Justice and 

Empowerment. The film was released after a long and 

controversial gestation. 

• Other Indian films on Ambedkar include: Balaka 

Ambedkar (1991) by Basavaraj Kestur, Dr. Ambedkar 

(1992) by Bharath Parepalli, and Yugpurush Dr. 

Babasaheb Ambedkar (1993). 

• David Blundell, professor of anthropology at UCLA 

and historical ethnographer, has established Arising 

Light – a series of films and events that are intended 

to stimulate interest and knowledge about the social 

conditions in India and the life of Ambedkar. In 

Samvidhaan, a TV mini-series on the making of the 

Constitution of India directed by Shyam Benegal, the 

pivotal role of B. R. Ambedkar was played by Sachin 

Khedekar. The play Ambedkar Aur Gandhi, directed 
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by Arvind Gaur and written by Rajesh Kumar, tracks 

the two prominent personalities of its title. 

• Bhimayana: Experiences of Untouchability is a 

graphic biography of Ambedkar created by Pardhan-

Gond artists Durgabai Vyam and Subhash Vyam, and 

writers Srividya Natarajan and S. Anand. The book 

depicts the experiences of untouchability faced by 

Ambedkar from childhood to adulthood. CNN named 

it one of the top 5 political comic books. 

• The Ambedkar Memorial at Lucknow is dedicated in 

his memory. The chaitya consists of monuments 

showing his biography. 

• Jai Bhim slogan was given by the Dalit community in 

Delhi in his honour in 1946. 

• Google commemorated Ambedkar's 124th birthday 

through a homepage doodle on 14 April 2015. The 

doodle was featured in India, Argentina, Chile, 

Ireland, Peru, Poland, Sweden and the United 

Kingdom. 

• An Indian television show named Ek Mahanayak: Dr. 

B. R. Ambedkar portraying his life aired on &TV in 

2019. 

• Another show, Dr. Babasaheb Ambedkar - 

Mahamanvachi Gauravgatha, has aired in Marathi on 

Star Pravah from 2019. 

Works 

The Education Department, Government of Maharashtra 

(Mumbai) published the collection of Ambedkar's writings and 

speeches in different volumes.  
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• Castes in India: Their Mechanism, Genesis and 

Development and 11 Other Essays 

• Ambedkar in the Bombay Legislature, with the Simon 

Commission and at the Round Table Conferences, 

1927–1939 

• Philosophy of Hinduism; India and the Pre-requisites 

of Communism; Revolution and Counter-revolution; 

Buddha or Karl Marx 

• Riddles in Hinduism ISBN 978-81-89059-77-4 

• Essays on Untouchables and Untouchability 

• The Evolution of Provincial Finance in British India 

• The Untouchables Who Were They And Why They 

Became Untouchables ? 

• The Annihilation of Caste (1936) 

• Pakistan or the Partition of India 

• What Congress and Gandhi have done to the 

Untouchables; Mr. Gandhi and the Emancipation of 

the Untouchables 

• Ambedkar as member of the Governor General's 

Executive Council, 1942–46 

• The Buddha and his Dhamma 

• Unpublished Writings; Ancient Indian Commerce; 

Notes on laws; Waiting for a Visa ; Miscellaneous 

notes, etc. 

• Ambedkar as the principal architect of the 

Constitution of India 

• (2 parts) Dr. Ambedkar and The Hindu Code Bill 

• Ambedkar as Free India's First Law Minister and 

Member of Opposition in Indian Parliament (1947–

1956) 

• The Pali Grammar 
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• Ambedkar and his Egalitarian Revolution – Struggle 

for Human Rights. Events starting from March 1927 

to 17 November 1956 in the chronological order; 

Ambedkar and his Egalitarian Revolution – Socio-

political and religious activities. Events starting from 

November 1929 to 8 May 1956 in the chronological 

order; Ambedkar and his Egalitarian Revolution – 

Speeches. (Events starting from 1 January to 20 

November 1956 in the chronological order.) 

  



Chapter 41 

Anglo-Manipur War 

The Anglo-Manipur War was an armed conflict between the 

British Empire and the Kingdom of Manipur. The war lasted 

between 31 March and 27 April 1891, ending in a British 

victory.  

Background 

In the First Anglo-Burmese War, the British helped prince 

Gambhir Singh regain his kingdom of Manipur, which had been 

heretofore occupied by the Burmese. Subsequently, Manipur 

became a British protectorate. From 1835, the British 

stationed a Political Agent in Manipur.  

In 1890, the reigning Maharaja was Surachandra Singh. His 

brother Kulachandra Singh was the jubraj (heir apparent) and 

another brother Tikendrajit Singh was the military commander 

(senapati). Frank Grimwood was the British Political Agent.  

Tikendrajit is said to have been the most able of the three 

brothers, and was also friendly with the Political Agent. 

According to historian Katherine Prior, the British influence 

depended on the military aid they had provided to the ruling 

family, which had dried up in the 1880s, leading Tikendrajit to 

doubt the value of British alliance.  

Historian Jangkhomang Guite states the British annexation of 

Upper Burma reduced the strategic importance of Manipur. 

They contemplated introducing reforms in the administration 
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of Manipur but, according to Guite, Tikendrajit stood in their 

way.  

Causes 

According to historian Jangkhomang Guite, on the British 

government part with the annexation of Upper Burma in 1855 

the importance of Manipur kingdom as a " frontier kingdom " 

ended and it was followed by gradual decrease in military aids 

to Manipur.  

As far as back in 1855, the Chief Commissioner of Assam 

asked the government of British India for its opinion for 

reforms in Manipur administration. He stated the Political 

agent of British Government in Manipur exercised very little 

interference in internal matters of Manipur and he wanted to 

change this. He particularly recommended the abolition of 

slavery system prevailed in Manipur, reform in trade system , a 

system of passes and the administration of jails and law courts 

with immediate effect. The Viceroy replied  

The GoI in general, felt that it would not be justified to carry 

out any sweeping reforms in the 'Native States in India' but set 

the 'exceptional' case for Manipur. It recommended that the 

reform being advocated 'may be possible and expedient' as 

Manipur was 'not a State in India' . 

And cautioned not to proceed too fast and advised considering 

opinion of local officers and then submitting an official 

representation so that the attentive consideration of 

Government of India could be taken up.  
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The previous free supply of arms, ammunition and other aids 

to Manipur had been gradually removed. This led to reduction 

of Manipuri troops and a report against the state of 

administration increased.The political agents escorts had been 

increased double fold. Since 1855 an Indian regiment was 

stationed at Langthabal which were responsible for 

suppressing internal rebellion in Manipur, this was later 

minimized to two companies only. Maharajah Surchandra 

influenced declined making him unpopular among his subjects. 

It was in this time Senapati Tikendrajit emerged as a promising 

leader in Manipur.While being so popular among the people of 

Manipur, Tikendrajit did everything to stop British influence in 

Manipur's affairs.  

This displeased the British so much which made him seen as a 

threat to British influence in Manipur. Every possible means 

was taken up by British to remove him from Manipur. He was 

initially accused of taking the administration of Manipur State 

in his own hands making the king a mere puppet, this was 

considered in a way as a war against Queen Empress of India 

under colonial law. Next he was accused of brutally torturing 

Manipur people. The Viceroy even remarked Tikendrajit as 

'notorious'. In 1888, Maharajah Sur Chandra was advised to 

remove Tikendrajit from Manipur, which was declined though 

and no one can know for sure what prompted the Maharajah to 

go to British Residency and what exactly was conspired 

between the political agent and him. In September he signed 

an abdication letter and immediately went to British territory 

to collude with the British for restoration of his power (king's 

power).  
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Coup and rebellion 

On 21 September 1890, Tikendrajit Singh led a palace coup, 

ousting Maharaja Surachandra Singh and installing 

Kulachandra Singh as the ruler. He also pronounced himself as 

the new jubraj. Surachandra Singh took refuge in British 

residency, where Grimwood assisted him to flee the state. The 

Maharaja had given the impression that he was abdicating the 

throne but, after reaching the British territory in the 

neighbouring Assam Province, he recanted and wanted return 

to the state. Both the Political Agent and the Chief 

Commissioner of Assam, James Wallace Quinton, dissuaded 

from returning.  

Surachandra Singh reached Calcutta and appealed to the 

Government of India, reminding the British of the services he 

had rendered. On 24 January 1891, the Governor-General 

instructed the Chief Commissioner of Assam to settle the 

matter by going to Manipur:  

The Governor-General in Council thinks that you should visit 

Manipur, for the avowed purpose of making, and, if necessary, 

enforcing, a decision on the merits of the case. You should 

probably have with you a sufficient force to overcome the 

conspirators. It is probable that a very small body of troops 

would be enough, and that sufficient numbers could be taken 

from Cachar or Kohima. 

The Chief Commissioner Quinton persuaded the Government in 

Calcutta that there would be no use trying to reinstate the 

Maharaja. This was agreed, but the Government wanted the 

Senapati Tikendrajit Singh disciplined.  
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Quinton arrived in Manipur on 22 March 1891, with an escort 

of 400 Gurkhas under the command of Colonel Skene. The plan 

was to hold a Darbar in the residency with the erstwhile jubraj 

Kulachandra Singh (now regarded as the Regent) attending 

along with all the nobles, where a demand would be made to 

surrender the senapati. The Regent came to attend the Darbar, 

but the senapati did not. Another attempt was made the next 

day which was also unsuccessful. Quinton ordered the arrest 

of senapati in his own fort, which was evidently repulsed and 

the residency itself was besieged. Finally Quinton went on to 

negotiate with Tikendrajit, accompanied by Grimwood, Skene 

and other British officers. The talks failed and while returning, 

the British party was attacked by an "angry crowd". Grimwood 

was speared to death. The others escaped to the fort. But 

during the night the crowd led them out and executed them, 

Quinton included.  

According to later accounts, Quinton had proposed to 

Kulachandra Singh a cessation of all hostilities and his return 

to Kohima (in Naga Hills to the north of Manipur). Kulachandra 

and Tikendrajit regarded the proposals as deception.  

The surviving British troops besieged in the residency were led 

out by two junior officers in the dead of night, along with 

Frank Grimwood's wife Ethel Grimwood. It was a disorganised 

retreat. But they were met in the forests by a relief party 

arriving from Cachar and were rescued. The Residency was set 

on fire soon after their departure.  

On 27 March 1891, news of the executions reached the British. 

Colonel Charles James William Grant took the initiative 

organising a punitive expedition consisting of 50 soldiers of the 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 19th Century, Vol 5 

 

975 

12th (Burma) Madras Infantry and 35 members of the 43rd 

Gurkha Regiment, Grant's column left Tamu, Burma the 

following day.  

The only woman in the retreat from the residency was Ethel 

Grimwood, who was later lionised as a heroine of the "Manipur 

Disaster" when she returned to Britain. She received a medal, 

£1,000, a civil list pension and she wrote her biography. It is 

unclear now as to her contribution, but a hero was required 

and Ethel became that hero.  

War 

On 31 March 1891, British India declared war on Kangleipak, 

expeditionary forces were assembled in Kohima and Silchar. 

On the same day, the Tamu column seized the village of 

Thoubal after ousting an 800-man Manipuri garrison. On 1 

April, 2,000 Manipuri soldiers accompanied by two guns laid 

siege to the village, Grant's troops repelled numerous attacks 

during the course of nine days. On 9 April, the Tamu column 

retreated from Thoubal in order to join the other columns, 

after being reinforced by 100 rifles of the 12th (Burma) Madras 

Infantry. Manipur forces suffered heavy casualties during the 

engagement while the British lost one soldier dead and four 

wounded.  

The Kohima column was launched on 20 April, encountering no 

resistance apart from coming under rifle fire four days later. 

On 21 April, the Silchar column reached Thoubal, the next day 

the Tamu column clashed with Manipur troops outside Palel, 

after the latter pursued the British troops, the Meitei were 

once more pushed back.On 23 April, Meitei troops led by Poila 
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Meiraba met the British troops at Kakching where Meiraba was 

killed in action along with 20 soldiers.  

On 25 April, British scouts encountered 400 Manipuri soldiers 

on the Khongjom hillock in the vicinity of Palel.This battle is 

popularly known as Khongjom Battle being the last battle of 

Anglo Manipur War. 350 infantrymen, 44 cavalry and 2 guns 

mounted an assault on the remainder of the Manipur army. 

Hand-to-hand fighting ensued, 2 British soldiers were killed 

and 11 were severely injured, while the Manipuri lost over 128 

men including the death of high ranking officials such as Major 

Paona Brajabasi, Heirang Kongja and Chinglensana.  

On 27 April 1891, the Silchar, Tamu and Kohima columns 

united, capturing Imphal after finding it deserted. The Union 

Jack was hoisted above the Kangla Palace, 62 native loyalists 

were freed by the British troops. On 23 May 1891, Tikendrajit 

Singh was detained by British authorities On 13 August 1891, 

five Manipuri commanders including Tikendrajit were hanged 

for waging war against the British Empire, Kulachandra Singh 

along with 21 Manipuri noblemen, who received sentences of 

property forfeiture and transportation for life. Manipur 

underwent a disarmament campaign, 4,000 firearms were 

confiscated from the local population.  

On 22 September 1891, the British placed the young boy 

Meidingngu Churachand on the throne.  

Legacy 

Ethel Grimwood was given £1,000, a pension and the Royal 

Red Cross (despite having no links to nursing). British 
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participants of the Manipuri expedition received the North East 

Frontier clasp for the India General Service Medal. Colonel 

Charles James William Grant also received the Victoria Cross, 

for his actions during the battle of Thoubal.The medal received 

by Colonel Charles James William Grant was auctioned on 24 

June 2021 along with other collections of historical importance 

for an estimated sum of £420,000.  

13 August is commemorated yearly as "Patriots Day" by the 

Manipuri population, with remarks to honour the Kangeilpak 

soldiers that lost their lives during the war. Tikendrajit Singh's 

portrait is included in the National Portrait Gallery inside the 

House of the People in New Delhi. 23 April is also observed as 

the "Khongjom Day", marking the occasion of the battle of 

Khongjom.  

  



Chapter 42 

Jiddu Krishnamurti 

Jiddu Krishnamurti (11 May 1895 – 17 February 1986) was a 

philosopher and speaker. In his early life, he was groomed to 

be the new World Teacher, but later rejected this mantle and 

withdrew from the Theosophy organization behind it. His 

interests included psychological revolution, the nature of 

mind, meditation, inquiry, human relationships, and bringing 

about radical change in society. He stressed the need for a 

revolution in the psyche of every human being and emphasised 

that such revolution cannot be brought about by any external 

entity, be it religious, political, or social.  

Krishnamurti was born in South India in what is now the 

modern day Madanapalle of Andhra Pradesh. In early 

adolescence, he met occultist and theosophistCharles Webster 

Leadbeater on the grounds of the Theosophical Society 

headquarters at Adyar in Madras. He was subsequently raised 

under the tutelage of Annie Besant and Leadbeater, leaders of 

the Society at the time, who believed him to be a 'vehicle' for 

an expected World Teacher. As a young man, he disavowed this 

idea and dissolved the Order of the Star in the East, an 

organisation that had been established to support it.  

Krishnamurti said he had no allegiance to any nationality, 

caste, religion, or philosophy, and spent the rest of his life 

travelling the world, speaking to large and small groups, as 

well as individuals. He wrote many books, among them The 

First and Last Freedom, The Only Revolution, and 

Krishnamurti 's Notebook. Many of his talks and discussions 
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have been published. His last public talk was in Madras, India, 

in January 1986, a month before his death at his home in Ojai, 

California. His supporters — working through non-profit 

foundations in India, Great Britain, and the United States — 

oversee several independent schools based on his views on 

education. They continue to transcribe and distribute his 

thousands of talks, group and individual discussions, and 

writings by use of a variety of media formats and languages.  

Krishnamurti was unrelated to his contemporary U. G. 

Krishnamurti (1918–2007), although the two men had a 

number of meetings.  

Biography 

Family background and childhood 

The date of birth of Krishnamurti is a matter of dispute. Mary 

Lutyens determines it to be 11 May 1895, but Christine 

Williams notes the unreliability of birth registrations in that 

period and that statements claiming dates ranging from 4 May 

1895 to 25 May 1896 exist. He used calculations based on a 

published horoscope to derive a date of 11 May 1895 but 

"retains a measure of scepticism" about it. His birthplace was 

the small town of Madanapalle in Madras Presidency (modern-

day Chittoor District in Andhra Pradesh). He was born in a 

Telugu-speaking family. His father, Jiddu Narayaniah, was 

employed as an official of the British colonial administration. 

Krishnamurti was fond of his mother Sanjeevamma, who died 

when he was ten. His parents had a total of eleven children, of 

whom six survived childhood.  
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In 1903 the family settled in Cudappah, where Krishnamurti 

had contracted malaria during a previous stay. He suffered 

recurrent bouts of the disease over many years. A sensitive and 

sickly child, "vague and dreamy", he was often taken to be 

intellectually disabled, and was beaten regularly at school by 

his teachers and at home by his father. In memoirs written 

when he was eighteen years old Krishnamurti described 

psychicexperiences, such as seeing his sister, who had died in 

1904, and his late mother. During his childhood he developed 

a bond with nature that was to stay with him for the rest of his 

life.  

Krishnamurti's father retired at the end of 1907. He sought 

employment at the headquarters of the Theosophical Society at 

Adyar. Narayaniah had been a Theosophist since 1882. He was 

eventually hired by the Society as a clerk, moving there with 

his family in January 1909. Narayaniah and his sons were at 

first assigned to live in a small cottage that was located just 

outside the society's compound.  

Discovered 

In April 1909, Krishnamurti first met Charles Webster 

Leadbeater, who claimed clairvoyance. Leadbeater had noticed 

Krishnamurti on the Society's beach on the Adyar river, and 

was amazed by the "most wonderful aura he had ever seen, 

without a particle of selfishness in it." Ernest Wood, an 

adjutant of Leadbeater's at the time, who helped Krishnamurti 

with his homework, considered him to be "particularly dim-

witted". Leadbeater was convinced that the boy would become a 

spiritual teacher and a great orator; the likely "vehicle for the 

Lord Maitreya" in Theosophical doctrine, an advanced spiritual 
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entity periodically appearing on Earth as a World Teacher to 

guide the evolution of humankind.  

In her biography of Krishnamurti, Pupul Jayakar quotes him 

speaking of that period in his life some 75 years later: "The boy 

had always said "I will do whatever you want". There was an 

element of subservience, obedience. The boy was vague, 

uncertain, woolly; he didn't seem to care what was happening. 

He was like a vessel with a large hole in it, whatever was put 

in, went through, nothing remained."  

Following his discovery by Leadbeater, Krishnamurti was 

nurtured by the Theosophical Society in Adyar. Leadbeater and 

a small number of trusted associates undertook the task of 

educating, protecting, and generally preparing Krishnamurti as 

the "vehicle" of the expected World Teacher. Krishnamurti 

(often later called Krishnaji) and his younger brother 

Nityananda (Nitya) were privately tutored at the Theosophical 

compound in Madras, and later exposed to an opulent life 

among a segment of European high society as they continued 

their education abroad. Despite his history of problems with 

schoolwork and concerns about his capacities and physical 

condition, the 14-year-old Krishnamurti was able to speak and 

write competently in English within six months. Lutyens says 

that later in life Krishnamurti came to view his "discovery" as a 

life-saving event. When he was asked in later life what he 

thought would have happened to him if he had not been 

'discovered' by Leadbeater he unhesitatingly replied "I would 

have died".  

During this time Krishnamurti had developed a strong bond 

with Annie Besant and came to view her as a surrogate mother. 
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His father, who had initially assented to Besant's legal 

guardianship of Krishnamurti, was pushed into the 

background by the swirl of attention around his son. In 1912 

he sued Besant to annul the guardianship agreement. After a 

protracted legal battle, Besant took custody of Krishnamurti 

and Nitya. As a result of this separation from family and home 

Krishnamurti and his brother (whose relationship had always 

been very close) became more dependent on each other, and in 

the following years often travelled together.  

In 1911 the Theosophical Society established the Order of the 

Star in the East (OSE) to prepare the world for the expected 

appearance of the World Teacher. Krishnamurti was named as 

its head, with senior Theosophists assigned various other 

positions. Membership was open to anybody who accepted the 

doctrine of the Coming of the World Teacher. Controversy soon 

erupted, both within the Theosophical Society and outside it, 

in Hindu circles and the Indian press.  

Growing up 

Mary Lutyens, a biographer and friend of Krishnamurti, says 

that there was a time when he believed that he was to become 

the World Teacher after correct spiritual and secular guidance 

and education. Another biographer describes the daily program 

imposed on him by Leadbeater and his associates, which 

included rigorous exercise and sports, tutoring in a variety of 

school subjects, Theosophical and religious lessons, yoga and 

meditation, as well as instruction in proper hygiene and in the 

ways of British society and culture. At the same time 

Leadbeater assumed the role of guide in a parallel mystical 
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instruction of Krishnamurti; the existence and progress of this 

instruction was at the time known only to a select few.  

While he showed a natural aptitude in sports, Krishnamurti 

always had problems with formal schooling and was not 

academically inclined. He eventually gave up university 

education after several attempts at admission. He did take to 

foreign languages, in time speaking several with some fluency.  

His public image, cultivated by the Theosophists, "was to be 

characterized by a well-polished exterior, a sobriety of 

purpose, a cosmopolitan outlook and an otherworldly, almost 

beatific detachment in his demeanor." Demonstrably, "all of 

these can be said to have characterized Krishnamurti's public 

image to the end of his life." It was apparently clear early on 

that he "possessed an innate personal magnetism, not of a 

warm physical variety, but nonetheless emotive in its 

austerity, and inclined to inspire veneration." However, as he 

was growing up, Krishnamurti showed signs of adolescent 

rebellion and emotional instability, chafing at the regimen 

imposed on him, visibly uncomfortable with the publicity 

surrounding him, and occasionally expressing doubts about 

the future prescribed for him.  

Krishnamurti and Nitya were taken to England in April 1911. 

During this trip Krishnamurti gave his first public speech to 

members of the OSE in London. His first writings had also 

started to appear, published in booklets by the Theosophical 

Society and in Theosophical and OSE-affiliated magazines. 

Between 1911 and the start of World War I in 1914, the 

brothers visited several other European countries, always 

accompanied by Theosophist chaperones. Meanwhile, 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 19th Century, Vol 5 

 

984 

Krishnamurti had for the first time acquired a measure of 

personal financial independence, thanks to a wealthy 

benefactress, American Mary Melissa Hoadley Dodge, who was 

domiciled in England.  

After the war, Krishnamurti embarked on a series of lectures, 

meetings and discussions around the world, related to his 

duties as the Head of the OSE, accompanied by Nitya, by then 

the Organizing Secretary of the Order. Krishnamurti also 

continued writing. The content of his talks and writings 

revolved around the work of the Order and of its members in 

preparation for the Coming. He was initially described as a 

halting, hesitant, and repetitive speaker, but his delivery and 

confidence improved, and he gradually took command of the 

meetings.  

In 1921 Krishnamurti fell in love with Helen Knothe, a 17-year-

old American whose family associated with the Theosophists. 

The experience was tempered by the realisation that his work 

and expected life-mission precluded what would otherwise be 

considered normal relationships and by the mid-1920s the two 

of them had drifted apart.  

Life-altering experiences 

In 1922 Krishnamurti and Nitya travelled from Sydney to 

California. In California, they stayed at a cottage in the Ojai 

Valley. It was thought that the area's climate would be 

beneficial to Nitya, who had been diagnosed with tuberculosis. 

Nitya's failing health became a concern for Krishnamurti. At 

Ojai they met Rosalind Williams, a young American who 

became close to them both, and who was later to play a 
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significant role in Krishnamurti's life. For the first time the 

brothers were without immediate supervision by their 

Theosophical Society minders. They found the Valley to be very 

agreeable. Eventually, a trust, formed by supporters, bought a 

cottage and surrounding property there for them. This became 

Krishnamurti's official residence.  

At Ojai in August and September 1922, Krishnamurti went 

through an intense 'life-changing' experience. This has been 

variously characterised as a spiritual awakening, a 

psychological transformation, and a physical reconditioning. 

The initial events happened in two distinct phases: first a 

three-day spiritual experience, and two weeks later, a longer-

lasting condition that Krishnamurti and those around him 

referred to as the process. This condition recurred, at frequent 

intervals and with varying intensity, until his death.  

According to witnesses, it started on 17 August 1922 when 

Krishnamurti complained of a sharp pain at the nape of his 

neck. Over the next two days the symptoms worsened, with 

increasing pain and sensitivity, loss of appetite, and occasional 

delirious ramblings. He seemed to lapse into unconsciousness 

but later recounted that he was very much aware of his 

surroundings, and that while in that state he had an 

experience of "mystical union". The following day the symptoms 

and the experience intensified, climaxing with a sense of 

"immense peace". Following — and apparently related to — 

these events the condition that came to be known as the 

process started to affect him, in September and October that 

year, as a regular, almost nightly occurrence. Later the process 

resumed intermittently, with varying degrees of pain, physical 

discomfort, and sensitivity, occasionally a lapse into a 
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childlike state, and sometimes an apparent fading out of 

consciousness, explained as either his body giving in to pain or 

his mind "going off".  

These experiences were accompanied or followed by what was 

interchangeably described as, "the benediction," "the 

immensity," "the sacredness," "the vastness" and, most often, 

"the otherness" or "the other." It was a state distinct from the 

process. According to Lutyens it is evident from his notebook 

that this experience of otherness was "with him almost 

continuously" during his life, and gave him "a sense of being 

protected." Krishnamurti describes it in his notebook as 

typically following an acute experience of the process, for 

example, on awakening the next day:  

... woke up early with that strong feeling of otherness, of 

another world that is beyond all thought ... there is a 

heightening of sensitivity. Sensitivity, not only to beauty but 

also to all other things. The blade of grass was astonishingly 

green; that one blade of grass contained the whole spectrum of 

colour; it was intense, dazzling and such a small thing, so easy 

to destroy ... 

This experience of the otherness was present with him in daily 

events:  

It is strange how during one or two interviews that strength, 

that power filled the room. It seemed to be in one's eyes and 

breath. It comes into being, suddenly and most unexpectedly, 

with a force and intensity that is quite overpowering and at 

other times it's there, quietly and serenely. But it's there, 

whether one wants it or not. There is no possibility of getting 

used to it for it has never been nor will it ever be ..." 
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Since the initial occurrences of 1922, several explanations 

have been proposed for this experience of Krishnamurti's. 

Leadbeater and other Theosophists expected the "vehicle" to 

have certain paranormal experiences but were nevertheless 

mystified by these developments. During Krishnamurti's later 

years, the nature and provenance of the continuing process 

often came up as a subject in private discussions between 

himself and associates; these discussions shed some light on 

the subject but were ultimately inconclusive. Whatever the 

case, the process, and the inability of Leadbeater to explain it 

satisfactorily, if at all, had other consequences according to 

biographer Roland Vernon:  

The process at Ojai, whatever its cause or validity, was a 

cataclysmic milestone for Krishna. Up until this time his 

spiritual progress, chequered though it might have been, had 

been planned with solemn deliberation by Theosophy's 

grandees. ... Something new had now occurred for which 

Krishna's training had not entirely prepared him. ... A burden 

was lifted from his conscience and he took his first step 

towards becoming an individual. ... In terms of his future role 

as a teacher, the process was his bedrock. ... It had come to 

him alone and had not been planted in him by his mentors ... 

it provided Krishna with the soil in which his newfound spirit 

of confidence and independence could take root. 

As news of these mystical experiences spread, rumours 

concerning the messianic status of Krishnamurti reached fever 

pitch as the 1925 Theosophical Society Convention was 

planned, on the 50th anniversary of its founding. There were 

expectations of significant happenings. Paralleling the 

increasing adulation was Krishnamurti's growing discomfort 
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with it. In related developments, prominent Theosophists and 

their factions within the Society were trying to position 

themselves favourably relative to the Coming, which was widely 

rumoured to be approaching. He stated that "Too much of 

everything is bad"."Extraordinary" pronouncements of spiritual 

advancement were made by various parties, disputed by 

others, and the internal Theosophical politics further alienated 

Krishnamurti.  

Nitya's persistent health problems had periodically resurfaced 

throughout this time. On 13 November 1925, at age 27, he died 

in Ojai from complications of influenza and tuberculosis. 

Despite Nitya's poor health, his death was unexpected, and it 

fundamentally shook Krishnamurti's belief in Theosophy and in 

the leaders of the Theosophical Society. He had received their 

assurances regarding Nitya's health, and had come to believe 

that "Nitya was essential for [his] life-mission and therefore he 

would not be allowed to die," a belief shared by Annie Besant 

and Krishnamurti's circle. Jayakar wrote that "his belief in the 

Masters and the hierarchy had undergone a total revolution." 

Moreover, Nitya had been the "last surviving link to his family 

and childhood. ... The only person to whom he could talk 

openly, his best friend and companion." According to 

eyewitness accounts, the news "broke him completely." but 12 

days after Nitya's death he was "immensely quiet, radiant, and 

free of all sentiment and emotion"; "there was not a shadow ... 

to show what he had been through."  

Break with the past 

Over the next few years, Krishnamurti's new vision and 

consciousness continued to develop. New concepts appeared in 
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his talks, discussions, and correspondence, together with an 

evolving vocabulary that was progressively free of Theosophical 

terminology. His new direction reached a climax in 1929, when 

he rebuffed attempts by Leadbeater and Besant to continue 

with the Order of the Star.  

Krishnamurti dissolved the Order during the annual Star Camp 

at Ommen, the Netherlands, on 3 August 1929. He stated that 

he had made his decision after "careful consideration" during 

the previous two years, and that:  

I maintain that truth is a pathless land, and you cannot 

approach it by any path whatsoever, by any religion, by any 

sect. That is my point of view, and I adhere to that absolutely 

and unconditionally. Truth, being limitless, unconditioned, 

unapproachable by any path whatsoever, cannot be organized; 

nor should any organization be formed to lead or coerce people 

along a particular path. ... This is no magnificent deed, 

because I do not want followers, and I mean this. The moment 

you follow someone you cease to follow Truth. I am not 

concerned whether you pay attention to what I say or not. I 

want to do a certain thing in the world and I am going to do it 

with unwavering concentration. I am concerning myself with 

only one essential thing: to set man free. I desire to free him 

from all cages, from all fears, and not to found religions, new 

sects, nor to establish new theories and new philosophies. 

Following the dissolution, prominent Theosophists turned 

against Krishnamurti, including Leadbeater who is said to have 

stated, "the Coming had gone wrong." Krishnamurti had 

denounced all organised belief, the notion of gurus, and the 

whole teacher-follower relationship, vowing instead to work on 
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setting people "absolutely, unconditionally free." There is no 

record of his explicitly denying he was the World Teacher; 

whenever he was asked to clarify his position he either 

asserted that the matter was irrelevant or gave answers that, 

as he stated, were "purposely vague."  

In hind-sight it can be seen that the ongoing changes in his 

outlook had begun before the dissolution of the Order of the 

Star. The subtlety of the new distinctions on the World Teacher 

issue was lost on many of his admirers, who were already 

bewildered or distraught because of the changes in 

Krishnamurti's outlook, vocabulary and pronouncements–

among them Besant and Mary Lutyens' mother Emily, who had 

a very close relationship with him. He soon disassociated 

himself from the Theosophical Society and its teachings and 

practices, yet he remained on cordial terms with some of its 

members and ex-members throughout his life.  

Krishnamurti often referred to the totality of his work as the 

teachings and not as my teachings.  

Krishnamurti resigned from the various trusts and other 

organisations that were affiliated with the defunct Order of the 

Star, including the Theosophical Society. He returned the 

money and properties donated to the Order, among them a 

castle in the Netherlands and 5,000 acres (2,023 ha) of land, to 

their donors.  

Middle years 

From 1930 through 1944 Krishnamurti engaged in speaking 

tours and in the issue of publications under the auspice of the 

"Star Publishing Trust" (SPT), which he had founded with 
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Desikacharya Rajagopal, a close associate and friend from the 

Order of the Star. Ojai was the base of operations for the new 

enterprise, where Krishnamurti, Rajagopal, and Rosalind 

Williams (who had married Rajagopal in 1927) resided in the 

house known as Arya Vihara (meaning Realm of the Aryas i.e. 

those noble by righteousness in Sanskrit). The business and 

organizational aspects of the SPT were administered chiefly by 

D. Rajagopal, as Krishnamurti devoted his time to speaking 

and meditation. The Rajagopals' marriage was not a happy one, 

and the two became physically estranged after the 1931 birth 

of their daughter, Radha. In the relative seclusion of Arya 

Vihara Krishnamurti's close friendship with Rosalind deepened 

into a love affair which was not made public until 1991. 

According to Radha Rajagopal Sloss, the long affair between 

Krishnamurti and Rosalind began in 1932 and it endured for 

about twenty-five years.   

During the 1930s Krishnamurti spoke in Europe, Latin 

America, India, Australia and the United States. In 1938 he 

met Aldous Huxley. The two began a close friendship which 

endured for many years. They held common concerns about the 

imminent conflict in Europe which they viewed as the outcome 

of the pernicious influence of nationalism. Krishnamurti's 

stance on World War II was often construed as pacifism and 

even subversion during a time of patriotic fervor in the United 

States and for a time he came under the surveillance of the 

FBI. He did not speak publicly for a period of about four years 

(between 1940 and 1944). During this time he lived and worked 

at Arya Vihara, which during the war operated as a largely 

self-sustaining farm, with its surplus goods donated for relief 

efforts in Europe. Of the years spent in Ojai during the war he 

later said: "I think it was a period of no challenge, no demand, 
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no outgoing. I think it was a kind of everything held in; and 

when I left Ojai it all burst."  

Krishnamurti broke the hiatus from public speaking in May 

1944 with a series of talks in Ojai. These talks, and 

subsequent material, were published by "Krishnamurti Writings 

Inc" (KWINC), the successor organisation to the "Star 

Publishing Trust." This was to be the new central Krishnamurti-

related entity worldwide, whose sole purpose was the 

dissemination of the teaching. He had remained in contact with 

associates from India, and in the autumn of 1947 embarked on 

a speaking tour there, attracting a new following of young 

intellectuals. On this trip he encountered the Mehta sisters, 

Pupul and Nandini, who became lifelong associates and 

confidants. The sisters also attended to Krishnamurti 

throughout a 1948 recurrence of the "process" in Ootacamund. 

In Poona in 1948, Krishnamurti met Iyengar, who taught him 

Yoga practices every morning for the next three months, then 

on and off for twenty years.  

When Krishnamurti was in India after World War II many 

prominent personalities came to meet him, including Prime 

Minister Jawaharlal Nehru. In his meetings with Nehru, 

Krishnamurti elaborated at length on the teachings, saying in 

one instance, "Understanding of the self only arises in 

relationship, in watching yourself in relationship to people, 

ideas, and things; to trees, the earth, and the world around 

you and within you. Relationship is the mirror in which the 

self is revealed. Without self-knowledge there is no basis for 

right thought and action." Nehru asked, "How does one start?" 

to which Krishnamurti replied, "Begin where you are. Read 
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every word, every phrase, every paragraph of the mind, as it 

operates through thought."  

Later years 

Krishnamurti continued speaking in public lectures, group 

discussions and with concerned individuals around the world. 

In the early 1960s, he made the acquaintance of physicist 

David Bohm, whose philosophical and scientific concerns 

regarding the essence of the physical world, and the 

psychological and sociological state of mankind, found 

parallels in Krishnamurti's philosophy. The two men soon 

became close friends and started a common inquiry, in the 

form of personal dialogues–and occasionally in group 

discussions with other participants–that continued, 

periodically, over nearly two decades. Several of these 

discussions were published in the form of books or as parts of 

books, and introduced a wider audience (among scientists) to 

Krishnamurti's ideas. Although Krishnamurti's philosophy 

delved into fields as diverse as religious studies, education, 

psychology, physics, and consciousness studies, he was not 

then, nor since, well known in academic circles. Nevertheless, 

Krishnamurti met and held discussions with physicists Fritjof 

Capra and E. C. George Sudarshan, biologist Rupert 

Sheldrake, psychiatrist David Shainberg, as well as 

psychotherapists representing various theoretical orientations. 

The long friendship with Bohm went through a rocky interval 

in later years, and although they overcame their differences 

and remained friends until Krishnamurti's death, the 

relationship did not regain its previous intensity.  
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In the 1970s, Krishnamurti met several times with then Indian 

prime minister Indira Gandhi, with whom he had far-ranging, 

and in some cases, very serious discussions. Jayakar considers 

his message in meetings with Indira Gandhi as a possible 

influence in the lifting of certain emergency measures Gandhi 

had imposed during periods of political turmoil.  

Meanwhile, Krishnamurti's once close relationship with the 

Rajagopals had deteriorated to the point where he took D. 

Rajagopal to court to recover donated property and funds as 

well as publication rights for his works, manuscripts, and 

personal correspondence, that were in Rajagopal's possession. 

The litigation and ensuing cross complaints, which formally 

began in 1971, continued for many years. Much property and 

materials were returned to Krishnamurti during his lifetime; 

the parties to this case finally settled all other matters in 

1986, shortly after his death.  

In 1984 and 1985, Krishnamurti spoke to an invited audience 

at the United Nations in New York, under the auspices of the 

Pacem in Terris Society chapter at the United Nations. In 

October 1985, he visited India for the last time, holding a 

number of what came to be known as "farewell" talks and 

discussions between then and January 1986. These last talks 

included the fundamental questions he had been asking 

through the years, as well as newer concerns about advances 

in science and technology, and their effect on humankind. 

Krishnamurti had commented to friends that he did not wish to 

invite death, but was not sure how long his body would last (he 

had already lost considerable weight), and once he could no 

longer talk, he would have "no further purpose". In his final 

talk, on 4 January 1986, in Madras, he again invited the 
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audience to examine with him the nature of inquiry, the effect 

of technology, the nature of life and meditation, and the nature 

of creation.  

Krishnamurti was also concerned about his legacy, about being 

unwittingly turned into some personage whose teachings had 

been handed down to special individuals, rather than the world 

at large. He did not want anybody to pose as an interpreter of 

the teaching. He warned his associates on several occasions 

that they were not to present themselves as spokesmen on his 

behalf, or as his successors after his death.  

A few days before his death, in a final statement, he declared 

that nobody among either his associates or the general public 

had understood what had happened to him (as the conduit of 

the teaching). He added that the "supreme intelligence" 

operating in his body would be gone with his death, again 

implying the impossibility of successors. However, he stated 

that people could perhaps get into touch with that somewhat 

"if they live the teachings". In prior discussions, he had 

compared himself with Thomas Edison, implying that he did 

the hard work, and now all that was needed by others was a 

flick of the switch.  

Death 

Krishnamurti died of pancreatic cancer on 17 February 1986, 

at the age of 90. His remains were cremated. The 

announcement of KFT (Krishnamurti Foundation Trust) refers 

to the course of his health condition until the moment of 

death. The first signs came almost nine months before his 

death, when he felt very tired. In October 1985, he went from 
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England (Brockwood Park School) to India and after that, he 

suffered from exhaustion, fevers, and lost weight. 

Krishnamurti decided to go back to Ojai (10 January 1986) 

after his last talks in Madras, which necessitated a 24-hour 

flight. 

Once he arrived at Ojai he underwent medical tests that 

revealed he was suffering from pancreatic cancer. The cancer 

was untreatable, either surgically or otherwise, so 

Krishnamurti decided to go back to his home at Ojai, where he 

spent his last days. Friends and professionals nursed him. His 

mind was clear until the last moment. Krishnamurti died on 17 

February 1986, at 10 minutes past midnight, California time.  

Schools 

Krishnamurti founded several schools around the world, 

including Brockwood Park School, an international educational 

center. When asked, he enumerated the following as his 

educational aims:  

• Global outlook: A vision of the whole as distinct from 

the part; there should never be a sectarian outlook, 

but always a holistic outlook free from all prejudice. 

• Concern for man and the environment: Humanity is 

part of nature, and if nature is not cared for, it will 

boomerang on man. Only the right education, and 

deep affection between people everywhere, will 

resolve many problems including the environmental 

challenges. 
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• Religious spirit, which includes the scientific temper: 

The religious mind is alone, not lonely. It is in 

communion with people and nature. 

The Krishnamurti Foundation, established in 1928 by him and 

Annie Besant, runs many schools in India and abroad.  

Influence 

Krishnamurti attracted the interest of the mainstream religious 

establishment in India. He engaged in discussions with several 

well known Hindu and Buddhist scholars and leaders, 

including the Dalai Lama. Several of these discussions were 

later published as chapters in various Krishnamurti books. 

Those influenced by Krishnamurti include Bruce Lee, Jackson 

Pollock, Toni Packer, Achyut Patwardhan, Dada Dharmadhikari 

and Eckhart Tolle.  

Interest in Krishnamurti and his work has persisted in the 

years since his death. Many books, audio, video, and computer 

materials, remain in print and are carried by major online and 

traditional retailers. 

The four official Foundations continue to maintain archives, 

disseminate the teachings in an increasing number of 

languages, convert print to digital and other media, develop 

websites, sponsor television programs, and organise meetings 

and dialogues of interested persons around the world.  
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Chapter 43 

Subhas Chandra Bose 

Subhas Chandra Bose(23 January 1897 – 18 August 1945) was 

an Indian nationalist whose defiant patriotism made him a 

hero in India, but whose attempts during World War II to rid 

India of British rule with the help of Nazi Germany and 

Imperial Japan left a troubled legacy. The honorific Netaji 

(Hindustani: "Respected Leader") was first applied to Bose in 

Germany in early 1942—by the Indian soldiers of the Indische 

Legion and by the German and Indian officials in the Special 

Bureau for India in Berlin. It is now used throughout India.  

Subhas Bose was born into wealth and privilege in a large 

Bengali family in Orissa during the high noon of the British 

Raj. The early recipient of an unusually Anglocentric 

education, his teenage and young adult years were 

interspersed with brilliant academic success, oversize religious 

yearning, and stark rebellion against authority. In a college in 

which his five brothers had preceded him, he was expelled for 

participating in an assault on a professor. He was also 

rusticated from the University of Calcutta, but after 

reinstatement 18 months later he managed to study 

blamelessly and excel academically. Sent to England at his 

father's urging to take the Indian Civil Service examination, he 

succeeded with distinction in the vital first exam but demurred 

at taking the more routine but clinching final exam. He cited 

nationalism to be a higher calling than the civil service. 

Returning to India in 1921 to join the nationalist movement led 

by Mahatma Gandhi and the Indian National Congress, Bose at 

first worked with C. R. Das in Bengal. He flowered under Das's 
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mentorship. He then followed Jawaharlal Nehru to leadership 

in a group within the Congress. The group was younger, less 

keen on constitutional reform, and more open to socialism. 

Bose rose precociously to become Congress president in 1938. 

After reelection in 1939, differences arose between Bose and 

Gandhi. The senior leadership in the Congress supported 

Gandhi, and Bose resigned as president, and was eventually 

ousted from the party. In July 1940, Bose was arrested by the 

Bengal government over a small protest, and later kept 

housebound under a strict police watch. In mid-January 1941, 

he escaped from India in dramatic cloak-and-dagger fashion, 

heading northwestward into Afghanistan.  

In April 1941, Bose arrived in Nazi Germany, where the 

leadership offered unexpected, if equivocal, sympathy for 

India's independence. In November 1941, German funds were 

used to open a Free India Centre in Berlin, and to set up a 

Free India Radio on which Bose broadcast nightly. A 3,000-

strong Free India Legion was recruited from among Indian 

POWs captured by Erwin Rommel's Afrika Korps to serve under 

Bose. Bose's reputation as a politician, adversely affected in 

the previous two years, was refurbished somewhat. Throughout 

1941 the Germans intermittently but inconclusively considered 

a land invasion of India. Although it was peripheral to their 

main goals in Eastern Europe, Bose remained optimistic about 

its likelihood. By the spring of 1942, however, the German 

army had become mired in Russia, and Japan had won quick 

victories in Asia. A German land invasion of India became 

untenable, and Bose became keen to move to southeast Asia. 

Adolf Hitler, during his only meeting with Bose in late May 

1942, suggested the same and offered to arrange a submarine. 

During this time Bose became a father; his wife, or companion, 
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Emilie Schenkl, whom he had met during an earlier visit to 

Europe in 1934, gave birth to a baby girl in November 1942. 

Identifying strongly with the Axis powers, Bose boarded a 

German submarine in February 1943. Off Madagascar, he was 

transferred to a Japanese submarine from which he 

disembarked in Japanese-held Sumatra in May 1943. His wife, 

child, and 3,000 Indian men remained in Germany, the latter 

left to an uncertain future.  

The Indian National Army (INA) had been formed in 1942 from 

the Indian POWs of the British Indian army captured by the 

Japanese in the Battle of Singapore. After arrival in Singapore, 

Bose enlisted Indian civilians, chiefly Tamil ones, in Malaya 

and Singapore. The Japanese had come to support a number of 

puppet and provisional governments in the captured regions. 

With Japanese support, a Provisional Government of Free India 

under Bose was formed in the Japanese-occupied Andaman 

and Nicobar Islands. Although the Japanese military at all 

times exercised firm control over the islands, Bose's visit in 

December 1943 was widely publicized. Charismatic and driven, 

Bose displayed unflagging enthusiasm for the cause of 

liberating India. The INA under Bose became a model of 

diversity by region, ethnicity, religion, and gender. However, 

the Japanese considered Bose to be militarily unskilled and 

unrealistic, and Bose's military effort was short-lived. In late 

1944 and early 1945, the British Indian Army first halted and 

then devastatingly reversed the Japanese attack on India. 

Almost half the Japanese forces and fully half the participating 

INA contingent were killed. The INA was driven down the Malay 

Peninsula and surrendered with the recapture of Singapore. 

Bose chose not to surrender with his forces or with the 

Japanese. He aimed to escape to Manchuria with a view to 
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seeking a future in the Soviet Union which he believed to be 

turning anti-British. En route to Manchuria, his plane crashed 

in Taiwan, and he died from third-degree burns. Some Indians 

did not believe that the crash had occurred. Many among them, 

especially in Bengal, believed Bose would return to gain India's 

independence.  

The Indian National Congress, the main instrument of Indian 

nationalism, praised Bose's patriotism but distanced itself 

from his tactics and ideology, in particular his collaboration 

with fascism. The British Raj, never seriously threatened by 

the INA, charged 300 INA officers with treason in the INA 

trials, but eventually backtracked in the face both of popular 

sentiment and of its own end.  

Biography 

1897–1921: Early life 

Subhas Chandra Bose was born to Prabhavati Bose (née Dutt) 

and Janakinath Bose on 23 January 1897 in Cuttack—in what 

is today the state of Odisha in India, but was then the Orissa 

Division of Bengal Province in British India. Prabhavati, or 

familiarly Mā jananī (lit.� 'mother'), the anchor of family life, 

had her first child at age 14 and 13 children thereafter. 

Subhas was the ninth child and the sixth son. Jankinath, a 

successful lawyer and government pleader, was loyal to the 

government of British India and scrupulous about matters of 

language and the law. A self-made man from the rural 

outskirts of Calcutta, he had remained in touch with his roots, 

returning annually to his village during the pooja holidays.  
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Eager to join his five school-going older brothers, Subhas 

entered the Protestant European School in Cuttack in January 

1902. English was the medium of all instruction in the school, 

the majority of the students being European or Anglo-Indians 

of mixed British and Indian ancestry. The curriculum included 

English—correctly written and spoken—Latin, the Bible, good 

manners, British geography, and British History; no Indian 

languages were taught. The choice of the school was 

Janakinath's, who wanted his sons to speak flawless English 

with flawless intonation, believing both to be important for 

access to the British in India. The school contrasted with 

Subhas's home, where only Bengali was spoken. At home, his 

mother worshipped the Hindu goddesses Durga and Kali, told 

stories from the epics Mahabharata and Ramayana, and sang 

Bengali religious songs. From her, Subhas imbibed a nurturing 

spirit, looking for situations in which to help people in 

distress, preferring gardening around the house to joining in 

sports with other boys. His father, who was reserved in manner 

and busy with professional life, was a distant presence in a 

large family, causing Subhas to feel he had a nondescript 

childhood. Still, Janakinath read English literature avidly—

John Milton, William Cowper, Matthew Arnold, and 

Shakespeare's Hamlet being among his favourites; several of 

his sons were to become English literature enthusiasts like 

him.  

In 1909 the 12-year-old Subhas Bose followed his five brothers 

to the Ravenshaw Collegiate School in Cuttak. Here, Bengali 

and Sanskrit were also taught, as were ideas from Hindu 

scriptures such as the Vedas and the Upanishads not usually 

picked up at home. Although his western education continued 

apace, he began to wear Indian clothes and engage in religious 
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speculation. To his mother, he wrote long letters which 

displayed acquaintance with the ideas of the Bengali mystic 

Ramakrishna Paramahamsa and his disciple Swami 

Vivekananda, and the novel Ananda Math by Bankim Chandra 

Chatterjee, popular then among young Hindu men. Despite the 

preoccupation, Subhas was able to demonstrate an ability 

when needed to focus on his studies, to compete, and to 

succeed in exams. In 1912, he secured the second position in 

the matriculation examination conducted under the auspices of 

the University of Calcutta.  

Subhas Bose followed his five brothers again 1913 to 

Presidency College, Calcutta, the historic and traditional 

college for Bengal's upper-caste Hindu men. He chose to study 

philosophy, his readings including Kant, Hegel, Bergson and 

other Western philosophers. A year earlier, he had befriended 

Hemanta Kumar Sarkar, a confidant and partner in religious 

yearnings. At Presidency, their emotional ties grew stronger. In 

the fanciful language of religious imagery, they declared their 

pure love for each other. In the long vacations of 1914, they 

traveled to northern India for several months to search for a 

spiritual guru to guide them. Subhas's family was not told 

clearly about the trip, leading them to think he had run away. 

During the trip, in which the guru proved elusive, Subhas 

came down with typhoid fever. His absence caused emotional 

distress to his parents, leading both parents to break down 

upon his return. Heated words were exchanged between 

Janakinath and Subhas. It took the return of Subhas's favorite 

brother, Sarat Chandra Bose, from law studies in England for 

the tempers to subside. Subhas returned to Presidency and 

busied himself with studies, debating and student journalism.  
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In February 1916 Bose was alleged to have masterminded, or 

participated in, an incident involving E. F. Oaten, Professor of 

History at Presidency. Before the incident, it was claimed by 

the students, Oaten had made rude remarks about Indian 

culture, and collared and pushed some students; according to 

Oaten, the students were making an unacceptably loud noise 

just outside his class. A few days later, on February 15, some 

students accosted Oaten on a stairway, surrounded him, beat 

him with sandals, and took to flight. An inquiry committee was 

constituted. Although Oaten, who was unhurt, could not 

identify his assailants, a college servant testified to seeing 

Subhas Bose among those fleeing, confirming for the 

authorities what they had determined to be the rumor among 

the students. Bose was expelled from the college and 

rusticated from University of Calcutta. The incident shocked 

Calcutta and caused anguish to Bose's family. He was ordered 

back to Cuttack. His family's connections were employed to 

pressure Asutosh Mukherjee, the Vice-Chancellor of Calcutta 

University. Despite this, Subhas Bose's expulsion remained in 

place until July 20, 1917, when the Syndicate of Calcutta 

University granted him permission to return, but to another 

college. He joined Scottish Church College, receiving his B.A. 

in 1918 in the First Class with honours in philosophy, placing 

second among all philosophy students in Calcutta University.  

• At his father's urging, Subhas Bose agreed to travel 

to England to prepare and appear for the Indian Civil 

Services (ICS) examination. Arriving in London on 20 

October 1919, Subhas readied his application for the 

ICS. For his references he put down Lord Sinha of 

Raipur, Under Secretary of State for India, and 

Bhupendranath Basu, a wealthy Calcutta lawyer who 
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sat on the Council of India in London. Bose was 

eager also to gain admission to a college at the 

University of Cambridge. It was past the deadline for 

admission. He sought help from some Indian 

students and from the Non-Collegiate Students 

Board. The Board offered the university's education 

at an economical cost without formal admission to a 

college. Bose entered the register of the university on 

19 November 1919 and simultaneously set about 

preparing for the Civil Service exams. He chose the 

Mental and Moral Sciences Tripos at Cambridge, its 

completion requirement reduced to two years on 

account of his Indian B. A. 

There were six vacancies in the ICS. Subhas Bose took the 

open competitive exam for them in August 1920 and was 

placed fourth. This was a vital first step. Still remaining was a 

final examination in 1921 on more topics on India, including 

the Indian Penal Code, the Indian Evidence Act, Indian history, 

and an Indian language. Successful candidates had also to 

clear a riding test. Having no fear of these subjects and being a 

rider, Subhas Bose felt the ICS was within easy reach. Yet 

between August 1920 and 1921 he began to have doubts about 

taking the final examination. Many letters were exchanged with 

his father and his brother Sarat Chandra Bose back in 

Calcutta. In one letter to Sarat, Subhas wrote,  

"But for a man of my temperament who has been feeding on 

ideas that might be called eccentric—the line of least 

resistance is not the best line to follow ... The uncertainties of 

life are not appalling to one who has not, at heart, worldly 

ambitions. Moreover, it is not possible to serve one's country 
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in the best and fullest manner if one is chained on to the civil 

service." In April 1921, Subhas Bose made his decision firm 

not to take the final examination for the ICS and wrote to Sarat 

informing him of the same, apologizing for the pain he would 

cause to his father, his mother, and other members of his 

family. On April 22, 1921, he wrote to the Secretary of State 

for India, Edwin Montagu, stating, "I wish to have my name 

removed from the list of probationers in the Indian Civil 

Service." The following day he wrote again to Sarat: 

I received a letter from mother saying that in spite of what 

father and others think she prefers the ideals for which 

Mahatma Gandhi stands. I cannot tell you how happy I have 

been to receive such a letter. It will be worth a treasure for me 

as it has removed something like a burden from my mind." 

For some time before Subhas Bose had been in touch with C. 

R. Das, a lawyer who had risen to the helm of politics in 

Bengal; Das encouraged Subhas to return to Calcutta. With the 

ICS decision now firmly behind him, Subhas Bose took his 

Cambridge B.A. Final examinations half-heartedly, passing, 

but being placed in the Third Class. He prepared to sail for 

India in June 1921, electing for a fellow Indian student to pick 

up his diploma.  

1921–1932: Indian National Congress 

Subhas Bose, aged 24, arrived ashore in India at Bombay on 

the morning of 16 July 1921 and immediately set about 

arranging an interview with Mahatma Gandhi. Gandhi, aged 

51, was the leader of the Non-cooperation movement that had 

taken India by storm the previous year and in a quarter-
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century would evolve to secure its independence. Gandhi 

happened to be in Bombay and agreed to see Bose that 

afternoon. In Bose's account of the meeting, written many 

years later, he pilloried Gandhi with question after question. 

Bose thought Gandhi's answers were vague, his goals unclear, 

his plan for achieving them not thought through. Gandhi and 

Bose differed in this first meeting on the question of means—

for Gandhi non-violent means to any end were non-negotiable; 

in Bose's thought, all means were acceptable in the service of 

anti-colonial ends. They differed on the question of ends—Bose 

was attracted to totalitarianism models of governance; these 

were anathematized by Gandhi. According to historian Gordon, 

"Gandhi, however, set Bose on to the leader of the Congress 

and Indian nationalism in Bengal, C. R. Das, and in him Bose 

found the leader whom he sought." Das was more flexible than 

Gandhi, more sympathetic to the extremism that had attracted 

idealistic young men such as Bose in Bengal. Das launched 

Bose into nationalist politics. Bose would work within the 

ambit of the Indian National Congress politics for nearly 20 

years even as he tried to change its course.  

He started the newspaper Swaraj and took charge of publicity 

for the Bengal Provincial Congress Committee. His mentor was 

Chittaranjan Das who was a spokesman for aggressive 

nationalism in Bengal. In the year 1923, Bose was elected the 

President of All India Youth Congress and also the Secretary of 

Bengal State Congress. He was also the editor of the newspaper 

"Forward", founded by Chittaranjan Das. Bose worked as the 

CEO of the Calcutta Municipal Corporation for Das when the 

latter was elected mayor of Calcutta in 1924. In a roundup of 

nationalists in 1925, Bose was arrested and sent to prison in 

Mandalay, where he contracted tuberculosis.  
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In 1927, after being released from prison, Bose became general 

secretary of the Congress party and worked with Jawaharlal 

Nehru for independence. In late December 1928, Bose 

organised the Annual Meeting of the Indian National Congress 

in Calcutta. His most memorable role was as General officer 

commanding (GOC) Congress Volunteer Corps. Author Nirad 

Chaudhuri wrote about the meeting:  

Bose organized a volunteer corps in uniform, its officers were 

even provided with steel-cut epaulettes ... his uniform was 

made by a firm of British tailors in Calcutta, Harman's. A 

telegram addressed to him as GOC was delivered to the British 

General in Fort William and was the subject of a good deal of 

malicious gossip in the (British Indian) press. Mahatma Gandhi 

as a sincere pacifist vowed to non-violence, did not like the 

strutting, clicking of boots, and saluting, and he afterward 

described the Calcutta session of the Congress as a Bertram 

Mills circus, which caused a great deal of indignation among 

the Bengalis. 

A little later, Bose was again arrested and jailed for civil 

disobedience; this time he emerged to become Mayor of 

Calcutta in 1930.  

1933–1937: Illness, Austria, Emilie Schenkl 

During the mid-1930s Bose travelled in Europe, visiting Indian 

students and European politicians, including Benito Mussolini. 

He observed party organisation and saw communism and 

fascism in action. In this period, he also researched and wrote 

the first part of his book The Indian Struggle, which covered 

the country's independence movement in the years 1920–1934. 
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Although it was published in London in 1935, the British 

government banned the book in the colony out of fears that it 

would encourage unrest.  

1937–1940: Indian National Congress 

In 1938 Bose stated his opinion that the INC "should be 

organised on the broadest anti-imperialist front with the two-

fold objective of winning political freedom and the 

establishment of a socialist regime." By 1938 Bose had become 

a leader of national stature and agreed to accept nomination as 

Congress President. He stood for unqualified Swaraj (self-

governance), including the use of force against the British. 

This meant a confrontation with Mohandas Gandhi, who in fact 

opposed Bose's presidency, splitting the Indian National 

Congress party.  

Bose attempted to maintain unity, but Gandhi advised Bose to 

form his own cabinet. The rift also divided Bose and Nehru. 

Bose appeared at the 1939 Congress meeting on a stretcher. He 

was elected president again over Gandhi's preferred candidate 

Pattabhi Sitaramayya. U. Muthuramalingam Thevar strongly 

supported Bose in the intra-Congress dispute. Thevar 

mobilised all south India votes for Bose. However, due to the 

manoeuvrings of the Gandhi-led clique in the Congress 

Working Committee, Bose found himself forced to resign from 

the Congress presidency.  

On 22 June 1939 Bose organised the All India Forward Bloc a 

faction within the Indian National Congress, aimed at 

consolidating the political left, but its main strength was in his 

home state, Bengal. U Muthuramalingam Thevar, who was a 
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staunch supporter of Bose from the beginning, joined the 

Forward Bloc. When Bose visited Madurai on 6 September, 

Thevar organised a massive rally as his reception.  

When Subhas Chandra Bose was heading to Madurai, on an 

invitation of Muthuramalinga Thevar to amass support for the 

Forward Bloc, he passed through Madras and spent three days 

at Gandhi Peak. His correspondence reveals that despite his 

clear dislike for British subjugation, he was deeply impressed 

by their methodical and systematic approach and their 

steadfastly disciplinarian outlook towards life. In England, he 

exchanged ideas on the future of India with British Labour 

Party leaders and political thinkers like Lord Halifax, George 

Lansbury, Clement Attlee, Arthur Greenwood, Harold Laski, 

J.B.S. Haldane, Ivor Jennings, G.D.H. Cole, Gilbert Murray 

and Sir Stafford Cripps.  

He came to believe that an independent India needed socialist 

authoritarianism, on the lines of Turkey's Kemal Atatürk, for 

at least two decades. For political reasons Bose was refused 

permission by the British authorities to meet Atatürk at 

Ankara. During his sojourn in England Bose tried to schedule 

appointments with several politicians, but only the Labour 

Party and Liberal politicians agreed to meet with him. 

Conservative Party officials refused to meet him or show him 

courtesy because he was a politician coming from a colony. In 

the 1930s leading figures in the Conservative Party had 

opposed even Dominion status for India. It was during the 

Labour Party government of 1945–1951, with Attlee as the 

Prime Minister, that India gained independence.  
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On the outbreak of war, Bose advocated a campaign of mass 

civil disobedience to protest against Viceroy Lord Linlithgow's 

decision to declare war on India's behalf without consulting 

the Congress leadership. Having failed to persuade Gandhi of 

the necessity of this, Bose organised mass protests in Calcutta 

calling for the 'Holwell Monument' commemorating the Black 

Hole of Calcutta, which then stood at the corner of Dalhousie 

Square, to be removed. He was thrown in jail by the British, 

but was released following a seven-day hunger strike. Bose's 

house in Calcutta was kept under surveillance by the CID.  

1941–1943: Nazi Germany 

Bose's arrest and subsequent release set the scene for his 

escape to Germany, via Afghanistan and the Soviet Union. A 

few days before his escape, he sought solitude and, on this 

pretext, avoided meeting British guards and grew a beard. Late 

night 16 January 1941, the night of his escape, he dressed as 

a Pathan (brown long coat, a black fez-type coat and broad 

pyjamas) to avoid being identified. Bose escaped from under 

British surveillance from his Elgin Road house in Calcutta on 

the night of 17 January 1941, accompanied by his nephew 

Sisir Kumar Bose, later reaching Gomoh Railway Station (now 

Netaji Subhas Chandra Bose Gomoh Station) in the then state 

of Bihar (now Jharkhand), India.  

He journeyed to Peshawar with the help of the Abwehr, where 

he was met by Akbar Shah, Mohammed Shah and Bhagat Ram 

Talwar. Bose was taken to the home of Abad Khan, a trusted 

friend of Akbar Shah's. On 26 January 1941, Bose began his 

journey to reach Russia through British India's North West 

frontier with Afghanistan. For this reason, he enlisted the help 



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 19th Century, Vol 5 

 

1013 

of Mian Akbar Shah, then a Forward Bloc leader in the North-

West Frontier Province. Shah had been out of India en route to 

the Soviet Union, and suggested a novel disguise for Bose to 

assume. Since Bose could not speak one word of Pashto, it 

would make him an easy target of Pashto speakers working for 

the British. For this reason, Shah suggested that Bose act deaf 

and dumb, and let his beard grow to mimic those of the 

tribesmen. Bose's guide Bhagat Ram Talwar, unknown to him, 

was a Soviet agent.  

Supporters of the Aga Khan III helped him across the border 

into Afghanistan where he was met by an Abwehr unit posing 

as a party of road construction engineers from the 

Organization Todt who then aided his passage across 

Afghanistan via Kabul to the border with Soviet Russia. After 

assuming the guise of a Pashtun insurance agent ("Ziaudddin") 

to reach Afghanistan, Bose changed his guise and travelled to 

Moscow on the Italian passport of an Italian nobleman "Count 

Orlando Mazzotta". From Moscow, he reached Rome, and from 

there he travelled to Germany. Once in Russia the NKVD 

transported Bose to Moscow where he hoped that Russia's 

traditional enmity to British rule in India would result in 

support for his plans for a popular rising in India. However, 

Bose found the Soviets' response disappointing and was rapidly 

passed over to the German Ambassador in Moscow, Count von 

der Schulenburg. He had Bose flown on to Berlin in a special 

courier aircraft at the beginning of April where he was to 

receive a more favourable hearing from Joachim von 

Ribbentrop and the Foreign Ministry officials at the 

Wilhelmstrasse.  



Encyclopedia of Indian History: 19th Century, Vol 5 

 

1014 

In Germany, he was attached to the Special Bureau for India 

under Adam von Trott zu Solz which was responsible for 

broadcasting on the German-sponsored Azad Hind Radio. He 

founded the Free India Center in Berlin, and created the Indian 

Legion (consisting of some 4500 soldiers) out of Indian 

prisoners of war who had previously fought for the British in 

North Africa prior to their capture by Axis forces. The Indian 

Legion was attached to the Wehrmacht, and later transferred to 

the Waffen SS. Its members swore the following allegiance to 

Hitler and Bose: "I swear by God this holy oath that I will obey 

the leader of the German race and state, Adolf Hitler, as the 

commander of the German armed forces in the fight for India, 

whose leader is Subhas Chandra Bose". This oath clearly 

abrogates control of the Indian legion to the German armed 

forces whilst stating Bose's overall leadership of India. He was 

also, however, prepared to envisage an invasion of India via the 

USSR by Nazi troops, spearheaded by the Azad Hind Legion; 

many have questioned his judgment here, as it seems unlikely 

that the Germans could have been easily persuaded to leave 

after such an invasion, which might also have resulted in an 

Axis victory in the War.  

In all, 3,000 Indian prisoners of war signed up for the Free 

India Legion. But instead of being delighted, Bose was worried. 

A left-wing admirer of Russia, he was devastated when Hitler's 

tanks rolled across the Soviet border. Matters were worsened 

by the fact that the now-retreating German army would be in 

no position to offer him help in driving the British from India. 

When he met Hitler in May 1942, his suspicions were 

confirmed, and he came to believe that the Nazi leader was 

more interested in using his men to win propaganda victories 

than military ones. So, in February 1943, Bose boarded a 
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German U-boat and left for Japan. This left the men he had 

recruited leaderless and demoralised in Germany.  

Bose lived in Berlin from 1941 until 1943. During his earlier 

visit to Germany in 1934, he had met Emilie Schenkl, the 

daughter of an Austrian veterinarian whom he married in 

1937. Their daughter is Anita Bose Pfaff. Bose's party, the 

Forward Bloc, has contested this fact.  

1943–1945: Japanese-occupied Asia 

In 1943, after being disillusioned that Germany could be of any 

help in gaining India's independence, Bose left for Japan. He 

travelled with the German submarine U-180 around the Cape 

of Good Hope to the southeast of Madagascar, where he was 

transferred to the I-29 for the rest of the journey to Imperial 

Japan. This was the only civilian transfer between two 

submarines of two different navies in World War II.  

The Indian National Army (INA) was the brainchild of Japanese 

Major (and post-war Lieutenant-General) Iwaichi Fujiwara, 

head of the Japanese intelligence unit Fujiwara Kikan. 

Fujiwara's mission was "to raise an army which would fight 

alongside the Japanese army." He first met Pritam Singh 

Dhillon, the president of the Bangkok chapter of the Indian 

Independence League, and through Pritam Singh's network 

recruited a captured British Indian army captain, Mohan 

Singh, on the western Malayan peninsula in December 1941. 

The First Indian National Army was formed as a result of 

discussion between Fujiwara and Mohan Singh in the second 

half of December 1941, and the name chosen jointly by them in 

the first week of January 1942.  
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This was along the concept of, and with support of, what was 

then known as the Indian Independence League headed by 

expatriate nationalist leader Rash Behari Bose. The first INA 

was however disbanded in December 1942 after disagreements 

between the Hikari Kikan and Mohan Singh, who came to 

believe that the Japanese High Command was using the INA as 

a mere pawn and propaganda tool. Mohan Singh was taken into 

custody and the troops returned to the prisoner-of-war camp. 

However, the idea of an independence army was revived with 

the arrival of Subhas Chandra Bose in the Far East in 1943. In 

July, at a meeting in Singapore, Rash Behari Bose handed over 

control of the organisation to Subhas Chandra Bose. Bose was 

able to reorganise the fledgling army and organise massive 

support among the expatriate Indian population in south-east 

Asia, who lent their support by both enlisting in the Indian 

National Army, as well as financially in response to Bose's 

calls for sacrifice for the independence cause. INA had a 

separate women's unit, the Rani of Jhansi Regiment (named 

after Rani Lakshmi Bai) headed by Capt. Lakshmi 

Swaminathan, which is seen as a first of its kind in Asia.  

Even when faced with military reverses, Bose was able to 

maintain support for the Azad Hind movement. Spoken as a 

part of a motivational speech for the Indian National Army at a 

rally of Indians in Burma on 4 July 1944, Bose's most famous 

quote was "Give me blood, and I shall give you freedom!" In 

this, he urged the people of India to join him in his fight 

against the British Raj. Spoken in Hindi, Bose's words are 

highly evocative. The troops of the INA were under the aegis of 

a provisional government, the Azad Hind Government, which 

came to produce its own currency, postage stamps, court and 

civil code, and was recognised by nine Axis states – Germany, 
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Japan, Italian Social Republic, the Independent State of 

Croatia, Wang Jingwei regime in Nanjing, China, a provisional 

government of Burma, Manchukuo and Japanese-controlled 

Philippines. Of those countries, five were authorities 

established under Axis occupation. This government 

participated in the so-called Greater East Asia Conference as 

an observer in November 1943.  

The INA's first commitment was in the Japanese thrust towards 

Eastern Indian frontiers of Manipur. INA's special forces, the 

Bahadur Group, were involved in operations behind enemy 

lines both during the diversionary attacks in Arakan, as well 

as the Japanese thrust towards Imphal and Kohima.  

The Japanese also took possession of Andaman and Nicobar 

Islands in 1942 and a year later, the Provisional Government 

and the INA were established in the Andaman and Nicobar 

Islands with Lt Col. A.D. Loganathan appointed its Governor 

General. The islands were renamed Shaheed (Martyr) and 

Swaraj (Independence). However, the Japanese Navy remained 

in essential control of the island's administration. During 

Bose's only visit to the islands in early 1944, apparently in the 

interest of shielding Bose from attaining a full knowledge of 

ultimate Japanese intentions, Bose's Japanese hosts carefully 

isolated him from the local population. At that time the 

island's Japanese administration had been torturing the leader 

of the island's Indian Independence League, Dr. Diwan Singh, 

who later died of his injuries in the Cellular Jail. During 

Bose's visit to the islands several locals attempted to alert 

Bose to Dr. Singh's plight, but apparently without success. 

During this time Lt. Col Loganathan became aware of his lack 

of any genuine administrative control and resigned in protest 
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as Governor General, later returning to the Government's 

headquarters in Rangoon. On the Indian mainland, an Indian 

Tricolour, modelled after that of the Indian National Congress, 

was raised for the first time in the town of Moirang, in 

Manipur, in north-eastern India. The adjacent towns of Kohima 

and Imphal were then encircled and placed under siege by 

divisions of the Japanese Army, working in conjunction with 

the Burmese National Army, and with Brigades of the INA, 

known as the Gandhi and Nehru Brigades. This attempt at 

conquering the Indian mainland had the Axis codename of 

Operation U-Go.  

During this operation, On 6 July 1944, in a speech broadcast 

by the Azad Hind Radio from Singapore, Bose addressed 

Mahatma Gandhi as the "Father of the Nation" and asked for 

his blessings and good wishes for the war he was fighting. This 

was the first time that Gandhi was referred to by this 

appellation. The protracted Japanese attempts to take these 

two towns depleted Japanese resources, with Operation U-Go 

ultimately proving unsuccessful. Through several months of 

Japanese onslaught on these two towns, Commonwealth forces 

remained entrenched in the towns. Commonwealth forces then 

counter-attacked, inflicting serious losses on the Axis led 

forces, who were then forced into a retreat back into Burmese 

territory. After the Japanese defeat at the battles of Kohima 

and Imphal, Bose's Provisional Government's aim of 

establishing a base in mainland India was lost forever.  

Still the INA fought in key battles against the British Indian 

Army in Burmese territory, notable in Meiktilla, Mandalay, 

Pegu, Nyangyu and Mount Popa. However, with the fall of 

Rangoon, Bose's government ceased to be an effective political 
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entity. A large proportion of the INA troops surrendered under 

Lt Col Loganathan. The remaining troops retreated with Bose 

towards Malaya or made for Thailand. Japan's surrender at the 

end of the war also led to the surrender of the remaining 

elements of the Indian National Army. The INA prisoners were 

then repatriated to India and some tried for treason.  

18 August 1945: Death 

In the consensus of scholarly opinion, Subhas Chandra Bose's 

death occurred from third-degree burns on 18 August 1945 

after his overloaded Japanese plane crashed in Japanese-ruled 

Formosa (now Taiwan). However, many among his supporters, 

especially in Bengal, refused at the time, and have refused 

since, to believe either the fact or the circumstances of his 

death. Conspiracy theories appeared within hours of his death 

and have thereafter had a long shelf life, keeping alive various 

martial myths about Bose.  

In Taihoku, at around 2:30 pm as the bomber with Bose on 

board was leaving the standard path taken by aircraft during 

take-off, the passengers inside heard a loud sound, similar to 

an engine backfiring. The mechanics on the tarmac saw 

something fall out of the plane. It was the portside engine, or a 

part of it, and the propeller. The plane swung wildly to the 

right and plummeted, crashing, breaking into two, and 

exploding into flames. Inside, the chief pilot, copilot and 

Lieutenant-General Tsunamasa Shidei, the Vice Chief of Staff 

of the Japanese Kwantung Army, who was to have made the 

negotiations for Bose with the Soviet army in Manchuria, were 

instantly killed. Bose's assistant Habibur Rahman was 

stunned, passing out briefly, and Bose, although conscious 
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and not fatally hurt, was soaked in gasoline. When Rahman 

came to, he and Bose attempted to leave by the rear door, but 

found it blocked by the luggage. They then decided to run 

through the flames and exit from the front. The ground staff, 

now approaching the plane, saw two people staggering towards 

them, one of whom had become a human torch. The human 

torch turned out to be Bose, whose gasoline-soaked clothes 

had instantly ignited. Rahman and a few others managed to 

smother the flames, but also noticed that Bose's face and head 

appeared badly burned. According to Joyce Chapman Lebra, "A 

truck which served as ambulance rushed Bose and the other 

passengers to the Nanmon Military Hospital south of Taihoku." 

The airport personnel called Dr. Taneyoshi Yoshimi, the 

surgeon-in-charge at the hospital at around 3 pm. Bose was 

conscious and mostly coherent when they reached the hospital, 

and for some time thereafter. Bose was naked, except for a 

blanket wrapped around him, and Dr. Yoshimi immediately saw 

evidence of third-degree burns on many parts of the body, 

especially on his chest, doubting very much that he would live. 

Dr. Yoshimi promptly began to treat Bose and was assisted by 

Dr. Tsuruta. According to historian Leonard A. Gordon, who 

interviewed all the hospital personnel later,  

A disinfectant, Rivamol, was put over most of his body and 

then a white ointment was applied and he was bandaged over 

most of his body. Dr. Yoshimi gave Bose four injections of Vita 

Camphor and two of Digitamine for his weakened heart. These 

were given about every 30 minutes. Since his body had lost 

fluids quickly upon being burnt, he was also given Ringer 

solution intravenously. A third doctor, Dr. Ishii gave him a 

blood transfusion. An orderly, Kazuo Mitsui, an army private, 

was in the room and several nurses were also assisting. Bose 
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still had a clear head which Dr. Yoshimi found remarkable for 

someone with such severe injuries. 

Soon, in spite of the treatment, Bose went into a coma. A few 

hours later, between 9 and 10 pm (local time) on Saturday 18 

August 1945, Bose died aged 48.  

Bose's body was cremated in the main Taihoku crematorium 

two days later, 20 August 1945. On 23 August 1945, the 

Japanese news agency Do Trzei announced the death of Bose 

and Shidea. On 7 September a Japanese officer, Lieutenant 

Tatsuo Hayashida, carried Bose's ashes to Tokyo, and the 

following morning they were handed to the president of the 

Tokyo Indian Independence League, Rama Murti. On 14 

September a memorial service was held for Bose in Tokyo and a 

few days later the ashes were turned over to the priest of the 

Renkōji Temple of Nichiren Buddhism in Tokyo. There they 

have remained ever since.  

Among the INA personnel, there was widespread disbelief, 

shock, and trauma. Most affected were the young Tamil 

Indians from Malaya and Singapore, both men and women, who 

comprised the bulk of the civilians who had enlisted in the 

INA. The professional soldiers in the INA, most of whom were 

Punjabis, faced an uncertain future, with many fatalistically 

expecting reprisals from the British. In India the Indian 

National Congress's official line was succinctly expressed in a 

letter Mohandas Karamchand (Mahatma) Gandhi wrote to 

Rajkumari Amrit Kaur. Said Gandhi, "Subhas Bose has died 

well. He was undoubtedly a patriot, though misguided." Many 

congressmen had not forgiven Bose for quarrelling with Gandhi 

and for collaborating with what they considered was Japanese 
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fascism. The Indian soldiers in the British Indian army, some 

two and a half million of whom had fought during the Second 

World War, were conflicted about the INA. Some saw the INA as 

traitors and wanted them punished; others felt more 

sympathetic. The British Raj, though never seriously 

threatened by the INA, tried 300 INA officers for treason in the 

INA trials, but eventually backtracked.  

Ideology 

Subhas Chandra Bose believed that the Bhagavad Gita was a 

great source of inspiration for the struggle against the British. 

Swami Vivekananda's teachings on universalism, his 

nationalist thoughts and his emphasis on social service and 

reform had all inspired Subhas Chandra Bose from his very 

young days. The fresh interpretation of India's ancient 

scriptures had appealed immensely to him. Some scholars 

think that Hindu spirituality formed an essential part of his 

political and social thought. As historian Leonard Gordon 

explains "Inner religious explorations continued to be a part of 

his adult life. This set him apart from the slowly growing 

number of atheistic socialists and communists who dotted the 

Indian landscape."  

Bose first expressed his preference for "a synthesis of what 

modern Europe calls socialism and fascism" in a 1930 speech 

in Calcutta. Bose later criticized Nehru's 1933 statement that 

there is "no middle road" between communism and fascism, 

describing it as "fundamentally wrong." Bose believed 

communism would not gain ground in India due to its rejection 

of nationalism and religion and suggested a "synthesis between 

communism and fascism" could take hold instead. In 1944, 
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Bose similarly stated, "Our philosophy should be a synthesis 

between National Socialism and communism."  

Bose's correspondence (prior to 1939) reflects his disapproval 

of the racist practices and annulment of democratic 

institutions in Nazi Germany: "Today I regret that I have to 

return to India with the conviction that the new nationalism of 

Germany is not only narrow and selfish but arrogant." 

However, he expressed admiration for the authoritarian 

methods which he saw in Italy and Germany during the 1930s; 

he thought they could be used to build an independent India.  

Bose had clearly expressed his belief that democracy was the 

best option for India. However, during the war (and possibly as 

early as the 1930s), Bose seems to have decided that no 

democratic system could be adequate to overcome India's 

poverty and social inequalities, and he wrote that a socialist 

state similar to that of Soviet Russia (which he had also seen 

and admired) would be needed for the process of national re-

building. Accordingly, some suggest that Bose's alliance with 

the Axis during the war was based on more than just 

pragmatism and that Bose was a militant nationalist, though 

not a Nazi nor a Fascist, for he supported the empowerment of 

women, secularism and other liberal ideas; alternatively, 

others consider he might have been using populist methods of 

mobilisation common to many post-colonial leaders.  

Quotes 

His most famous quote was "Give me blood and I will give you 

freedom". Another famous quote was Dilli Chalo ("On to Delhi)!" 

This was the call he used to give the INA armies to motivate 
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them. Jai Hind, or, "Glory to India!" was another slogan used 

by him and later adopted by the Government of India and the 

Indian Armed Forces. Another slogan coined by him was 

"Ittehad, Etemad, Qurbani" (Urdu for "Unity, Agreement, 

Sacrifice"). INA also used the slogan Inquilab Zindabad, which 

was coined by Maulana Hasrat Mohani.  

Legacy 

Memorials 

Bose was featured on the stamps in India from 1964, 1993, 

1997, 2001, 2016 and 2018. Bose was also featured in �2 coin 

in 1996 and 1997, � 75 coin in 2018 and �125 coin in 2021. 

Netaji Subhas Chandra Bose International Airport at Kolkata, 

Netaji Subhash Chandra Bose Island, formerly Ross Island and 

many other institutions in India are named after him. On 23 

August 2007, Japanese Prime Minister, Shinzō Abe visited the 

Subhas Chandra Bose memorial hall in Kolkata. Abe said to 

Bose's family "The Japanese are deeply moved by Bose's strong 

will to have led the Indian independence movement from 

British rule. Netaji is a much respected name in Japan."  

In 2021, the Government of India declared 23 January as 

Parakram Divas to commemorate the birth anniversary of 

Netaji Subhas Chandra Bose. Political party, Trinamool 

Congress and the All India Forward Bloc demanded that the 

day should be observed as Deshprem Divas.  
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In popular media 

• Netaji Subhash, a feature documentary film about 

Bose was released in 1947, it was directed by 

Chhotubhai Desai. 

• Subhas Chandra is a 1966 Indian Bengali-language 

biographical film, directed by Pijush Basu. 

• Neta Ji Subhash Chandra Bose is a 1966 Indian 

biographical drama film about Bose by Hemen 

Gupta. 

• In 2004, Shyam Benegal directed the biographical 

film, Netaji Subhas Chandra Bose: The Forgotten Hero 

depicting his life in Nazi Germany (1941–1943), in 

Japanese-occupied Asia (1943–1945) and the events 

leading to the formation of Azad Hind Fauj. The film 

received critical acclaim at the BFI London Film 

Festival, and has garnered the National Film Award 

for Best Feature Film on National Integration, and 

the National Film Award for Best Production Design 

for that year. 

• Mahanayak, 2005 published Marathi historical novel 

on the life of Subhash Chandra Bose, written by 

Marathi author Vishvas Patil. 

• His Majesty's Opponent, a biography of Subhash 

Chandra Bose, written by Sugata Bose published in 

2011. 

• Subhash Chandra Bose: The Mystery, a 2016 

documentary film by Iqbal Malhotra, follows 

conspiracy theories regarding Bose's death. 

• Netaji Bose - The Lost Treasure is a 2017 television 

documentary film which aired on History TV18, it 

explores the INA treasure controversy. 
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• In 2017, ALTBalaji and BIG Synergy Media, released 

a 9-episode web series, Bose: Dead/Alive, created by 

Ekta Kapoor, a dramatised version of the book 

India's Biggest Cover-up written by Anuj Dhar, which 

starred Bollywood actor Rajkummar Rao as Subhas 

Chandra Bose and Anna Ador as Emilie Schenkl. The 

series was praised by both audience and critics, for 

its plot, performance and production design. 

• In January 2019 Zee Bangla started broadcasting the 

daily television series Netaji. 

• Gumnaami is an 2019 Indian Bengali mystery film 

directed by Srijit Mukherji, which deals with Netaji's 

death mystery, based on the Mukherjee Commission 

Hearings. 

Other tribute forms 

The Ministry of Railways of India renamed one of the oldest 

running trains of India, Kalka Mail as Netaji Express from 23 

January 2021.  
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